

Title	A LEVEL SET CRYSTALLINE MEAN CURVATURE FLOW OF SURFACES	
Author(s)	GIGA, YOSHIKAZU; Pozar, Norbert	
Citation	Hokkaido University Preprint Series in Mathematics, 1087, 1-55	
Issue Date	2016-1-15	
DOI	10.14943/84231	
Doc URL	http://hdl.handle.net/2115/69891	
Туре	bulletin (article)	
File Information	pre1087.pdf	



Hokkaido University Collection of Scholarly and Academic Papers : HUSCAP

A LEVEL SET CRYSTALLINE MEAN CURVATURE FLOW OF SURFACES

YOSHIKAZU GIGA AND NORBERT POŽÁR

ABSTRACT. We introduce a new notion of viscosity solutions for the level set formulation of the motion by crystalline mean curvature in three dimensions. The solutions satisfy the comparison principle, stability with respect to an approximation by regularized problems, and we also show the uniqueness and existence of a level set flow for bounded crystals.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Convex functionals with linear growth	7
3.	Energy stratification	14
4.	Crystalline curvature	18
5.	Viscosity solutions	24
6.	Construction of faceted functions	26
7.	Comparison principle	36
8.	Stability	43
9.	Well-posedness	52
References		53

1. INTRODUCTION

A crystalline mean curvature flow is a typical example of an anisotropic mean curvature flow, which can be regarded as a mean curvature flow under a Minkowski or Finsler metric [13]. A crystalline mean curvature flow was proposed by S. B. Angenent and M. E. Gurtin [3] and independently by J. Taylor [42] to describe the motion of an anisotropic antiphase boundary in materials science. There is a large amount of literature devoted to the study of the motion by crystalline mean curvature. However, even local-in-time unique solvability of its initial value problem has been a long-standing open problem except in the case of planar motion or convex initial data. The main reason is that the surface energy density is not smooth and hence the speed of evolution is determined by a nonlocal quantity.

Our goal in this paper is to solve this long-standing open problem for purely crystalline mean curvature flow in \mathbb{R}^3 . In fact, we shall introduce a new notion of solutions which corresponds to a generalization of a level set flow for the mean curvature flow equation and establish its unique existence.

Date: January 8, 2016.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 35K67, 35D40, 35K55, 35B51, 35K93.

Key words and phrases. crystalline mean curvature flow, level set method, viscosity solutions, comparison theorems.

To motivate the problem, let us explain an example of anisotropic mean curvature flow equation and its level set formulation; see e.g. [18, 23, 28]. Let $\gamma : S^2 \to (0, \infty)$ be a given interfacial energy density on the unit sphere S^2 . For a given closed surface Γ we define the interfacial energy

$$I_{\gamma}(\Gamma) = \int_{\Gamma} \gamma(\mathbf{n}) \ d\mathcal{H}^2,$$

and call I_{γ} the interfacial energy of Γ with density γ . Here **n** denotes the unit exterior normal of Γ and $d\mathcal{H}^2$ denotes the area element. The anisotropic mean curvature κ_{γ} is the first variation of I_{γ} with respect to change of volume enclosed by Γ . Its explicit form is

$$\kappa_{\gamma} = -\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma}\left(\nabla_{p}\gamma(\mathbf{n})\right)$$

where γ is 1-homogeneously extended as $\gamma(p) = |p| \gamma(p/|p|)$ for $p \in \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\}$ and $\gamma(0) = 0$; div_r denotes the surface divergence [23, 40]. If $\gamma(p) = |p|$, I_{γ} is the surface area and $\kappa_{\gamma} = -\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma} \mathbf{n}$, which is nothing but (two times) the classical mean curvature. When the interfacial energy density γ is not a constant function on S^2 , we say κ_{γ} is an anisotropic mean curvature. Let $\{\Gamma_t\}_{t>0}$ be a smooth family of closed surfaces in \mathbb{R}^3 and let V be its normal velocity in the direction of \mathbf{n} . The equation for $\{\Gamma_t\}$ of the form

$$V = \kappa_{\gamma}$$
 on Γ_t

is a simple example of an anisotropic mean curvature flow equation. Of course, if $\gamma(p) = |p|$, then this equation is nothing but the standard mean curvature flow equation $V = \kappa$. A typical feature of this equation is that even if one starts with a smooth surface Γ_0 , the solution Γ_t may pinch in finite time, for example a dumbbell with thin neck [31]. So a weak formulation is necessary to track the evolution after the formation of singularities. There are two standard approaches for the (isotropic) mean curvature flow equation. One is a variational way like a varifold solution initiated by K. Brakke [15] and developed further by T. Ilmanen [33] and K. Takasao and Y. Tonegawa [41]. Another approach is a level set method based on a comparison principle introduced by [18, 21]. As already noted in [18] the level set method is very flexible and it applies to anisotropic curvature flow equation. [28] while a varifold solution is still limited to the isotropic mean curvature flow equation.

Let us explain the idea of the level set formulation. We introduce an auxiliary function $u : \mathbb{R}^3 \times [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ so that its zero level set agrees with Γ_t . To fix the idea we assume that u > 0 in a region D_t enclosed by Γ_t and u < 0 outside of $D_t \cup \Gamma_t$. Then the equation $V = \kappa_{\gamma}$ is represented as

$$\frac{u_t}{|\nabla u|} = -\operatorname{div}\left(\nabla_p \gamma\left(-\frac{\nabla u}{|\nabla u|}\right)\right) \quad \text{on} \quad \Gamma_t$$

since $V = u_t/|\nabla u|$, $\mathbf{n} = -\nabla u/|\nabla u|$. The idea of the level set method is to consider this equation not only on Γ_t but also in \mathbb{R}^3 , i.e. each level set of u is required to move by $V = \kappa_{\gamma}$. In other words, we consider

(1.1)
$$u_t - |\nabla u| \left(-\operatorname{div}\left(\nabla_p \gamma\left(-\nabla u/|\nabla u|\right)\right) \right) = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{R}^3 \times (0,\infty)$$

with initial condition

(1.2)
$$u(x,0) = u_0(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^3.$$

Here u_0 is taken so that Γ_0 is its zero level set. In the case $\gamma(p) = |p|$, (1.1) is nothing but the famous level set mean curvature flow equation

$$u_t - |\nabla u| \operatorname{div} (\nabla u / |\nabla u|) = 0.$$

3

The level set equation (1.1) is degenerate even if γ is convex. It is unexpected that the problem can be solved even locally-in-time in classical sense even if u_0 is smooth.

Fortunately, if γ is C^2 on $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\}$ and convex, the notion of viscosity solutions [19] is adjustable to solve (1.1)–(1.2) uniquely and globally-in-time for any uniformly continuous initial data [18, 23]. One shall notice that there is a large freedom to choose u_0 for given Γ_0 . However, it is known [18, 23] that the zero level set is uniquely determined by Γ_0 (independently of the choice of u_0). Although the zero level set of u may fatten, it is often called a level set flow (solution) of $V = \kappa_{\gamma}$ with initial data Γ_0 . The theory is based on a comparison principle for viscosity solutions and it applies when γ is not necessarily C^2 but the singularity is weak. For example, in planar motion even if the second derivative of $\gamma \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\})$ is allowed to jump at finitely many point in S^1 , the result of [18] is extendable [32, 37]; see [34] for higher dimensional problem. However, if the singularity of γ is strong, such that the first derivative of γ may have jumps, then the situation is completely different. The equation becomes very singular in the sense that the speed becomes a nonlocal quantity and establishing the level set method becomes totally non-trivial even if only a planar motion is considered, although it has been established in [25]. However, it has been a long-standing open problem for surface evolution even if γ is (purely) crystalline, i.e. γ is piecewise linear and convex in \mathbb{R}^3 . Such functions are often in convex analysis referred to as polyhedral [39].

Our purpose is to establish a level set method for a crystalline mean curvature flow, whose typical example includes $V = \kappa_{\gamma}$ for crystalline γ . Our theory can apply to more general equations such as $V = \kappa_{\gamma} + 1$. We shall introduce a new notion of viscosity solutions so that the following well-posedness result holds.

Theorem 1.1 (Unique existence). Let γ be crystalline in \mathbb{R}^3 . Assume that $f = f(m, \lambda)$ is continuous on $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}^3$ and $\lambda \mapsto f(m, \lambda)$ is non-decreasing. Assume that $|f(m, \lambda)| / (|\lambda| + 1)$ is bounded in $S^2 \times \mathbb{R}$. Let D_0 be a bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^3 with the boundary $\Gamma_0 = \partial D_0$. Then there exists a global unique level set flow $\{\Gamma_t\}_{t>0}$ with

(1.3)
$$V = f(\mathbf{n}, \kappa_{\gamma}) \quad on \quad \Gamma_t$$

and initial data Γ_0 .

The assumption of the linear growth for f in λ is just for simplicity. One can remove it by introducing a special class of test functions [23, 35] or by a flattening argument [30].

To prove the uniqueness part a key step is to establish a comparison principle for the level set equation of (1.3) which is of the form

(1.4)
$$u_t + F(\nabla u, \operatorname{div} \partial W(\nabla u)) = 0,$$

where

(1.5)
$$F(p,\Lambda) = -|p|f(-p/|p|,\Lambda), \ W(p) = \gamma(-p).$$

Here we rather use the subdifferential notion ∂W instead of ∇W since W is piecewise linear and so not everywhere differentiable. To prove the existence part, one cannot unfortunately apply Perron's method since the nonlocal quantity "div $\partial W(\nabla u)$ " is not constant in a flat part of the solution (which is different from planar case.) We thus construct a solution by smoothing W. Here we need to establish a stability of our viscosity solutions. The basic idea of proofs is an elaboration on the idea for establishing uniqueness based on the comparison principle and stability for the total variation flow of non-divergence type [26, 27]. We shall

Y. GIGA AND N. POŽÁR

establish comparison principle for a more general nonlinearity F than (1.5), see Remark 1.3 below.

The bibliography of [26] includes many references on unique solvability. We take this opportunity to mention related results for evolution of closed surfaces by crystalline or more general singular interface energy. In three dimensions and higher, the crystalline mean curvature κ_{γ} is not only a nonlocal quantity as mentioned above, but it might be non-constant on facets of the crystal [10]. In fact, it might be discontinuous, and in general it is known to be only a function of bounded variation [11, 12]. Therefore facet breaking and bending might occur and we cannot restrict the solutions only to surfaces with facets parallel to those of the Wulff shape corresponding to the crystalline energy density γ . A more general notion of solutions is necessary. The variational approach have led to a significant progress by understanding the properties of κ_{γ} . A notion of solutions via an approximation by reaction-diffusion equations for $V = \gamma \kappa_{\gamma}$ was established in [8,9]. An approximation via minimizing movements was used in [6,7,16]. However, all these results only provide existence for *convex* initial data.

We also establish a convergence result which is useful to discuss approximation by an Allen-Cahn type equation.

Theorem 1.2 (Convergence). Under the assumption of Theorem 1.1, let u be a viscosity solution of (1.4) with initial data $u_0 \in C(\mathbb{R}^3)$ such that $u_0(x) = -c$ for $|x| \ge R$ with some R and c > 0. Assume that γ_{ε} is smooth in $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\}$, convex and 1-homogeneous and $\gamma_{\varepsilon} \to \gamma$ uniformly on S^2 . Let u^{ε} be a viscosity solution of (1.4) with $W = W_{\varepsilon}(p) = \gamma_{\varepsilon}(-p)$, with initial data u_0^{ε} such that $u_0^{\varepsilon}(x) = -c$ for $|x| \ge R$. Assume that $u_0^{\varepsilon} \to u_0$ uniformly. Then u^{ε} converges locally uniformly to u in $\mathbb{R}^3 \times [0, \infty)$.

This gives a convergence of diffuse interface model to the sharp interface model even if γ is crystalline; see [29, 43].

After this work had been completed, the authors learned of a recent work by A. Chambolle, M. Morini and M. Ponsiglione [17], where they established a unique global solvability (up to fattening) for $V = \gamma \kappa_{\gamma}$ for any convex γ by introducing a new notion of a solution related to the anisotropic distance function. Their approach applies to all dimension and all initial data not necessarily bounded. However, their approach requires a special form of the equation so that the mobility is proportional to the interfacial energy density γ and it does not apply to $V = \kappa_{\gamma}$ or $V = \kappa_{\gamma} + 1$. Our approach applies to all $V = f(\mathbf{n}, \kappa_{\gamma})$ including these equations but the dimension n is limited as $n \leq 3$ and γ is limited to crystalline. It is not yet clear whether or not our solution agrees with theirs in the case when both approaches are available although it is very likely.

Remark 1.3. In full generality, we will assume that $F \in C(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R})$, $n \ge 1$, and that it is nonincreasing in the second variable, that is,

(1.6)
$$F(p,\xi) \le F(p,\eta)$$
 for all $p \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ \xi \ge \eta$.

For simplicity, we shall also assume that

F(0,0) = 0.

In particular, constants are solutions of (1.4).

Viscosity solutions and the contribution of this paper. We extend the notion of viscosity solutions to the problem (1.4) with crystalline W. The main strength of the viscosity solution approach is that it can handle general problems that are not of divergence form by exploiting their comparison principle structure [19, 23].

The main difficulty in defining a solution of (1.4) is the singular, nonlocal operator div $\partial W(\nabla \cdot)$. We interpret this operator as the minimal section (also known as the canonical restriction) of the subdifferential of the anisotropic total variation energy in the Hilbert space $L^2(\Omega)$,

$$E(\psi) := \begin{cases} \int_{\Omega} W(D\psi) \, dx, & \psi \in L^2(\Omega) \cap BV(\Omega), \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where Ω is the flat torus $\mathbb{R}^n/L\mathbb{Z}^n$ for some L > 0, $n \ge 1$, and $BV(\Omega)$ is the space of functions of bounded variation. That is, we only consider this energy for periodic functions ψ to avoid issues with handling the boundary of Ω . Since $D\psi$ is in general only a Radon measure, the functional E is understood as the lower semi-continuous envelope (closure) of the functional defined for Sobolev functions $W^{1,1}(\Omega)$.

It is well-known that the subdifferential of E defined above is the set of divergences of certain vector fields, often called *Cahn-Hoffman vector fields* [36]. More precisely, if ψ is a Lipschitz function on Ω , then

$$\partial E(\psi) = \left\{ -\operatorname{div} z : z(x) \in \partial W(\nabla \psi(x)) \text{ for a.e. } x, \ \operatorname{div} z \in L^2(\Omega) \right\}$$

The subdifferential $\partial E(\psi)$ is a closed convex, possibly empty subset of the Hilbert space $L^2(\Omega)$. If it is nonempty, we say that $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\partial E)$ and the unique element of the subdifferential with the minimal L^2 -norm is called the minimal section of $\partial E(\psi)$ and is denoted as $\partial^0 E(\psi)$. In such a case we will interpret div $\partial W(\nabla \psi)$ as $-\partial^0 E(\psi)$.

This interpretation is consistent with the classical theory of monotone operators for the solvability of problems of the form

$$u'(t) \in -\partial E(u(t)).$$

Indeed, it is known that a solution is right-differentiable and the right derivative $d^+u/dt(t) = -\partial^0 E(u(t))$. As we noted above, the mean curvature flow can be viewed as the gradient flow of the surface energy functional.

The viscosity solutions are defined via a comparison with a suitable class of test functions. It is therefore necessary to identify a sufficiently large class of functions for which we can define div $\partial W(\nabla \cdot)$ so that they can serve as test functions in the definition of viscosity solutions. In particular, it must be possible to prove both uniqueness (via a comparison principle) and existence (via a stability property of solutions).

Since the energy density W is crystalline, that is, piecewise linear, the domain of the subdifferential of E can be understood as functions that have flat parts with gradients that fall into the set where W is not differentiable. These flat parts then correspond to the features of the crystal—facets and edges—depending on the dimension of the subdifferential $\partial W(\nabla \psi)$ on the given flat part of ψ . This then leads to an idea of energy stratification with respect to the subdifferential dimension. It turns out that the value of div $\partial W(\nabla \psi)$ at a point x depends only on the shape of ψ in the directions parallel to $\partial W(\nabla \psi(x))$, and it is basically independent of the shape in the orthogonal direction.

Y. GIGA AND N. POŽÁR

Because of the simple structure of W, the local behavior of W (and ∂W) in a neighborhood of a given gradient p can be completely captured by a one-homogeneous function that is linear in directions orthogonal to the subspace spanned by the directions in $\partial W(p)$, Proposition 3.3. We therefore for a given slope p define a sliced energy $E_p^{\rm sl}$ to capture the interesting behavior, and reduce the analysis to a space \mathbb{R}^k , where k is the dimension of $\partial W(p)$. Then we consider *stratified faceted functions* by separating the variables into the directions parallel to $\partial W(p)$, in which we assume that the function has a "nice" facet, and the orthogonal directions where the function can be of any form (as long as it is differentiable), Definition 5.1.

It can be easily seen that $\operatorname{div} \partial W(\nabla \psi)(x) = 0$ whenever ψ is twice continuously differentiable in a neighborhood of x and W is differentiable at $\nabla \psi(x)$. We therefore have to identify the value of this operator at points where $\partial W(\nabla \psi)$ is not a singleton, that is, on the flat parts of the stratified faceted functions. These flat parts can be thought of as k-dimensional facets, and they can be described by a pair of open sets (A_-, A_+) , which specify where the function is below (A_-) or above (A_+) the flat part. It turns out that $\operatorname{div} \partial W(\nabla \psi)$ is independent of the particular choice of ψ , Corollary 4.14, but only depends on the sets (A_-, A_+) and the slope $p = \nabla \psi$ of the flat part. We call this value $\Lambda_p(\psi)$ to emphasize this dependence on p, and connect this to the previous results [26, 27], see Section 4. While $\Lambda_p(\psi)$ might be discontinuous on the flat parts, it satisfies a comparison principle property with respect to a natural ordering of the k-dimensional facets.

We use the stratified faceted functions as the test functions for the definition of viscosity solutions. Heuristically speaking, a continuous function u is a viscosity solution of (1.4) if it satisfies a comparison principle with all stratified faceted functions that are local solutions of (1.4).

To show that this definition of viscosity solutions is reasonable, we have to establish a general comparison principle and stability of solutions (with respect to approximation by regularized problems). For the comparison principle, we need a sufficiently large class of stratified faceted test functions. In particular, for any given gradient p such that $\partial W(p)$ is not a singleton and a pair of smooth disjoint open sets (A_-, A_+) in \mathbb{R}^k , $k = \dim \partial W(p)$, we need to be able to construct a k-dimensional facet arbitrarily close to the facet given by (A_-, A_+) such that there exists a stratified faceted function with this facet, and for which $\Lambda_p(\psi)$ is well-defined. See Corollary 6.2 for details. This unfortunately seems to be quite nontrivial, and we currently know how to do this construction in one and two dimensions. This allows us to prove the comparison principle for (1.4) in three dimensions. However, if this approximated admissible facet construction in Corollary 6.2 can be extended to higher dimensions, our results Theorem 1.1 and Theorem 1.2 will automatically apply to the higher dimensions as well.

The proof of the comparison principle Theorem 7.1 follows the standard doubling-ofvariables argument with an additional parameter as in [26,27]. This is substantially extended to handle the stratified energy and the stratified faceted test functions. We consider two solutions u, v of (1.4) that are ordered as $u \leq v$ at t = 0 and consider the function

$$\Phi_{\zeta,\varepsilon}(x,t,y,s) := u(x,t) - v(y,s) - \frac{|x-y-\zeta|^2}{2\varepsilon} - S_{\varepsilon}(t,s),$$

on $(x, t, y, s) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, T)$, where S_{ε} is defined in (7.2), and $T, \varepsilon > 0$ are fixed. We then analyze the maxima of $\Phi_{\zeta,\varepsilon}$ for $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ small. This extra parameter ζ allows us to recover additional information about the behavior of u and v near the maximum of $\Phi_{\zeta,\varepsilon}$. We

7

then argue by contradiction: if u > v at some point, we can construct stratified faceted test functions for u and v near the maximum of $\Phi_{\zeta,\varepsilon}$. These test functions have ordered facets, which then together with the comparison principle for Λ_p yields a contradiction.

The stability of solutions with respect to approximation of (1.4) by regularized problems then follows from an extension of the argument developed in [27]. We have to again overcome the discrepancy between the test functions of the regularized problem, which are only smooth functions, and the stratified faceted functions for the limit problem (1.4). This is related to the fact that we are approximating a singular, nonlocal operator by local operators. The idea is to perturb the test function by solving the resolvent problem for the energy E and the regularized (elliptic) energy E_m with a small parameter a > 0:

$$\psi_a = (I + a\partial E)^{-1}\psi, \qquad \psi_{a,m} = (I + a\partial E_m)^{-1}\psi$$

which amounts to solving one step of the implicit Euler discretization of the gradient flow of those energies. This transfers the nonlocal information onto the perturbed test function and allows passing in the limit, Theorem 8.1. The main extension in this paper is the handling of the sliced energy. An elaboration on this argument yields also stability with respect to an approximation by one-homogeneous energies E_m , Theorem 8.9.

Combining the above results we obtain the existence of a unique solution of (1.4). Since the level set of the solution does not depend on the choice of the initial level set function, we have uniqueness of the level set flow.

Outline. We open with a review of the theory for convex functionals with linear growth in Section 2. This will allow us to introduce the idea of energy stratification and the slicing of the energy density W according to its features, Section 3. We then define the crystalline mean curvature Λ on various features of the evolving surface such as edges and facets, Section 4, and establish its properties, including a comparison principle. At this point we introduce the notion of viscosity solutions, Section 5, and construct faceted test functions in Section 6. The comparison principle for viscosity solutions is established in Section 7, followed by the stability results, Section 8. Finally, the main result on the well-posedness of (1.4) is presented in Section 9.

2. Convex functionals with linear growth

There are a considerable number of publications on the topic of convex functionals with linear growth, see [2] for a list of references. In this section we review the rather standard notation and results that we will use throughout the paper, and prove two important lemmas that will allow us to better understand the crystalline mean curvature later.

Suppose that $W : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}, d \ge 1$, is a convex function that satisfies the growth condition (2.1) $|W(p)| \le M(1+|p|), p \in \mathbb{R}^d,$

for some
$$M > 0$$
. Note that it is usually also assumed that $W(p) \ge c |p|$ for some $c > 0$, or that $W(p) = W(-p)$, but we make no such assumption since they are unnecessary for our purposes, and in fact we need the generality.

Let Ω be either an bounded open subset of \mathbb{R}^d or the *d*-dimensional flat torus $\mathbb{R}^d/L\mathbb{Z}^d$. We are interested in the functional $E_W(\cdot; \Omega) : L^2(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$ defined as

(2.2)
$$E_W(\psi;\Omega) = \begin{cases} \int_{\Omega} W(D\psi) & \psi \in L^2(\Omega) \cap BV(\Omega), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

that is understood as the *relaxation* (also the *closure* or the *lower semi-continuous envelope*) of the functional

(2.3)
$$\psi \mapsto \begin{cases} \int_{\Omega} W(\nabla \psi) & \psi \in L^{2}(\Omega) \cap W^{1,1}(\Omega), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The relaxed functional E_W can be expressed more explicitly following [14, 22]. Indeed, we introduce the recession function of W,

$$W0^+(p) = \lim_{\lambda \to 0+} \lambda W(\lambda^{-1}p),$$

which is a positively one-homogeneous convex function on \mathbb{R}^d due to the growth condition (2.1). If W is one-homogeneous itself, we have $W0^+ = W$.

For $\psi \in BV(\Omega)$, $\nabla \psi$ will denote the Radon-Nikodým derivative of the absolutely continuous part of $D\psi$ with respect to the Lebesgue measure $L^d \lfloor \Omega$ and $D^s \psi$ will be the singular part. Then we have

$$D\psi = \nabla \psi L^d [\Omega + D^s \psi,$$

and we can write E_W as

(2.4)
$$E_W(\psi;\Omega) = \int_{\Omega} W(\nabla\psi) \, dx + \int_{\Omega} W0^+ \left(\frac{D^s\psi}{|D^s\psi|}\right) \, d\left|D^s\psi\right|,$$

where $\frac{D^s\psi}{|D^s\psi|}$ is the Radon-Nikodým derivative of $D^s\psi$ with respect to $|D^s\psi|$. We note that if $\psi \in L^2(\Omega) \cap W^{1,1}(\Omega)$, or even $\psi \in \text{Lip}(\Omega)$, then this formula simplifies to (2.3) since $D^s\psi = 0$.

2.1. Subdifferentials. Since $E_W(\cdot; \Omega)$ is a proper closed (that is, lower semi-continuous) convex functional on $L^2(\Omega)$, its subdifferential

$$\partial E_W(\psi;\Omega) = \left\{ v \in L^2(\Omega) : E_W(\psi+h;\Omega) - E_W(\psi;\Omega) \ge (h,v) \text{ for all } h \in L^2(\Omega) \right\}$$

is a closed convex, possibly empty subset of the Hilbert space $L^2(\Omega)$ equipped with the inner product $(h, v) := \int_{\Omega} hv \, dx$. If $\partial E_W(\psi; \Omega)$ is nonempty, we say that $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\partial E_W(\cdot; \Omega))$, the domain of the subdifferential, and we define the minimal section (also known as the canonical restriction) $\partial^0 E_W(\psi; \Omega)$ of the subdifferential as the unique element of $\partial E_W(\psi; \Omega)$ with the minimal norm in $L^2(\Omega)$.

The characterization of the subdifferential of E_W is well-known when W is a positively one-homogeneous function, that is, when

$$W(tp) = tW(p) \qquad t \ge 0.$$

We will need this characterization for Lipschitz functions only, and we therefore present it in this simplified settings. Let Ω be an open subset of \mathbb{R}^d or a *d*-dimensional torus $\mathbb{R}^d/L\mathbb{Z}^d$ for some L > 0. Following [4], let us introduce the space of vector fields with L^2 divergence,

$$X_2(\Omega) = \left\{ z \in L^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d) : \operatorname{div} z \in L^2(\Omega) \right\}.$$

For given $\psi \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Omega)$, we define the set of *Cahn-Hoffman vector fields* on ψ as

(2.5)
$$CH_W(\psi;\Omega) := \{ z \in X_2(\Omega) : z(x) \in \partial W(\nabla \psi(x)) \text{ a.e. } x \in \Omega \}.$$

Note that the set

(2.6)
$$\operatorname{div} CH_W(\psi; \Omega) := \{\operatorname{div} z : z \in CH_W(\psi; \Omega)\}$$

is a closed convex, possibly empty subset of $L^2(\Omega)$. We have the well-known characterization of the subdifferential of E_W in the periodic case, see [2, Section 1.3] or [36].

Proposition 2.1. Let $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d / L\mathbb{Z}^d$ for some $d \in \mathbb{N}$ and L > 0, and assume that W is a positively one-homogeneous convex function on \mathbb{R}^d . If $\psi \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Omega)$ then

$$\partial E_W(\psi;\Omega) = \{-\operatorname{div} z : z \in CH_W(\psi;\Omega)\} = -\operatorname{div} CH_W(\psi;\Omega).$$

Remark 2.2. If Ω is a bounded open subset of \mathbb{R}^d with a Lipschitz boundary, then the subdifferential is given by the vector fields $z \in CH_W(\psi; \Omega)$ such that $[z \cdot \nu] = 0$ on $\partial \Omega$; see [2] for details. We will work on periodic domains to not have to deal with this technicality. We will see later (Lemma 2.8 and Properties 4.10) that this does not change the value of the crystalline curvature on the facet.

Let us also mention one trivial result concerning the subdifferential of one-homogeneous convex functions on \mathbb{R}^d .

Lemma 2.3. Suppose that W is positively one-homogeneous convex function on \mathbb{R}^d . Then $\partial W(p) \subset \partial W(0)$ for any $p \in \mathbb{R}^d$. We also have $(x-y) \perp p$ for any $x, y \in \partial W(p)$ and any $p \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

2.2. The resolvent problem and the approximation by regularized functionals. Let W be a convex function satisfying the growth condition (2.1). For some flat torus $\Gamma = \mathbb{R}^d / L\mathbb{Z}^d$, $d \geq 1$, we want to approximate $E_W(\cdot; \Gamma)$ defined in (2.2) by certain regularized functionals.

Suppose therefore that $\{W_m\}_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of convex functions on \mathbb{R}^d that satisfies the following:

- (a) $\{W_m\}_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a decreasing sequence,
- (b) $W_m \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$,
- (c) $W_m \searrow W$ as $m \to \infty$ locally uniformly on \mathbb{R}^d , (d) there exist positive numbers a_m such that $a_m^{-1}I \leq \nabla_p^2 W_m(p) \leq a_m I$ for all $p \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $m \in \mathbb{N}$, where I is the $d \times d$ identity matrix.

We introduce the regularized functionals

$$E_m(\psi;\Gamma) := \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} W_m(\nabla\psi) \, dx & \psi \in H^1(\Gamma), \\ +\infty & \psi \in L^2(\Gamma) \setminus H^1(\Gamma), \end{cases}$$

where $H^k(\Gamma) := W^{k,2}(\Gamma)$ is the standard Sobolev space of $L\mathbb{Z}^d$ -periodic functions.

Let us give an example of a regularized W_m first.

Example 2.4. Let η_m be the standard mollifier with support of radius 1/m. Define the smoothing

$$W_m(p) = (W * \eta_m)(p) + \frac{1}{2m} |p|^2 \qquad p \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

By convexity we have $W_m \ge W$ and W_m convex, $W_m \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d), \nabla^2 W_m \ge \frac{1}{m}I$ and $W_m \searrow W$ as $m \to 0$ locally uniformly. The uniform upper bound on $\nabla^2 W_m$ follows immediately from $\partial_{p_i p_j} (W * \eta_m) = \partial_{p_i} W * \partial_{p_j} \eta_m$, and the right-hand side is bounded since ∇W is bounded.

We need the following result similar to [27, Proposition 5.1].

(a) $E_m(\cdot; \Gamma)$ form a decreasing sequence of proper closed convex func-Proposition 2.5. tionals on $L^2(\Gamma)$.

(b) The subdifferential ∂E_m is a singleton for all

$$\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\partial E_m) = H^2(\Gamma)$$

containing the unique element

$$-\operatorname{tr}\left[\left(\nabla_p^2 W_m\right)(\nabla\psi)\nabla^2\psi\right] \qquad a.e$$

(c) $(\inf_m E_m(\cdot; \Gamma))_* = E_W(\cdot; \Gamma)$, the lower semi-continuous envelope of $\inf_m E_m$ in $L^2(\Gamma)$.

Proof. For (a) and (b) see [20, Section 9.6.3].

(c): $\{E_m(\cdot;\Gamma)\}$ is decreasing since $\{W_m\}$ is decreasing. Therefore $E_m(\psi;\Gamma) \to E_W(\psi;\Gamma)$ for any $\psi \in H^1(\Gamma)$ by the Dominated convergence theorem, since E_W is of the form (2.3) in this case. If $\psi \notin H^1(\Gamma)$, $E_m(\psi;\Gamma) = \infty$ by definition and therefore $E_W(\cdot;\Gamma) \leq \inf_m E_m(\cdot;\Gamma)$, with equality on $H^1(\Gamma)$. Let us now denote $F(\psi) = \inf_m E_m(\psi;\Gamma)$. By a standard approximation result, for any $\psi \in BV(\Gamma)$ there exists a sequence $\{\psi_k\} \subset C^{\infty}(\Gamma) \cap BV(\Gamma) \subset H^1(\Gamma)$ such that $\psi_k \to \psi$ in $L^2(\Omega)$ and $\int_{\Gamma} |D\psi_k| \to \int_{\Gamma} |D\psi|$, which yields $E_W(\psi_k;\Gamma) \to E_W(\psi;\Gamma)$ due to [38]; see [22]. In particular,

$$F_*(\psi) \le \liminf_{k \to \infty} F(\psi_k) = \liminf_{k \to \infty} E_W(\psi_k; \Gamma) = E_W(\psi; \Gamma).$$

Hence $F_* = E_W$ by the lower semi-continuity of E_W .

We will need the following approximation and convergence result for the resolvent problems.

Proposition 2.6. For $\psi \in \text{Lip}(\Gamma)$, and $m \in \mathbb{N}$, a > 0, the resolvent problems

1

$$\psi_a + a\partial E_W(\psi_a; \Gamma) \ni \psi,$$

$$\psi_{a,m} + a\partial E_m(\psi_{a,m}; \Gamma) \ni \psi,$$

admit unique solutions ψ_a and $\psi_{a,m}$ in $L^2(\Gamma)$, respectively. Moreover, ψ_a and $\psi_{a,m}$ are Lipschitz continuous and

$$\|\nabla\psi_a\|_{\infty}, \|\nabla\psi_{a,m}\|_{\infty} \leq \|\nabla\psi\|_{\infty}.$$

Finally, $\psi_{a,m} \in C^{2,\alpha}(\Gamma)$ for some $\alpha = \alpha_m > 0$.

We also introduce the functions

$$h_a := \frac{\psi_a - \psi}{a}, \qquad h_{a,m} := \frac{\psi_{a,m} - \psi}{a} = -\operatorname{tr}\left[(\nabla_p^2 W_m) (\nabla \psi_{a,m}) \nabla^2 \psi_{a,m} \right].$$

Then, for fixed a > 0,

$$\begin{array}{ll} \psi_{a,m} \rightrightarrows \psi_a & \quad uniformly \ as \ m \to \infty, \ and, \\ h_{a,m} \rightrightarrows h_a & \quad uniformly \ as \ m \to \infty. \end{array}$$

Moreover,

$$\psi_a \rightrightarrows \psi$$
 uniformly as $a \to 0$.

If furthermore $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\partial E_W(\cdot; \Gamma))$ then also

$$h_a \to -\partial^0 E(\psi; \Gamma)$$
 in $L^2(\Gamma)$ as $a \to 0$.

Proof. We follow the proof of [27, Proposition 5.3]. Due to Proposition 2.5(a), [5, Theorem 3.20] implies the *Mosco convergence* of E_m to E. This yields the resolvent convergence [5, Theorem 3.26], namely, for fixed a > 0 we have

(2.7)
$$\psi_{a,m} \to \psi_a \quad \text{in } L^2(\Gamma).$$

The $C^{2,\alpha}$ regularity of $\psi_{a,m}$ is standard from the elliptic theory, as $I + a\partial^0 E_m(\cdot; \Gamma)$ is a quasilinear uniformly elliptic operator as noted in Proposition 2.5.

Since the E_m -resolvent problem is translation invariant and has a maximum principle, we find that $\psi_{a,m}$ is Lipschitz since ψ is Lipschitz, and

$$\left\|\nabla\psi_{a,m}\right\|_{\infty} \leq \left\|\nabla\psi\right\|_{\infty}.$$

Therefore the Arzelá-Ascoli theorem and (2.7) yield the uniform convergence of $\psi_{a,m} \to \psi_a$ and $h_{a,m} \to h_a$ as $m \to \infty$ for fixed a > 0, and hence also the Lipschitz bound $\|\nabla \psi_a\|_{\infty} \leq \|\nabla \psi\|_{\infty}$. Moreover, since the E_m -resolvent problem has a maximum principle, the E_W -resolvent problem has a maximum principle as well.

Finally, a standard result implies that $\psi_a \to \psi$ in $L_2(\Gamma)$ as $a \to 0$ [5, Theorem 3.24], therefore with Arzelá-Ascoli and the uniform Lipschitz bound we conclude that $\psi_a \to \psi$ uniformly. If furthermore $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\partial E_W(\cdot; \Gamma))$, also $h_a \to -\partial^0 E_W(\psi; \Gamma)$ [5, Proposition 3.56].

We give a lemma on the Mosco convergence of functionals with linear growth.

Lemma 2.7. Suppose that W_m are convex positively one-homogeneous functions such that $W_m \Rightarrow W$ uniformly on the unit ball. Then $E_m(\psi) = \int_{\Gamma} W_m(\nabla \psi)$ Mosco-converges to $E(\psi) = \int_{\Gamma} W(D\psi)$ as $m \to \infty$.

Proof. By [5, Proposition 3.19], we need to show that for every ψ , $\psi_m \xrightarrow{w} \psi$ weakly in $L^2(\Gamma)$ we have $E(\psi) \leq \liminf_m E_m(\psi_m)$ and that for every $\psi \in L^2(\Gamma)$ there exists a sequence $\psi_m \to \psi$ strongly in $L^2(\Gamma)$ such that $E(\psi) = \lim_m E_m(\psi_m)$.

If $\psi_m \xrightarrow{w} \psi$ weakly in $L^2(\Gamma)$, we can deduce $E(\psi) \leq \liminf_m E_m(\psi_m)$ from the formula [1]

$$\begin{split} E(\psi) &:= \sup \Big\{ \int_{\Gamma} \psi \operatorname{div} \varphi : \varphi \in C^{1}(\Gamma), \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \leq 1, \\ \varphi(x) \cdot p \leq 1 \text{ whenever } W(p) \leq 1, x \in \Gamma \Big\}. \end{split}$$

By a standard approximation result, for any $\psi \in BV(\Gamma)$ there exists a sequence $\{\psi_k\} \subset C^{\infty}(\Gamma) \cap BV(\Gamma) \subset W^{1,1}(\Gamma)$ such that $\psi_k \to \psi$ in $L^2(\Omega)$ and $\int_{\Gamma} |D\psi_k| \to \int_{\Gamma} |D\psi|$, which yields $E(\psi_m) \to E(\psi)$ by the theorem of Rešetnjak [38]. On the other hand, by the uniform convergence of W_m to W on the unit ball we have for any $\xi \in W^{1,1}(\Gamma)$

$$\left| \int_{\Gamma} W_m(\nabla\xi) - W(\nabla\xi) \, dx \right| \leq \int_{\Gamma} |\nabla\xi| \left| W_m\left(\frac{\nabla\xi}{|\nabla\xi|}\right) - W\left(\frac{\nabla\xi}{|\nabla\xi|}\right) \right| \, dx$$
$$\leq \int_{\Gamma} |\nabla\xi| \, dx \, \|W_m - W\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1(0))} \, .$$

Therefore $E(\psi) = \lim_{m \to \infty} E_m(\psi_m)$.

Y. GIGA AND N. POŽÁR

2.3. Cahn-Hoffman vector field patching. We shall use the minimal section $\partial^0 E_W(\psi; \Omega)$ of the subdifferential of E_W to define the crystalline curvature for a given Lipschitz function ψ on Ω . However, the minimal section is a solution of a variational problem and therefore its value might depend strongly on the set Ω , and nonlocally on the values of ψ . Fortunately, the situation is not as dire as it might appear at first, and in fact, the minimal section is nonlocal only on flat parts (facets) of ψ . This restriction of nonlocality is expressed by the following lemma. Intuitively, we can patch the Cahn-Hoffman vector fields as much as we please as long as we do it across the level sets of ψ .

Lemma 2.8. Let $W : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ be a positively one-homogeneous convex function, $d \geq 1$. Suppose that $\psi_1 \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Omega_1)$ and $\psi_2 \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Omega_2)$ are two Lipschitz functions on two open subsets $\Omega_1, \Omega_2 \text{ of } \mathbb{R}^d$. Let $G = \{x \in \Omega_1 : a < \psi_1(x) < b\}$ for some a < b such that $\overline{G} \subset \Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2$ and $\psi_1 = \psi_2$ on G. If $z_i \in CH_W(\psi_i; \Omega_i)$ are two Cahn-Hoffman vector fields, then

(2.8)
$$z(x) = \begin{cases} z_2(x) & x \in G, \\ z_1(x) & x \in \Omega_1 \setminus G, \end{cases}$$

is also a Cahn-Hoffman vector field $z \in CH_W(\psi_1; \Omega_1)$, and

(2.9)
$$\operatorname{div} z(x) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{div} z_2(x) & a.e. \ x \in G, \\ \operatorname{div} z_1(x) & a.e. \ x \in \Omega_1 \setminus G. \end{cases}$$

Proof. Since adding the same constant to both ψ_1 and ψ_2 does not change anything, we can assume that $a = -\delta$ and $b = \delta$ for some $\delta > 0$. For given $\varepsilon \in (0, \delta)$ we introduce the Lipschitz function

$$\zeta_{\varepsilon}(x) = 1 + \max\left(-1, \min\left(0, \frac{|\psi_1(x)| - \delta}{\varepsilon}\right)\right).$$

Note that $\zeta_{\varepsilon} = 0$ on $\{|\psi_1| \le \delta - \varepsilon\}$ and $\zeta_{\varepsilon} = 1$ on $\{|\psi_1| \ge \delta\}$. Furthermore,

(2.10)
$$\nabla \zeta_{\varepsilon}(x) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{sign} \psi_1(x) \frac{\nabla \psi_1(x)}{\varepsilon} & \delta - \varepsilon < \psi_1(x) < \delta, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for a.e. x. Finally, $\zeta_{\varepsilon} \searrow \chi_{\Omega_1 \setminus G}$ monotonically pointwise as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Now for $\rho > 0$ we define $z_i^{\rho} = z_i * \eta_{\rho}$, where η_{ρ} is the standard mollifier with radius ρ , and we extend z_i as 0 to Ω_i^c . We have $z_i^{\rho} \to z_i$ in $L^{\infty}(\Omega_i)$ -weak* and strongly in $L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega_i)$ for any $1 \leq p < \infty$ as well as div $z_i^{\rho} \to \operatorname{div} z_i$ strongly in $L^2_{\operatorname{loc}}(\Omega_i)$ as $\rho \to 0, i = 1, 2$. Define

$$z_{\varepsilon}^{\rho} = z_1^{\rho} \zeta_{\varepsilon} + z_2^{\rho} (1 - \zeta_{\varepsilon}).$$

This function is clearly Lipschitz.

On G we have $z_i(x) \in \partial W(\nabla \psi_1(x)) = \partial W(\nabla \psi_2(x))$ for a.e. x. Therefore $(z_1(x) - z_2(x))$. $\nabla \psi_1(x) = 0$ for a.e. $x \in G$ by Lemma 2.3, which together with (2.10) implies

(2.11)
$$\nabla \zeta_{\varepsilon} \cdot (z_1 - z_2) = 0 \qquad \text{a.e.}$$

Thus we have for any $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega_1)$

$$\int z_{\varepsilon}^{\rho} \cdot \nabla \varphi = -\int \varphi \operatorname{div} z^{\rho}$$
$$= -\int \varphi \left[\zeta_{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div} z_{1}^{\rho} + (1 - \zeta_{\varepsilon}) \operatorname{div} z_{2}^{\rho} + \nabla \zeta_{\varepsilon} \cdot (z_{1}^{\rho} - z_{2}^{\rho}) \right]$$

Now we send $\rho \to 0$ and obtain

$$\int z_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \varphi = -\int \varphi \left[\zeta_{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div} z_{1} + (1 - \zeta_{\varepsilon}) \operatorname{div} z_{2} + \nabla \zeta_{\varepsilon} \cdot (z_{1} - z_{2}) \right]$$
$$= -\int \varphi \left[\zeta_{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div} z_{1} + (1 - \zeta_{\varepsilon}) \operatorname{div} z_{2} \right],$$

where we used (2.11). Finally we send $\varepsilon \to 0$ and use the Dominated convergence theorem to conclude that

$$\int z \cdot \nabla \varphi = -\int \varphi \left[\chi_{\Omega_1 \setminus G} \operatorname{div} z_1 + \chi_G \operatorname{div} z_2 \right].$$

Since this holds for any test function, we see that div $z \in L^2(\Omega_1)$ and it can be expressed as in (2.9).

Remark 2.9. We can take an arbitrary convex combination of z_1 and z_2 on G in (2.8). Indeed, take z as in (2.8). Then $\lambda z_1 + (1 - \lambda)z = (\lambda z_1 + (1 - \lambda)z_2)\chi_G + z_1\chi_{G_1\setminus G} \in CH_W(\psi_1; G_1)$ by convexity.

Remark 2.10. In the proof of [27, Proposition 2.10] in the case of W with a smooth 1-level set we used the fact that Cahn-Hoffman vector fields can be patched across the boundary of a facet arbitrarily, as a consequence of [27, Proposition 2.8]. This is stronger than Lemma 2.8 above where we can patch the Cahn-Hoffman vector field only if the support functions coincide on a neighborhood of the facet. We believe that this requirement can be removed as in [27], but we do not pursue this matter further in the current paper.

Finally, let us briefly consider the characterization of the subdifferential of E_W in the case when W is not positively one-homogeneous. Proposition 2.1 does not apply in such a case. However, if W is equal to a positively one-homogeneous function W' in the neighborhood of the origin, the subdifferentials of E_W and $E_{W'}$ coincide at least for functions with small Lipschitz constant.

Lemma 2.11. Suppose that W is a convex function and W' is a positively one-homogeneous convex function on \mathbb{R}^d , $d \ge 1$, and there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that W(p) = W'(p) for $|p| < \varepsilon$. Suppose that Ω is a bounded open subset of \mathbb{R}^n or the torus $\mathbb{R}^d/\mathbb{LZ}^d$ for some L > 0. If $\psi \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Omega)$ and $\|\nabla \psi\|_{\infty} < \varepsilon$, then

$$\partial E_W(\psi;\Omega) = \partial E_{W'}(\psi;\Omega).$$

Proof. We shall denote the functionals as E and E' for short. Fix $\psi \in \text{Lip}(\Omega)$ with $\|\nabla \psi\|_{\infty} < \varepsilon$. By definition of the functionals and our assumption on the equality of W and W', we have

(2.12)
$$E(\psi+h) = E'(\psi+h) \qquad h \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Omega), \ \|\nabla h\|_{\infty} < \delta = \varepsilon - \|\nabla \psi\|_{\infty}.$$

The convexity of W, W', and one-homogeneity of W' imply for $p \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ such that $\lambda ||p|| < \varepsilon$

$$\lambda W(p) \ge W(\lambda p) - (1 - \lambda)W(0) = W'(\lambda p) = \lambda W'(p).$$

In particular, $W(p) \ge W'(p)$ on \mathbb{R}^d . Therefore $E(\psi + h) - E(\psi) \ge E'(\psi + h) - E'(\psi)$ for all $h \in L^2(\Omega)$ since $E(\psi) = E'(\psi)$. We conclude that $\partial E'(\psi) \subset \partial E(\psi)$.

To prove the opposite inclusion, take $v \in \partial E(\psi)$, if such an element exists. We want to prove

(2.13)
$$E'(\psi+h) - E'(\psi) \ge (h, v) \quad \text{for all } h \in L^2(\Omega).$$

If $h \notin BV(\Omega)$, $E'(\psi + h) = \infty$ by definition. Thus we can assume that $h \in BV(\Omega)$. By a standard approximation result, there exists a sequence $\{h_m\} \subset C^{\infty}(\Omega) \cap BV(\Omega)$ such that $h_m \to h$ in $L^2(\Omega)$ and $Dh_m \to Dh$ weakly^{*} as measures, which yields $E'(\psi + h_m) \to E'(\psi + h)$ due to [38]; see [22]. But we can choose $\lambda_m \in (0, 1)$ such that $\lambda_m \|\nabla h_m\|_{\infty} < \delta$.

Then (2.12) implies

$$E'(\psi + \lambda_m h_m) - E'(\psi) = E(\psi + \lambda_m h_m) - E(\psi) \ge \lambda_m(h_m, v).$$

By convexity, we have

$$E'(\psi + h_m) - E'(\psi) \ge (h_m, v)$$

Indeed,

$$\lambda_m E'(\psi + h_m) + (1 - \lambda_m) E'(\psi) \ge E'(\lambda_m(\psi + h_m) + (1 - \lambda_m)\psi)$$
$$= E'(\psi + \lambda_m h_m) \ge E'(\psi) + \lambda_m(h_m, v).$$

Sending $m \to \infty$ yields (2.13).

3. Energy stratification

In this section we shall assume that W is a convex **polyhedral** function on \mathbb{R}^n . Since W is polyhedral, it can be locally viewed as a positively one-homogeneous convex function; we will give a detailed explanation in this section. The features of W correspond to the dual features of the crystal such as facets, edges and vertices, depending on the dimension. For each gradient, we will decompose the space into orthogonal subspaces of interesting directions, corresponding to the given feature of the crystal, and the directions in which W is linear and therefore its behavior simple.

3.1. Slicing of W. To perform the decomposition, we need a few standard concepts from convex analysis (see for example [39]). For a given convex set C let aff C denote the affine hull of C, that is, the smallest affine space containing C. The dimension of the convex set is defined as the dimension of its affine hull, dim $C := \dim \operatorname{aff} C$. Let ri C be the relative interior of C with respect to aff C. A convex set is said to be relatively open if $C = \operatorname{ri} C$. We know that ri $C \neq \emptyset$ if $C \neq \emptyset$ ([39, Theorem 6.2]). We say that aff C is parallel to a subspace $V \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ if aff C = p + V for some $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

We can decompose \mathbb{R}^n based on the features of the crystal, which correspond to the value of ∂W .

Proposition 3.1 (Feature decomposition). For given W polyhedral with $W < \infty$ on \mathbb{R}^n there exist a finite number of mutually disjoint maximal sets Ξ_i , $i \in \mathcal{N}$, such that $\mathbb{R}^n = \bigcup_{i \in \mathcal{N}} \Xi_i$ and ∂W is constant on each Ξ_i . Furthermore, each Ξ_i is a relatively open convex set and aff $\Xi_i \perp$ aff $\partial W(p)$ for $p \in \Xi_i$ in the sense that whenever $p, q \in \Xi_i$ and $\xi, \zeta \in \partial W(p)$ then $p - q \perp \xi - \zeta$.

Proof. We use the projections of relative interiors of the non-empty faces of the epigraph epi $W := \{(p, \lambda) : \lambda \geq W(p), p \in \mathbb{R}^n\}$, other than epi W itself, onto \mathbb{R}^n . For the definition of a face of a convex set see [39, Section 18]. By [39, Corollary 18.1.3], all faces of epi Wother than epi W itself must lie in the relative boundary of epi W. The relative boundary of epi W, the set epi $W \setminus \text{ri epi } W$, is just the regular boundary and therefore it is the graph of W, graph $W := \{(p, W(p)) : p \in \mathbb{R}^n\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$. By [39, Theorem 18.2], the relative interiors $\hat{\Xi}_i$ of the faces of epi W other than epi W itself form a partition of graph W. By projecting

these relative interiors $\hat{\Xi}_i$ onto \mathbb{R}^n we obtain sets Ξ_i , which form a partition of \mathbb{R}^n and are again relatively open by [39, Theorem 6.6].

Let us now prove that ∂W is constant on Ξ_i . Fix two points $p, q \in \Xi_i$. Since $\hat{\Xi}_i$ are relatively open, there exists $\mu > 1$ such that $W(\mu p + (1 - \mu)q) = \mu W(p) + (1 - \mu)W(q)$. Let $\xi \in \partial W(p)$. By definition of the subdifferential, we have $W(\mu p + (1 - \mu)q) \ge W(p) + (\mu - 1)\xi \cdot (p - q)$ and $W(q) \ge W(p) + \xi \cdot (q - p)$. Using the equality in the first inequality and dividing by $\mu - 1$ we obtain $W(q) \le W(p) + \xi \cdot (q - p)$. Therefore $W(q) - W(p) = \xi \cdot (q - p)$ and we deduce that $\xi \in \partial W(q)$. Finally, if $\zeta \in \partial W(p)$ as well, we have $(\zeta - \xi) \cdot (q - p) = 0$. Maximality, that is, that $\partial W(p) \ne \partial W(q)$ for $p \in \Xi_i$, $q \in \Xi_j$, $i \ne j$, follows from the definition of convex faces. \Box

Lemma 3.2. Suppose that Ξ_i are as in Proposition 3.1 and suppose that W is also positively one-homogeneous. Then $0 \in \operatorname{aff} \Xi_i$ for every *i*.

Proof. This follows immediately from one-homogeneity since $\partial W(p) = \partial W(tp)$ for any $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$, t > 0.

Since W is finite everywhere, $\partial W(p)$ is a nonempty closed convex set for any $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$. For given $p_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ we introduce the one-sided directional derivative of W at p_0 with respect to a vector $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ as ([39, Section 23])

$$W'_{p_0}(p) := \lim_{\lambda \to 0+} \frac{W(p_0 + \lambda p) - W(p_0)}{\lambda}.$$

Then $W'(p_0; \cdot)$ is a positively one-homogeneous convex function, and ([39, Theorem 23.4])

(3.1)
$$W'_{p_0}(p) \equiv \delta^*(p \mid \partial W(p_0)) := \sup \left\{ p \cdot \xi : \xi \in \partial W(p_0) \right\}$$

In particular, W'_{p_0} is the convex conjugate of the indicator function of $\partial W(p_0)$. Therefore by [39, Theorem 13.4] the lineality space of W'_{p_0} (the subspace of directions in which W'_{p_0} is affine) is the orthogonal complement of the subspace parallel to aff $\partial W(p_0)$. This provides the orthogonal decomposition of \mathbb{R}^n for a given gradient.

Proposition 3.3 (Direction decomposition). Let W be a polyhedral convex function on \mathbb{R}^n finite everywhere and let $p_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Let V be the subspace of \mathbb{R}^n parallel to aff $\partial W(p_0)$ and set $U = V^{\perp}$. Then W'_{p_0} is linear on U and

(3.2)
$$W'_{p_0}(p) = W'_{p_0}(P_V p) + \xi \cdot P_U p \quad \text{for any } p \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ \xi \in \text{aff } \partial W(p_0),$$

where P_U and P_V are the orthogonal projections onto U and V, respectively. Moreover, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that

$$W(p) = W'_{p_0}(p - p_0) + W(p_0)$$
 for all $|p - p_0| < \delta$.

Proof. (3.2) follows from (3.1) and from the orthogonality of U and V.

The existence of $\delta > 0$ can be proved by contradiction: suppose that there exists a sequence $\{p_k\}, p_k \to p_0$ such that $W(p_k) - W(p_0) > W'_{p_0}(p_k - p_0)$ (it is clear that $W'_{p_0}(p - p_0) \leq W(p) - W(p_0)$ by convexity). Since W is polyhedral, it is given as the maximum of a finite number of affine functions, and therefore by taking a subsequence we can assume that $W(p_k) = \xi \cdot p_k + c$ for some fixed $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n, c \in \mathbb{R}$. By continuity we have $W(p_k) - W(p_0) = \xi \cdot (p_k - p_0)$. Therefore $\xi \in \partial W(p_0)$. But this yields a contradiction since then (3.1) implies $W'_{p_0}(p_k - p_0) \geq \xi \cdot (p_k - p_0)$.

Y. GIGA AND N. POŽÁR

The previous proposition tells us that the behavior of W is interesting only in the directions parallel to aff ∂W . That motivates the following notation. For given $W : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ convex polyhedral and $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ let V be the subspace of \mathbb{R}^n parallel to aff $\partial W(p)$, $U = V^{\perp}$, $k = \dim V$, and we fix an arbitrary rotation

$$(3.3) \mathcal{T}: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$$

that maps $\mathbb{R}^k \times \{0\}$ onto V and $\{0\} \times \mathbb{R}^{n-k}$ onto U. For given $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we define the unique $x' \in \mathbb{R}^k$ and $x'' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-k}$ such that

(3.4)
$$\mathcal{T}(x',x'') = x.$$

We set $\mathcal{T}_V : \mathbb{R}^k \to V$ and $\mathcal{T}_U : \mathbb{R}^{n-k} \to U$ by

(3.5)
$$\mathcal{T}_V x' = \mathcal{T}(x',0), \qquad \mathcal{T}_U x'' = \mathcal{T}(0,x'').$$

In the above we also allow for k = 0 and k = n, in which case terms containing x' respectively x'' simply do not appear in the formulas, and \mathcal{T}_V respectively \mathcal{T}_U are trivial maps. Note that

$$(\mathcal{T}_V z)' = z, \quad (\mathcal{T}_U w)'' = w, \qquad z \in \mathbb{R}^k, w \in \mathbb{R}^{n-k},$$

and

$$\mathcal{T}_V x' = P_V x, \quad \mathcal{T}_U x'' = P_U x, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

where P_V and P_U are respectively the orthogonal projections on V and U. Since \mathcal{T} is a linear isometry, it preserves the inner product

$$z_1 \cdot z_2 = \mathcal{T}_V z_1 \cdot \mathcal{T}_V z_2, \qquad z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^k,$$

and similarly for \mathcal{T}_U .

Remark 3.4. We are free to choose any such \mathcal{T} , as long as we keep this choice consistent throughout the paper for given W and p. We can in fact choose the same \mathcal{T} for all $p \in \Xi_i$ from Proposition 3.1.

We will introduce the sliced energy density W^{sl} that locally captures behavior of W in the directions V.

Definition 3.5. We define the sliced density $W_p^{\text{sl}} : \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}$ as

(3.6)
$$W_p^{\rm sl} := W_p' \circ \mathcal{T}_V.$$

Lemma 3.6 (Decomposition). For any fixed $p_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ we have

$$\partial W'_{p_0}(p) = \left\{ \mathcal{T}(\zeta', \xi'') : \zeta' \in \partial W^{\mathrm{sl}}_{p_0}(p') \right\} \quad \text{for all } p \in \mathbb{R}^n, \, \xi \in \partial W'_{p_0}(0).$$

The following lemma states that the behavior of W in the neighborhood of some p is completely captured by the sliced density $W_p^{\rm sl}$.

Lemma 3.7. For every $p_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

(3.7)
$$W(p) = W_{p_0}^{\rm sl}(p' - p'_0) + P_U \xi \cdot (p - p_0) + W(p_0)$$

for any $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $|p - p_0| < \varepsilon$, $\xi \in \partial W(p)$. Since \mathcal{T} is an isometry, we have $P_U \xi \cdot (p - p_0) = \xi'' \cdot (p'' - p''_0)$.

Proof. The claim follows from Definition 3.5 and Proposition 3.3.

Lemma 3.8. Suppose that $p_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\xi_0 \in \operatorname{ri} \partial W(p_0)$. Then there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $W_{p_0}^{\mathrm{sl}}(z) - \xi'_0 \cdot z \ge \delta |z|, \qquad z \in \mathbb{R}^k,$

where $k = \dim \operatorname{aff} \partial W(p_0)$.

Proof. Let again V be the subspace parallel to aff $\partial W(p_0)$. Then aff $\partial W(p_0) = \xi_0 + V$. Since $\xi_0 \in \operatorname{ri} \partial W(p_0)$, there exists $\delta > 0$ with $\xi \in \partial W(p_0)$ for all $|\xi - \xi_0| \leq \delta$, $\xi \in \xi_0 + V$. Take $z \in \mathbb{R}^k$ and set $\zeta = \xi_0 + \delta \frac{T_V z}{|z|} \in \partial W(p_0)$. From the definition of $W_{p_0}^{\mathrm{sl}}$ we have from (3.5) and (3.1)

$$W_{p_0}^{\rm sl}(z) = W_{p_0}'(\mathcal{T}_V z) = \sup \left\{ \mathcal{T}_V z \cdot \xi : \xi \in \partial W(p_0) \right\} \ge \mathcal{T}_V z \cdot \zeta = \xi_0' \cdot z + \delta |z|.$$

This yields the lower bound.

3.2. Sliced energy. Suppose now that $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $k = \dim \partial W(p) > 0$ and recall the definition of \mathcal{T} in (3.3). We shall consider the rotated flat torus $\Gamma = \mathbb{R}^n / L \mathcal{T} \mathbb{Z}^n$ for some L > 0. We can write $\Gamma = \mathcal{T}(\Gamma' \times \Gamma'')$, where $\Gamma' = \mathbb{R}^k / L \mathbb{Z}^k$ and $\Gamma'' = \mathbb{R}^{n-k} / L \mathbb{Z}^{n-k}$, and $x \in \Gamma$ is given as $x = \mathcal{T}(x', x'')$ for $x' \in \Gamma'$, $x'' \in \Gamma''$.

We define the functionals

$$\begin{split} E_p(\psi) &:= E_{W(\cdot+p)-W(p)}(\psi;\Gamma), & \psi \in L^2(\Gamma), \\ E'_p(\psi) &:= E_{W'_p}(\psi;\Gamma), & \psi \in L^2(\Gamma), \\ E^{\rm sl}_p(\psi) &:= E_{W^{\rm sl}_p}(\psi;\Gamma'), & \psi \in L^2(\Gamma'). \end{split}$$

All three functionals are proper closed convex functions on $L^2(\Gamma)$ resp. $L^2(\Gamma')$.

Since W'_p and $W^{\rm sl}_p$ are positively one-homogeneous, the characterization of the subdifferential in Proposition 2.1 applies.

The function $q \mapsto W(q + p) - W(p)$ is not one-homogeneous in general, however, and therefore the same characterization does not apply for the subdifferential of E_p . Nevertheless, it coincides with the subdifferential of E'_p at $\psi \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Gamma)$ when $\|\nabla \psi\|_{\infty}$ is small by Lemma 2.11. This observation allows us to use the simpler, positively one-homogeneous energy E'_p when defining the crystalline curvature of a facet.

What follows is the main justification of the energy stratification. We show that since W'_p is linear on the subspace U, we need to only consider the directions in $V = U^{\perp}$ when computing the crystalline curvature of a **stratified** function.

Lemma 3.9. Let p be as above. Suppose that $\bar{\psi} \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Gamma')$ and $f \in C^1(\Gamma'')$ are given functions and let $\psi(x) = \bar{\psi}(x') + f(x'')$. Let ψ_a and $\bar{\psi}_a$ be the unique solutions of the resolvent problems

$$\psi_a + a\partial E'_p(\psi_a) \ni \psi,$$

$$\bar{\psi}_a + a\partial E^{\rm sl}_p(\bar{\psi}_a) \ni \bar{\psi},$$

for given a > 0. Then

$$\psi_a(x) = \bar{\psi}_a(x') + f(x''), \qquad x = \mathcal{T}(x', x'') \in \Gamma.$$

or, equivalently,

$$(I + a\partial E'_p)^{-1}(\psi)(x) = (I + a\partial E^{\rm sl}_p)^{-1}(\bar{\psi})(x') + f(x'')$$

If moreover $\bar{\psi} \in \mathcal{D}(\partial E_p^{\mathrm{sl}})$, then $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\partial E'_p)$, $\partial^0 E'_p(\psi)$ is independent of x'' and

(3.8) $\partial^0 E'_p(\psi)(x) = \partial^0 E^{\rm sl}_p(\bar{\psi})(x') \qquad a.e. \ x = \mathcal{T}(x', x'') \in \Gamma.$

Proof. Suppose that $\psi(x) = \overline{\psi}(x') + f(x'')$ for some $\overline{\psi} \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Gamma')$ and $f \in C^1(\Gamma'')$. By the characterization of the subdifferentials in Proposition 2.1, we have

$$\partial E'_p(\psi) = -\operatorname{div} CH_{W'_p}(\psi; \Gamma), \qquad \partial E^{\mathrm{sl}}_p(\bar{\psi}) = -\operatorname{div} CH_{W^{\mathrm{sl}}_p}(\bar{\psi}; \Gamma').$$

The decomposition lemma 3.6 implies

(3.9)
$$\partial W'_p(\nabla \psi(x)) = \left\{ \mathcal{T}(\xi',\xi'') : \xi' \in \partial W_p^{\mathrm{sl}}(\nabla \bar{\psi}(x')) \right\}$$

for some fixed $\xi'' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-k}$ since

$$abla\psi(x) = \mathcal{T}(\nabla \bar{\psi}(x'), \nabla f(x''))$$

By Proposition 2.6, both ψ_a and $\bar{\psi}_a$ are Lipschitz. As $\bar{\psi}_a$ is the unique solution of the resolvent problem, the characterization of the subdifferential of $E_p^{\rm sl}$ above yields that there exists $\bar{z}_a \in CH_{W_p^{\rm sl}}(\bar{\psi}_a; \Gamma')$ such that $\bar{\psi}_a - \bar{\psi} = a \operatorname{div} \bar{z}_a$. Set $z_a(x) = \mathcal{T}(\bar{z}_a(x'), \xi'')$ for some fixed ξ'' as above and $\zeta_a(x) = \bar{\psi}_a(x') + f(x'')$. Note that $z_a \in CH_{W_p'}(\zeta_a; \Gamma)$ by (3.9). Moreover $\operatorname{div}_x z_a(x) = \operatorname{div}_{x'} \bar{z}_a(x')$. Therefore

(3.10)
$$\zeta_a(x) - \psi(x) = \bar{\psi}_a(x') + f(x'') - \bar{\psi}(x') + f(x'') = \bar{\psi}_a(x') - \bar{\psi}(x') \\ = a \operatorname{div}_{x'} \bar{z}_a(x') = a \operatorname{div}_x z_a(x).$$

The characterization of the subdifferential of E'_p above implies that $\zeta_a - \psi \in -\partial E'_p(\zeta_a; \Gamma)$ and therefore ζ_a is a solution of the resolvent problem. However, the solution is unique and therefore $\psi_a = \zeta_a$ almost everywhere.

Now we suppose that $\bar{\psi} \in \mathcal{D}(\partial E_p^{sl})$, that is, that $\partial E_p^{sl}(\bar{\psi})$ is nonempty. And so there exists $\bar{z} \in CH_{W_p^{sl}}(\bar{\psi}; \Gamma')$. But then $z(x) = \mathcal{T}(\bar{z}(\bar{x}), \xi'') \in CH_{W_p'}(\psi; \Gamma)$ as we just observed. In particular, $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\partial E_p')$.

Let us set $h_a = (\psi_a - \psi)/a$ and $\bar{h}_a = (\bar{\psi}_a - \bar{\psi})/a$ as in Proposition 2.6. Observe that due to (3.10)

$$h_a(x) = \bar{h}_a(x').$$

Since $-h_a \to \partial^0 E'_p(\psi; \Gamma)$ in $L^2(\Gamma)$ and $-\bar{h}_a \to \partial^0 E^{\rm sl}_p(\bar{\psi}; \Gamma')$ in $L^2(\Gamma')$ as $a \to 0$, we conclude (3.8).

4. Crystalline curvature

We introduce an operator Λ_p that assigns the crystalline curvature to a facet with slope p given by a faceted function, as long as the faceted function is admissible in a certain sense.

4.1. Facets. To describe facets, let us recall the notation for pairs that was introduced in [26]. Since we need to construct facets of various dimensions, depending on the dimension of $\partial W(p)$, \mathcal{P}^k will denote the set of pairs on \mathbb{R}^k :

Definition 4.1 (cf. [26]). For any $k \in \mathbb{N}$ we will denote by \mathcal{P}^k the set of all ordered pairs (A_-, A_+) of disjoint sets $A_{\pm} \subset \mathbb{R}^k$, $A_- \cap A_+ = \emptyset$. We will introduce a partial ordering (\mathcal{P}^k, \preceq) by

(A - A) = (B - B)

$$(A_-, A_+) \preceq (B_-, B_+) \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad A_+ \subset B_+ \text{ and } B_- \subset A_-$$

for $(A_-, A_+), (B_-, B_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$, as well as the reversal

$$-(A_{-}, A_{+}) := (A_{+}, A_{-}).$$

Clearly, if $(A_-, A_+) \preceq (B_-, B_+)$ then $-(B_-, B_+) \preceq -(A_-, A_+)$.

A pair $(A_-, A_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$ is said to be open if both A_- and A_+ are open. A smooth pair is then an open pair $(A_-, A_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$ for which we also have (i) dist $(A_-, A_+) > 0$, where we use the convention dist $(\emptyset, E) = +\infty$ for any E, and (ii) $\partial A_- \in C^{\infty}$ and $\partial A_+ \in C^{\infty}$. We will refer to the set

$$\mathbb{R}^k \setminus (A_- \cup A_+) = A_-^c \cap A_+^c$$

as the facet of the pair $(A_-, A_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$.

Remark 4.2. We will drop k if the dimension is understood from the context or is irrelevant.

We will add the notion of a bounded pair.

Definition 4.3. We say that a pair $(A_-, A_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$ is bounded if either A_-^c or A_+^c is bounded.

Remark 4.4. Note that if (A_-, A_+) is a bounded pair, then the facet $A_-^c \cap A_+^c$ is bounded. If (A_-, A_+) is an open pair, the reverse implication also applies.

Let us also recall the useful notion of a support function.

Definition 4.5 (cf. [26]). A Lipschitz function $\psi \in \operatorname{Lip}(\mathbb{R}^k)$ is called a support function of an open pair $(A_-, A_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$ if

$$\psi(x) \begin{cases} > 0 & x \in A_+, \\ = 0 & x \in A_-^c \cap A_+^c, \\ < 0 & x \in A_-. \end{cases}$$

On the other hand, for any function ψ on \mathbb{R}^k we define the pair

$$\operatorname{Pair}(\psi) := \left(\left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^k : \psi(x) < 0 \right\}, \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^k : \psi(x) > 0 \right\} \right).$$

Example 4.6. For any open pair $(A_-, A_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$ the function

$$\psi(x) := \operatorname{dist}(x, A_{+}^{c}) - \operatorname{dist}(x, A_{-}^{c})$$

is a support function of the pair (A_-, A_+) .

Finally, let us recall the notion of a generalized neighborhood of a subset of \mathbb{R}^k .

Definition 4.7 (cf. [26]). For any set $E \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ and $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$ the generalized neighborhood is defined as

$$\mathcal{U}^{\rho}(E) := \begin{cases} E + \overline{B}_{\rho}(0) & \rho > 0, \\ E & \rho = 0, \\ \left\{ x \in E : \overline{B}_{|\rho|}(x) \subset E \right\} & \rho < 0. \end{cases}$$

For a pair $(A_-, A_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$ we introduce the generalized neighborhood

$$\mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A_{-},A_{+}) := \left(\mathcal{U}^{-\rho}(A_{-}),\mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A_{+})\right).$$

A part of the following proposition was stated in [26] for the *n*-dimensional torus, but it can be easily restated for \mathbb{R}^n . The proof is straighforward.

Proposition 4.8. (a) $\mathcal{U}^{-\rho}(A) \subset A \subset \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A)$ for $\rho > 0$.

(b) (complement)

(4.1)
$$(\mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A))^{c} = \mathcal{U}^{-\rho}(A^{c}) \quad \text{for any set } A \subset \mathbb{R}^{n} \text{ and } \rho \in \mathbb{R}$$

(c) (monotonicity)

 $\mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A_1) \subset \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A_2) \quad \text{for } A_1 \subset A_2 \subset \mathbb{R}^n \text{ and } \rho \in \mathbb{R}.$

- (d) $\mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A_1 \cap A_2) \subset \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A_1) \cap \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A_2)$ for all $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$, with equality for $\rho \leq 0$.
- (e) $\mathcal{U}^r(\mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A)) \subset \mathcal{U}^{r+\rho}(A)$ for $r \geq 0$ and $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$; equality holds if $\rho \geq 0$.
- (f) For any $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$, we have $\mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A_1) \subset A_2$ if and only if $A_1 \subset \mathcal{U}^{-\rho}(A_2)$.
- (g) (interior and closure)

$$\bigcup_{\rho>0} \mathcal{U}^{-\rho}(A) = \operatorname{int} A \subset A \subset \overline{A} = \bigcap_{\rho>0} \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A) \quad \text{for any set } A \subset \mathbb{R}^n.$$

(h) (distance)

$$\operatorname{dist}(A_1, A_2) = \sup \left\{ \rho \ge 0 : \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A_1) \subset A_2^c \right\} \quad \text{for all } A_1, A_2 \subset \mathbb{R}^n.$$

4.2. **Definition of crystalline curvature.** We assume for the rest of the paper that W is a convex polyhedral function on \mathbb{R}^n . Let $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $k = \dim \partial W(p) > 0$. Let ψ be a support function of a bounded open pair $(A_-, A_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$. We say that ψ is an *p*-admissible support function if there exists an open set $G \supset A_-^c \cap A_+^c$ such that the set of Cahn-Hoffman vector fields

$$CH_p^{\mathrm{sl}}(\psi;G) := CH_{W_p^{\mathrm{sl}}}(\psi;G)$$

is nonempty. We denote this for short as $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\Lambda_p)$. If for a given bounded open pair (A_-, A_+) there exists at least one *p*-admissible support function, we say that (A_-, A_+) is a *p*-admissible pair. If *p* is understood from the context, we refer to them as an admissible support function and an admissible pair.

Let $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\Lambda_p)$ be an admissible support function of an admissible pair (A_-, A_+) . We define the function $\Lambda_p[\psi] \in L^2(A_-^c \cap A_+^c)$ on the facet as

(4.2)
$$\Lambda_p[\psi](x) = \operatorname{div} z_{\min}(x), \qquad x \in A^c_- \cap A^c_+,$$

where z_{\min} is an element of $CH_p^{sl}(\psi; G)$ that minimizes $\|\operatorname{div} z\|_{L^2(G)}$. We call Λ_p the crystalline curvature.

Remark 4.9. As we shall see later in Corollary 4.14 at the end of this section, the crystalline curvature satisfies a comparison principle and therefore its value on a facet of a given admissible pair is independent of the choice of an admissible support function of this pair.

We first prove that the crystalline curvature is well-defined Λ_p .

Proposition 4.10. The quantity $\Lambda_p[\psi]$ is well-defined in the sense that the value is unique a.e. and it does not depend on G nor on the value of ψ away from the facet. More precisely, if ψ_1 and ψ_2 are two support functions of a bounded open pair $(A_-, A_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$ with $\psi_i \in \mathcal{D}(\Lambda_p)$ for some $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $k = \dim \partial W(p) > 0$ such that $\psi_1 = \psi_2$ on a neighborhood of the facet $A_-^c \cap A_+^c$, then $\Lambda_p[\psi_1] = \Lambda_p[\psi_2]$ a.e. on $A_-^c \cap A_+^c$.

Proof. Let $\psi_i \in \mathcal{D}(\Lambda_p)$, i = 1, 2, be two support functions that satisfy the hypothesis. Then there are open sets $G_i \supset A_-^c \cap A_+^c$ and associated Cahn-Hoffman vector fields $z_i \in CH_p^{\mathrm{sl}}(\psi_i; G_i)$ that minimize $\|\operatorname{div} z_i\|_{L^2(G_i)}$ over $CH_p^{\mathrm{sl}}(\psi_i; G_i)$. Since the facet $A_-^c \cap A_+^c$ is assumed to be bounded, we can find a bounded open set $H \supset A^c_- \cap A^c_+$ with $\psi_1 = \psi_2$ on H and $H \subset G_1 \cap G_2$. Let us take $0 < \delta < \min_{\partial H} |\psi_1|$ and set $G = \{x \in H : |\psi_1| < \delta\} \subset H$.

Set $z = z_1 \chi_{G_1 \setminus G} + z_2 \chi_G$. By Lemma 2.8 we have that $z \in CH_p^{\rm sl}(\psi_1; G_1)$ and therefore $\|\operatorname{div} z\|_{L^2(G_1)} \geq \|\operatorname{div} z_1\|_{L^2(G_1)}$, which with (2.9) implies

$$\|\operatorname{div} z_2\|_{L^2(G)} \ge \|\operatorname{div} z_1\|_{L^2(G)}$$

Reversing the roles of ψ_1 and ψ_2 , and G_1 and G_2 , we get the opposite inequality.

Therefore the strict convexity of the L^2 -norm implies that div $z_1 = \text{div } z_2$ a.e. on L. Indeed, if they are not equal, we can decrease the norm by taking the vector field $z = \frac{1}{2}(z_1 + z_2)$ on G which is still admissible due to Remark 2.9.

The following crucial result will allow us to express the crystalline curvature as the minimal section of the subdifferential of the sliced energy on a periodic domain.

Proposition 4.11. Let $p \in \mathbb{R}^k$ be such that $k = \dim \partial W(p) > 0$. Suppose that $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\Lambda_p)$, that is, ψ is an admissible support function of a bounded open pair (A_-, A_+) . Let L > 0 be such that $A^c_- \cap A^c_+ \subset B_{L/4}(0)$. Denote $\Gamma = \mathbb{R}^k / L\mathbb{Z}^k$.

There exists an L-periodic Lipschitz function $\psi_2 \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Gamma)$ such that ψ_2 is a support function of the open pair $(A_- + L\mathbb{Z}^k, A_+ + L\mathbb{Z}^k)$ and $CH_p^{\mathrm{sl}}(\psi_2; \Gamma)$ is nonempty, and for some open set $H, A_-^c \cap A_+^c \subset H \subset B_{L/4}(0)$ we have $\psi_1 = \psi_2$ on H. Moreover,

(4.3)
$$\Lambda[\psi_1](x) = -\partial^0 E_p^{\rm sl}(\psi_2; \Gamma)(x) \qquad a.e. \ x \in A^c_- \cap A^c_+.$$

Proof. Let us first show (4.3) if we have function ψ_2 with the properties stated in the proposition. We use the characterization of the differential in Proposition 2.1. Let therefore $z_2 \in CH_p^{\rm sl}(\psi_2; \Gamma)$ be a Cahn-Hoffman vector field that minimizes $\|\operatorname{div} z_2\|_2$ in this set. Note that we have $\partial^0 E_p^{\rm sl}(\psi_2; \Gamma)(x) = -\operatorname{div} z_2$ by the characterization of the subdifferential in Proposition 2.1.

Now we can proceed as in the proof of Proposition 4.10. Let z_1 minimize $\|\operatorname{div} z_1\|_2$ in $CH_p^{\mathrm{sl}}(\psi_1; G_1)$ for some open set $G_1 \supset A_-^c \cap A_+^c$. We can assume that $G_1 \subset H$. We proceed as follows: given that $G \subset \subset H$ with G as defined in that proof, Lemma 2.8 can be applied to ψ_1 on G_1 and ψ_2 on $G_2 = H$, and since we are only modifying the vector fields away from the boundary of H, replacing z_2 by z_1 on the set G yields again a vector field in $CH_p^{\mathrm{sl}}(\psi_2; \Gamma)$. We again deduce that div $z_1 = \operatorname{div} z_2$ on $A_-^c \cap A_+^c$,

We shall now construct ψ_2 . Since ψ_1 is admissible there are an open set $G \supset A_- \cap A_+$, $G \subset B_{L/4}(0)$, and a vector field $z \in CH_p^{\rm sl}(\psi_1; G)$. Let us choose a positive δ such that $\delta < \min_{\partial G} |\psi_1|$. This is possible since ψ_1 is continuous and $\partial G \subset A_- \cup A_+ = \{\psi_1 \neq 0\}$. We set

$$\xi(x) = \begin{cases} -\delta & x \in A_- \setminus G_+ \\ \max(-\delta, \min(\delta, \psi_1(x))) & x \in G_- \\ \delta & x \in A_+ \setminus G_+ \end{cases}$$

Note that ξ is Lipschitz on \mathbb{R}^k , $\nabla \xi(x) = \nabla \psi_1$ whenever $|\xi(x)| < \delta$ and $\nabla \xi(x) = 0$ if $|\xi(x)| = \delta$, almost everywhere. Moreover, we see that

(4.4)
$$\xi = \psi_1 \quad \text{on } H := \{ x \in G : |\psi_1| < \delta \}$$

Since the complement of $B_{L/4}(0)$ is connected and A_- , A_+ are open disjoint sets, we must have either $A_- \subset B_{L/4}(0)$ or $A_+ \subset B_{L/4}(0)$. In any case, ξ is constant outside of $B_{L/4}(0)$. Let $\phi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^k)$ be such that $0 \leq \phi \leq 1$, $\operatorname{supp} \phi \subset G$ and $\phi = 1$ on $\{x \in G : |\psi| \leq \delta\}$. Define

$$w(x) = \begin{cases} z(x)\phi(x) & x \in G, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Clearly $w \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^k; \mathbb{R}^k)$, div $w \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^k)$, supp $w \subset G$. Moreover, since $\partial W_p^{\mathrm{sl}}(q) \subset \partial W_p^{\mathrm{sl}}(0) \ni 0$ for any $q \in \mathbb{R}^k$ by Lemma 2.3 and $\partial W_p^{\mathrm{sl}}(0)$ is convex, we have $w(x) \in \partial W_p^{\mathrm{sl}}(\nabla \xi(x))$ for a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$. Therefore ξ is an admissible support function of the pair (A_-, A_+) .

Since $\xi = \psi$ in a neighborhood of $A^c_{-} \cap A^c_{+}$, we conclude that $\Lambda_p[\xi] = \Lambda_p[\psi_1]$ a.e. on $A^c_{-} \cap A^c_{+}$ due to Proposition 4.10.

Now we *L*-periodically extend ξ and w from $[-L/2, L/2)^k$ to \mathbb{R}^k and call them ψ_2 and z_2 , respectively. This gives a support function of an open pair $(A_- + L\mathbb{Z}^k, A_+ + L\mathbb{Z}^k)$ and clearly $CH_p^{\rm sl}(\psi_2; \Gamma) \ni z_2$.

By construction, $\psi_2 = \psi_1$ on H due to (4.4).

4.3. Comparison principle for the crystalline curvature. We can prove the following comparison theorem for the crystalline curvature of ordered facets, as in [27]. This will imply that $\Lambda_p[\psi]$ on a given admissible pair is in fact independent of the choice of an admissible support function ψ , Corollary 4.14 below.

Proposition 4.12 (Comparison principle for Λ_p). Let $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $k = \dim \partial W(p) > 0$. Suppose that $(A_{1,-}, A_{1,+})$ and $(A_{2,-}, A_{2,+})$ are two p-admissible pairs in \mathcal{P}^k . If the pairs are ordered in the sense of

$$(A_{1,-}, A_{1,+}) \prec (A_{2,-}, A_{2,+}),$$

then for any two p-admissible support functions ψ_1 and ψ_2 of the respective pairs we have

(4.5)
$$\Lambda_p[\psi_1](x) \le \Lambda_p[\psi_2](x) \quad a.e. \ x \in A_{1,-}^c \cap A_{1,+}^c \cap A_{2,-}^c \cap A_{2,+}^c.$$

Before proceeding with the proof, we first give a technical lemma, which is a variant of [23, Lemma 4.2.9]; such a result goes back to [18, 21] to establish a uniqueness of a level set flow.

Lemma 4.13. Suppose that ψ and φ are two nonnegative periodic Lipschitz functions on \mathbb{R}^d , $d \ge 1$, such that $\{\psi = 0\} \subset \{\varphi = 0\}$. Then there exists a Lipschitz continuous function $\theta : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ such that $\theta(0) = 0$, $\theta(s) > 0$ for s > 0 and $\theta'(s) > 0$ for almost every s > 0 and we have

$$\theta \circ \varphi \leq \psi$$
 on \mathbb{R}^d .

Proof. We may assume that $\{\psi = 0\} \neq \emptyset$, otherwise the statement is trivial. We define

$$\eta(s) := \inf \left\{ \psi(x) : \varphi(x) \ge s \right\}.$$

Clearly by compactness $\eta(0) = 0$, $\eta(s) > 0$ for s > 0. Furthermore, η is nondecreasing since $s \mapsto \{\varphi \ge s\}$ is nonincreasing. Finally, $\eta \circ \varphi \le \psi$ as

$$\eta(\varphi(x)) = \inf \left\{ \psi(y) : \varphi(y) \ge \varphi(x) \right\} \le \psi(x).$$

As η can have jumps or be infinite, we now consider

$$\sigma(s) := \inf \{ \eta(t) + |s - t| : 0 \le t \le s \}.$$

We immediately obtain $0 \le \sigma(s) \le \eta(s)$ and $\sigma(0) = 0$. On the other hand, $\eta(t) + |s - t| \ge \min\{\frac{s}{2}, \eta(\frac{s}{2})\} > 0$ for s > 0, $t \in [0, s]$, and so $\sigma(s) > 0$ for s > 0. As for monotonicity, a simple estimate for $s \ge u \ge 0$ yields

$$\begin{aligned} \sigma(s) &= \min \{ \inf \{ \eta(t) + |s - t| : 0 \le t \le u \}, \inf \{ \eta(t) + |s - t| : u \le t \le s \} \} \\ &\geq \min \{ \sigma(u) + |s - u|, \eta(u) \} \\ &\geq \sigma(u). \end{aligned}$$

We also show that σ is Lipschitz. Take $0 \le u \le s$ and $\delta > 0$ and find $t \in [0, u]$ such that $\sigma(u) > \eta(t) + |u - t| - \delta$. Then we have

$$\sigma(s) \le \eta(t) + |s - t| = \eta(t) + |u - t| + |s - u| < \sigma(u) + |s - u| + \delta.$$

Since δ was arbitrary, σ is Lipschitz.

Finally, set

$$\theta(s) := (1 - e^{-s})\sigma(s)$$

Clearly $\theta(0) = 0$, $\theta(s) > 0$ for s > 0. The product rule yields $\theta'(s) > 0$ for almost every s > 0. By construction,

$$\theta \circ \varphi \leq \sigma \circ \varphi \leq \eta \circ \varphi \leq \psi.$$

Now we complete the proof of the comparison principle for the crystalline curvature Λ_p .

Proof of Theorem 4.12. By Proposition 4.11, we can for a sufficiently large L > 0 find L-periodic functions, called $\tilde{\psi}_1$ and $\tilde{\psi}_2$, such that $CH_p^{\rm sl}(\tilde{\psi}_i; \Gamma)$ is nonempty, $\Gamma = \mathbb{R}^k/L\mathbb{Z}^k$, and $\tilde{\psi}_i$ coincides with the original ψ_i on the neighborhood of the facet $A_{i,-}^c \cap A_{i,+}^c$, i = 1, 2, and that

(4.6)
$$\Lambda_p[\psi_i] = -\partial^0 E_p^{\rm sl}(\tilde{\psi}_i; \Gamma) \qquad \text{a.e. on } A_{i,-}^c \cap A_{i,+}^c, \, i = 1, 2.$$

Since the pairs are ordered, if we consider the sets $A_{i,\pm}$ as subsets of Γ we have

$$\{\tilde{\psi}_{2,+}=0\} = A_{2,+}^c \subset A_{1,+}^c = \{\tilde{\psi}_{1,+}=0\},\$$

$$\{\tilde{\psi}_{1,-}=0\} = A_{1,-}^c \subset A_{2,-}^c = \{\tilde{\psi}_{2,-}=0\},\$$

where $\tilde{\psi}_{i,\pm} := \max(\pm \tilde{\psi}_i, 0)$ denote the positive and negative parts. By Lemma 4.13, there exist Lipschitz functions θ^- and θ^+ on $[0,\infty)$ such that $\theta^{\pm}(0) = 0$, $\theta^{\pm}(s) > 0$ for s > 0, and $(\theta^{\pm})'(s) > 0$ for almost all s > 0, such that $\theta^+ \circ \tilde{\psi}_{1,+} \leq \tilde{\psi}_{2,+}$ and $\theta^- \circ \tilde{\psi}_{2,-} \leq \tilde{\psi}_{1,-}$. We introduce

$$\theta_1(s) := \begin{cases} s, & s < 0, \\ \theta^+(s), & s \ge 0, \end{cases} \qquad \theta_2(s) := \begin{cases} -\theta^-(-s), & s < 0, \\ s, & s \ge 0. \end{cases}$$

and

 $\xi_1 := \theta_1 \circ \tilde{\psi}_1, \qquad \xi_2 := \theta_2 \circ \tilde{\psi}_2.$

By construction we have that ξ_i are Lipschitz on Γ ,

$$\xi_1 \leq \xi_2$$

and the chain rule for Lipschitz functions yields

$$\nabla \xi_i(x) = \theta'_i(\xi_i(x)) \nabla \psi_i(x), \quad \text{for almost every } x,$$

if we interpret the right-hand side to be equal to zero if $\nabla \tilde{\psi}_i(x)$ is zero, no matter if θ'_i is differentiable at $\xi_i(x)$ or not. Since $\theta'_i(s) > 0$ for almost every $s \in \mathbb{R}$, we have by the positive one-homogeneity of $W_p^{\rm sl}$

$$\partial W_p^{\rm sl}(\nabla \xi_i(x)) = \partial W_p^{\rm sl}(\nabla \tilde{\psi}_i(x))$$
 for almost every x ,

and therefore

(4.7)
$$CH_p^{\rm sl}(\xi_i;\Gamma) = CH_p^{\rm sl}(\tilde{\psi}_i;\Gamma) \neq \emptyset.$$

The functional $E_p^{\rm sl}(\cdot;\Gamma)$ is proper closed convex and therefore the resolvent problems

$$\zeta_i + \lambda \partial E_p^{\rm sl}(\zeta_i; \Gamma) \ni \xi_i$$

have unique solutions $\zeta_i \in L^2(\Gamma)$.

By approximation by smooth problems that have a comparison principle, as in Proposition 2.6 and its proof, we can deduce that ζ_i are Lipschitz since ξ_i are Lipschitz, and

$$\zeta_1 \leq \zeta_2.$$

On the intersection of the facets $K = A_{1,-}^c \cap A_{1,+}^c \cap A_{2,-}^c \cap A_{2,+}$ we have $\xi_1 = \xi_2 = 0$ and therefore

(4.8)
$$\frac{\zeta_1 - \xi_1}{\lambda} \le \frac{\zeta_2 - \xi_2}{\lambda} \quad \text{on } K.$$

By (4.7) and the characterization of the subdifferential Proposition 2.1, we know that $\xi_i \in \mathcal{D}(\partial E_p^{\rm sl}(\cdot; \Gamma))$ and therefore the standard result [5, Proposition 3.56] yields

$$\frac{\zeta_i - \xi_i}{\lambda} \to -\partial^0 E_p^{\rm sl}(\xi_i; \Gamma) \qquad \text{in } L^2(\Gamma) \text{ as } \lambda \to 0.$$

We can send $\lambda \to 0$, and then use (4.6), (4.7) and the ordering (4.8) to conclude that

$$\Lambda_p[\psi_1] = -\partial^0 E_p^{\rm sl}(\xi_1; \Gamma) \le -\partial^0 E_p^{\rm sl}(\xi_2; \Gamma) = \Lambda_p[\psi_2] \qquad \text{a.e. on } K$$

This is the comparison principle for the Λ_p .

The following result is an immediate consequence of Proposition 4.12.

Corollary 4.14. Suppose that $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $k := \dim \partial W(p) > 0$ and let $(A_-, A_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$ be a *p*-admissible pair. Then the value of Λ_p on the facet $A_-^c \cap A_+^c$ is independent of the choice of a *p*-admissible support function, that is, for any two *p*-admissible support functions ψ, ξ of pair (A_-, A_+) we have

$$\Lambda_p[\psi] = \Lambda_p[\xi] \qquad a.e. \ on \ A^c_- \cap A^c_+.$$

5. VISCOSITY SOLUTIONS

In this section we introduce viscosity solutions of problem (1.4). For the definition of viscosity solutions we shall use *stratified faceted functions* that rely on the concept of energy stratification that we have developed in Section 3. Recall that for every $\hat{p} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ we have introduced the coordinate system $x = \mathcal{T}(x', x'')$ using the rotation $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}_{\hat{p}}$ from (3.3).

Definition 5.1. Let $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ and $\hat{p} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $V \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be the subspace parallel to aff $\partial W(\hat{p})$, $U = V^{\perp}$, $k = \dim V$. We say that a function $\varphi(x, t)$ is a stratified faceted test function at (\hat{x}, \hat{t}) with gradient \hat{p} if

$$\varphi(x,t) = \bar{\psi} \left(x' - \hat{x}' \right) + f \left(x'' - \hat{x}'' \right) + \hat{p} \cdot x + g(t),$$

where

- $\bar{\psi} : \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}$ is a support function of a bounded facet $(A_-, A_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$ with $0 \in int(A_-^c \cap A_+^c)$ and $\bar{\psi} \in \mathcal{D}(\Lambda_{\hat{p}})$,
- $f \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}), f(0) = 0 \text{ and } \nabla f(0) = 0,$ • $q \in C^1(\mathbb{R}).$
- 3 - (--)

With this notion of test functions, we define viscosity solutions.

Definition 5.2. An upper semi-continuous function $u : \overline{Q} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a viscosity subsolution of (1.4) if the following hold:

(i) (faceted test) Let φ be a stratified faceted test function at $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in Q$ with gradient $\hat{p} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and pair (A_-, A_+) . Then if there is $\rho > 0$ such that

(5.1)
$$u(x+w,t) - \varphi(x,t) \le u(\hat{x},\hat{t}) - \varphi(\hat{x},\hat{t})$$

for all

$$|w'| \le \rho, \ w'' = 0, \ and \ x' - \hat{x}' \in \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A^c_{-} \cap A^c_{+}), \ |x'' - \hat{x}''| \le \rho, \ |t - \hat{t}| \le \rho,$$

then there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $B_{\delta}(\hat{x}') \subset int(A^c_{-} \cap A^c_{+})$ and

$$\varphi_t(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) + F(\hat{p}, \operatorname*{ess\,inf}_{B_{\delta}(0)} \Lambda_{\hat{p}}[\bar{\psi}]) \le 0.$$

(ii) (off-facet test) Let $\varphi \in C^1(\mathcal{U})$ where \mathcal{U} is a neighborhood of some point $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in Q$ and suppose that dim $\partial W(\nabla \varphi(\hat{x}, \hat{t})) = 0$. If $u - \varphi$ has a local maximum at (\hat{x}, \hat{t}) then

$$\varphi_t(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) + F(\nabla \varphi(\hat{x}, \hat{t}), 0) \le 0.$$

Supersolutions are defined analogously.

If for some p the value of $F(p,\xi)$ does not depend on ξ in the sense below, we can replace the faceted test by a simpler test that does not need an admissible faceted function.

Definition 5.3 (Curvature-free type at p_0). We say that F is of curvature-free type at $p_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ if we have for any constant C > 0

$$\lim_{p \to p_0} \sup_{|\zeta| \le C} F(p,\zeta) = F(p_0,0) = \lim_{p \to p_0} \inf_{|\zeta| \le C} F(p,\zeta).$$

Remark 5.4. The function F defined in (1.5) is of curvature-free type at $p_0 = 0$.

Definition 5.5 (Faceted test at curvature-free gradients). If F is of curvature-free type at $p_0 = 0$, we replace the faceted test (i) in Definition 5.2 at $\hat{p} = p_0 = 0$ by the following test:

(*i-cf*) Let $g \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$, $\varphi(x,t) := g(t)$ and suppose that $u - \varphi$ has a local maximum at (\hat{x}, \hat{t}) . Then

$$g'(\hat{t}) + F(0,0) = g'(\hat{t}) \le 0.$$

Y. GIGA AND N. POŽÁR

6. Construction of faceted functions

To prove the uniqueness of viscosity solutions of (1.4), we need to be able to construct a sufficiently wide class of test functions, the *faceted functions*. In this section we will assume that W is convex, positively one-homogeneous and crystalline. We shall also assume that there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $W(p) \geq \delta |p|$. The important case for us is $W_p^{\rm sl}$ from Definition 3.5.

The polar function W° of W is defined as

(6.1)
$$W^{\circ}(x) = \sup \{x \cdot p : W(p) \le 1\}.$$

Clearly

 $(W^{\circ})^{\circ} = W.$

We define the Wulff shape corresponding to W as

$$Wulff_W := \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : W^{\circ}(x) \le 1 \}.$$

Note that the Wulff shape of a one-homogeneous crystalline (polyhedral) W with linear growth is a bounded polyhedron containing the origin in its interior.

We want to establish a proposition similar to [26, Proposition 2.12], but for a crystalline energy:

Proposition 6.1. Let k = 1 or 2, $(A_-, A_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$ be a bounded pair and let $0 \leq \rho_1 < \rho_2$. Suppose that $W : \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}$ is a convex, positively one-homogeneous polyhedral function such that there exists $\delta > 0$ with $W(p) \geq \delta |p|$ for $p \in \mathbb{R}^k$. Then there exists an admissible pair $(G_-, G_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$ such that

(6.2)
$$\mathcal{U}^{\rho_1}(A_-, A_+) \preceq (G_-, G_+) \preceq \mathcal{U}^{\rho_2}(A_-, A_+),$$

that is, there exists a support function ψ of pair (G_-, G_+) such that $CH_W(\psi; \mathbb{R}^k)$ is nonempty.

We shall use this result in the following form:

Corollary 6.2. Let $W : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a polyhedral convex function finite everywhere. Suppose that $p_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $\dim \partial W(p_0) = k$ for k = 1 or 2. Then for any bounded pair $(A_-, A_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$ and any $0 \le \rho_1 < \rho_2$ there exists a p_0 -admissible pair (G_-, G_+) satisfying (6.2).

Proof. Let us take $\xi_0 \in \operatorname{ri} \partial W(p_0)$. The function $\hat{W}(p) := W_{p_0}^{\mathrm{sl}}(p) - \xi'_0 \cdot p$ satisfies the assumptions of Proposition 6.1 by Lemma 3.8. Therefore there exists a pair $(G_-, G_+) \in \mathcal{P}^k$, its support function ψ and a Cahn-Hoffman vector field $z \in CH_{\hat{W}}(\psi; \mathbb{R}^k)$. It is easy to see that $z + \xi_0 \in CH_{p_0}^{\mathrm{sl}}(\psi; \mathbb{R}^k)$, and therefore (G_-, G_+) is p_0 -admissible.

As of now we only know how to construct such admissible facets for dimensions k = 1 and k = 2.

For the construction of an admissible function we will basically use a signed-distance-like function induced by W, and then define a possible Cahn-Hoffman vector field for this function. For a given set $V \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ the signed-distance-like function d_V is defined as

(6.3)
$$d_V(x) := \inf_{y \in V} W^{\circ}(x-y) - \inf_{y \in V^c} W^{\circ}(y-x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^k,$$

where W° is the polar of W given as (6.1).



FIGURE 1. Construction of an one-dimensional admissible pair and its support function

6.1. **One-dimensional admissible facets.** We will give an explicit construction as a proof of Proposition 6.1 in the one-dimensional case to illustrate the process and hopefully prepare the reader for the construction in the two-dimensional case. The situation is depicted in Figure 1.

Let $(A_-, A_+) \subset \mathcal{P}^1$ be a bounded pair in \mathbb{R} . By making ρ_1 larger if necessary, we can assume that $0 < \rho_1 < \rho_2$. Let us set $\varepsilon := \frac{\rho_2 - \rho_1}{3}$.

We define the open sets

$$G_{-} := \operatorname{int} \overline{\mathcal{U}^{\varepsilon} \left(\mathcal{U}^{-\rho_2}(A_{-}) \right)}$$
 and $G_{+} := \operatorname{int} \overline{\mathcal{U}^{\rho_1 + \varepsilon}(A_{+})}.$

Due to the properties of the set neighborhood, we have for all $\eta > 0$

(6.4)
$$\mathcal{U}^{-\rho_2}(A_-) \subset G_- \subset \mathcal{U}^{-\rho_2+\varepsilon+\eta}(A_-), \qquad \mathcal{U}^{\rho_1}(A_+) \subset G_+ \subset \mathcal{U}^{\rho_1+\varepsilon+\eta}(A_+).$$

In particular, we take the interior of the closure in the definition of G_{\pm} to regularize the boundary so that G_{\pm}^c has no isolated points.

By definition $A_{-} \subset A_{+}^{c}$, and therefore Proposition 4.8 together with (6.4) imply that for any $\eta \in (0, 2\varepsilon)$

$$G_{-} \subset \mathcal{U}^{\varepsilon+\eta} \left(\mathcal{U}^{-\rho_{2}}(A_{-}) \right) \subset \mathcal{U}^{-\rho_{2}+\varepsilon+\eta}(A_{-})$$
$$\subset \mathcal{U}^{-\rho_{2}+\varepsilon+\eta}(A_{+}^{c}) \subset \mathcal{U}^{-\varepsilon+2\eta} \left(\mathcal{U}^{-\rho_{1}-\varepsilon-\eta}(A_{+}^{c}) \right)$$
$$= \mathcal{U}^{-\varepsilon+2\eta} \left(\mathcal{U}^{\rho_{1}+\varepsilon+\eta}(A_{+})^{c} \right)$$
$$= \mathcal{U}^{\varepsilon-2\eta} \left(\mathcal{U}^{\rho_{1}+\varepsilon+\eta}(A_{+}) \right)^{c} \subset \mathcal{U}^{\varepsilon-2\eta} \left(G_{+} \right)^{c}$$

We conclude that

 $\operatorname{dist}(G_-, G_+) = \varepsilon > 0.$

Therefore (G_-, G_+) is an open pair, and due to (6.4)

$$\mathcal{U}^{\rho_1}(A_-, A_+) \preceq (G_-, G_+) \preceq \mathcal{U}^{\rho_2}(A_-, A_+),$$

To prove that the pair (G_-, G_+) is bounded, we recall that (A_-, A_+) is a bounded pair therefore there exists R > 0 such that $B_R^c(0) \subset A_-$ or $B_R^c(0) \subset A_+$. From (6.4) we have that $\mathcal{U}^{-\rho_2}(B_R^c(0)) \subset G_-$ or $\mathcal{U}^{\rho_1}(B_R^c(0)) \subset A_+$. Therefore $B_{\tilde{R}}^c(0) \subset G_-$ or $B_{\tilde{R}}^c(0) \subset G_+$ for $\tilde{R} = R + \rho_2$, which implies that (G_-, G_+) is bounded.

Since G_{\pm} are open, we can write the union $G_{-} \cup G_{+}$ as at most a countable union of disjoint open intervals. Since the facet $G_{-}^{c} \cap G_{+}^{c}$ is bounded, and the sets G_{\pm} have the interior ball property with radius ε by construction, the length of the intervals must be greater than or equal to 2ε . In particular, there must only be finitely many of them. Since moreover $\operatorname{dist}(G_{-}, G_{+}) > 0$, we can find $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\{a_i\}_{i=0}^m$, $\{b_i\}_{i=0}^m$ such that

$$-\infty = a_0 < b_0 < a_1 < b_1 < \dots < a_m < b_m = \infty$$

and

$$G_- \cup G_+ = \bigcup_{i=0}^m (a_i, b_i).$$

Finally, by construction,

(6.5)
$$\delta := \frac{1}{3} \min \left\{ \min_{0 \le i \le m} b_i - a_i, \min_{1 \le i \le m} a_i - b_{i-1} \right\} > 0.$$

The facet $G_{-}^{c} \cap G_{+}^{c}$ is closed and

$$G_{-}^{c} \cap G_{+}^{c} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} [b_{i-1}, a_{i}].$$

Let us now introduce the sign function

$$\sigma(x) := \begin{cases} 1 & x \in \overline{G_+}, \\ -1 & x \in \overline{G_-}, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

This allows us to define the function

$$\psi(x) := \min\left\{\delta, \operatorname{dist}(x, G_+^c)\right\} - \min\left\{\delta, \operatorname{dist}(x, G_-^c)\right\},$$

as a clipped version of the function in Example 4.6, which is again clearly a support function of the pair (G_-, G_+) . Moreover,

$$\psi(x) = \begin{cases} \delta\sigma(x) & x \in [a_i + \delta, b_i - \delta] \text{ for some } i, \\ 0 & x \in [b_{i-1}, a_i] \text{ for some } i, \\ (x - a_i)\sigma(x) & x \in (a_i, a_i + \delta) \text{ for some } i, \\ (b_i - x)\sigma(x) & x \in (b_i - \delta, b_i) \text{ for some } i. \end{cases}$$

Therefore the function ψ is differentiable everywhere except at the points $a_i, b_i, a_i + \delta, b_i - \delta$ for $0 \le i \le m$. We can evaluate the derivative at the other points as

$$\psi'(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & x \in (a_i + \delta, b_i - \delta) \cup (b_{i-1}, a_i) \text{ for some } i, \\ \sigma(x) & x \in (a_i, a_i + \delta) \text{ for some } i, \\ -\sigma(x) & x \in (b_i - \delta, b_i) \text{ for some } i. \end{cases}$$

In one dimension, the subdifferential of one-homogeneous W can be expressed as

$$\partial W(p) = \begin{cases} \{w_{-}\} & p < 0, \\ [w_{-}, w_{+}] & p = 0, \\ \{w_{+}\} & p < 0, \end{cases}$$

for $w_{\pm} = W'(\pm 1), w_{-} < 0 < w_{+}.$

Let us define the continuous Cahn-Hoffman vector field as

$$z(x) := \begin{cases} W'(\sigma(x)) & x \in (a_i, a_i + \delta) \text{ for some } i, \\ W'(-\sigma(x)) & x \in (b_i - \delta, b_i) \text{ for some } i, \\ W'(\sigma(b_0)) & x \leq b_0 - \delta, \\ W'(\sigma(a_m)) & x \geq a_m + \delta, \\ \text{linear} & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$

One can easily see that the function z is Lipschitz continuous on \mathbb{R} and $\|\nabla z\|_{\infty} \leq \frac{w_+ - w_-}{\delta} \leq \infty$ by the definition of δ in (6.5). Therefore $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\partial E)$ and the facet (G_-, G_+) is admissible, which finishes the proof of Proposition 6.1 in the case of k = 1.

6.2. Two-dimensional admissible facets. In this section we give a proof of Proposition 6.1 in the two-dimensional case. We can without loss suppose that $\rho_1 = 0$ and $\rho_2 = \rho > 0$. Let us stress again that we do not assume that the Wulff shape of W is symmetric with respect to the origin.

The proof of Proposition 6.1 for k = 2 uses a rather simple idea of an explicit construction that is unfortunately quite technical. It will be split in several steps:

- 1. Approximate a general bounded facet by a smooth facet.
- 2. Rotate the smooth facet by a small angle so that the boundary has nonzero curvature at the points where the normal is pointing in the direction of a corner of W.
- 3. Flatten the boundary locally at these points.
- 4. Use the Fenchel distance-like function induced by W to construct a support function and a Cahn-Hoffman vector field in the neighborhood of the boundary.

We define the set of critical directions,

$$\mathcal{N} := \left\{ p \in S^1 : \partial W(p) \text{ is not a singleton} \right\} = \left\{ p \in S^1 : W \text{ is not differentiable at } p \right\},$$

where $S^1 := \{ p \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |p| = 1 \}$ is the unit circle. Since W is polyhedral, \mathcal{N} is finite.

Lemma 6.3. $\partial W : p \to 2^{\mathbb{R}^2}$ is constant on every connected component of $S^1 \setminus \mathcal{N}$. Moreover, $\partial W(p)$ is a singleton for every such p.

Proof. This follows from the fact that W is polyhedral.

We will also use some basic results of the convex analysis. In particular, recall the definition of the polar W° in (6.1). We will for short denote the associate Wulff shape as

$$\mathcal{W} := \{ x : W^{\circ}(x) \le 1 \}.$$

This is a polygon in two dimensions, with a finite number of vertices, corresponding to the number of critical directions \mathcal{N} . We have the following basic result:

Lemma 6.4. If $p \neq 0$ and $x \in \partial W(p)$ then $W^{\circ}(x) = 1$ and $x \cdot p = W(p)$. Similarly, if $x \neq 0$ and $p \in \partial W^{\circ}(x)$ then W(p) = 1 and $x \cdot p = W^{\circ}(x)$. Suppose now that $x \neq 0$ and $p \neq 0$. Then

$$\frac{x}{W^{\circ}(x)} \in \partial W(p) \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \frac{p}{W(p)} \in \partial W^{\circ}(x).$$

6.2.1. Smooth pair approximation. By the smooth approximation lemma, [26, Lemma 2.11], we can find smooth disjoint open sets H_{-}, H_{+} such that

(6.6)
$$\mathcal{U}^{\rho/2}(A_{-}, A_{+}) \preceq (H_{-}, H_{+}) \preceq \mathcal{U}^{3\rho/4}(A_{-}, A_{+}).$$

We note that (H_{-}, H_{+}) is an smooth bounded pair.

We claim that we can choose H_{-}, H_{+} in such a way that

the curvature of ∂H_{-} and ∂H_{+} at x is nonzero

(6.7) whenever
$$\nu_{\partial H_{-}}(x) \in \mathcal{N}$$
 or $-\nu_{\partial H_{+}}(x) \in \mathcal{N}$, respectively

Indeed, let V be H_{-} or int H_{+}^{c} . Since ∂V is smooth and bounded, it is a union of finitely many disjoint closed curves. Each of these curves is a one-dimensional manifold without boundary and the unit outer normal vector map $\nu : \partial V \to S^{1}$ is smooth. By Sard's theorem we have $\mathcal{H}^{1}(\nu(\{x \in \partial V : d\nu(x) \text{ has rank } < 1\})) = 0$. Note that the curvature $\kappa(x)$ of ∂V at $x \in \partial V$ is zero if and only if the rank of $d\nu(x)$ is zero. Since the set of critical directions $\mathcal{N} \subset S^{1}$ is finite, we can find a rotation R of \mathbb{R}^{2} by an arbitrary small angle such that $R(\mathcal{N}) \cap \nu(\{x \in \partial V : \kappa(x) = 0\}) = \emptyset$. We therefore rotate the set V by R^{-1} with a sufficiently small such angle so that the rotated set still approximates the original one. Therefore whenever $x \in R^{-1}(V)$ such that $\kappa_{R^{-1}(\partial V)}(x) = 0$, we have $\nu_{R^{-1}(\partial V)}(x) \notin \mathcal{N}$. We can therefore replace H_{-} and H_{+} with the rotated ones by a sufficiently small angle if necessary and then H_{\pm} satisfy (6.7).

6.2.2. Flattening of ∂H_{\pm} in the critical directions. Let V denote either H_{-} or int H_{+}^{c} in what follows and let $\nu(x) = \nu_{\partial V}(x)$ be the unit outer normal to ∂V at $x \in \partial V$. We will modify V in the neighborhood of the critical points of its boundary $x \in \partial V$ with $\nu(x) \in \mathcal{N}$ so that the boundary of the modified set has a flat part of nonzero length with the same normal. Let us denote the set of these critical points by S,

$$S := \{ x \in \partial V : \nu(x) \in \mathcal{N} \}.$$

Note that S is compact since ν is smooth and ∂V is bounded.

We claim that S is finite. Indeed, suppose that S is infinite. Since S is compact, there is $\hat{x} \in S$ such that $B_{\varepsilon}(\hat{x}) \cap S$ is infinite for every $\varepsilon > 0$. Since \mathcal{N} is discrete and ν is continuous, there exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that $\nu(x) \equiv \nu(\hat{x})$ for all $x \in B_{\varepsilon_0}(\hat{x}) \cap S$. But that is a contradiction with $d\nu(\hat{x}) \neq 0$ from (6.7).

Let us choose $\eta > 0$ such that

$$\eta < \min\left\{\frac{1}{40}\operatorname{dist}(\partial H_{-}, \partial H_{+}), \frac{\rho}{8}, \min_{\substack{x,y \in S \\ x \neq y}} |x - y|\right\}.$$

Since for any $\hat{x} \in S$ we have $\kappa(\hat{x}) \neq 0$, by making η smaller if necessary, we may also assume that $\partial V \cap B_{20\eta}(\hat{x})$ is a graph of a convex or a concave function $g = g_{\hat{x}}$ in the sense that

$$V \cap B_{20\eta}(\hat{x}) = \{ y + \hat{x} \in B_{20\eta}(\hat{x}) : y \cdot \nu(\hat{x}) < g(y \cdot \tau(\hat{x})) \},\$$

where $\tau(\hat{x}) \perp \nu(\hat{x}), |\tau(\hat{x})| = 1$. Note that g(0) = g'(0) = 0. Since $\kappa(\hat{x}) \neq 0$, we have $g''(\hat{x}) \neq 0$ and by Taylor expansion we may also assume that

$$\frac{1}{4}|g''(0)|s^2 \le |g(s)| \le |g''(0)|s^2, \quad |s| < 20\eta$$



FIGURE 2. Geometry at a flattened part of the boundary of \hat{V} . The shaded area represents the rescaled Wulff shape touching the flattened part.

With this set-up, we can for every $\hat{x} \in S$ find $L_{\hat{x}} > 0$ such that $\{s : |g_{\hat{x}}(s)| < L_{\hat{x}}\} \times [-L_{\hat{x}}, L_{\hat{x}}] \subset B_{\eta}(0)$. We then define \hat{V} , the set with flattened boundary in the critical directions, as

$$\begin{split} \hat{V} &:= \left(V \setminus \bigcup_{\hat{x} \in S} B_{10\eta}(\hat{x}) \right) \\ & \bigcup_{\substack{\hat{x} \in S \\ g'_{\hat{x}}(0) > 0}} \{ y + \hat{x} \in B_{10\eta}(\hat{x}) : y \cdot \nu(\hat{x}) < \max(L_{\hat{x}}, g_{\hat{x}}(y \cdot \tau(\hat{x}))) \} \\ & \bigcup_{\substack{\hat{x} \in S \\ g'_{\hat{x}}(0) < 0}} \{ y + \hat{x} \in B_{10\eta}(\hat{x}) : y \cdot \nu(\hat{x}) < \min(-L_{\hat{x}}, g_{\hat{x}}(y \cdot \tau(\hat{x}))) \} \end{split}$$

Note that $\partial V \subset \mathcal{U}^{\eta}(\partial \hat{V})$ and $\partial \hat{V} \subset \mathcal{U}^{\eta}(\partial V)$.

We finish our construction of the admissible pair by defining $G_{-} = \hat{V}$ when starting with $V = H_{-}$, and $G_{+} = \operatorname{int} \hat{V}^{c}$ when starting with $V = \operatorname{int} H_{+}^{c}$.

6.2.3. Construction of the support function and the Cahn-Hoffman vector field. In this part we shall finally define a candidate for the admissible function with an appropriate Cahn-Hoffman vector field in a small neighborhood of the flattened boundary $\partial \hat{V}$, where $\hat{V} = G_{-}$ or $\hat{V} = \inf G_{+}^{c}$.

Let \mathcal{V} denote the set of vertices of the Wulff shape \mathcal{W} . We define \mathcal{C}_0 to be the family of connected components of $\partial \hat{V} \setminus \partial V$, and \mathcal{C}_r to be the family of connected components of $\partial \hat{V} \cap \partial V$. We also define $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{C}_0 \cup \mathcal{C}_r$. Every $\Gamma_0 \in \mathcal{C}_0$ is the flattened part of the boundary $\partial \hat{V}$, the line segment with a normal vector $\nu_0 \in \mathcal{N}$. Similarly, every $\Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_r$ is a connected piece of the original smooth boundary ∂V , and by construction there exists a unique vertex $v \in \mathcal{V}$ of the Wulff shape such that $\{v\} = \partial W(\nu(x))$ for $x \in \Gamma$. We set $\mathcal{V}(\Gamma) = \{v\}$.

Given $\Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_0$ with normal ν_0 , there exists exactly two distinct vertices $v, w \in \mathcal{V}$ such that $\{v, w\} \subset \partial W(\nu_0)$. In this case we set $\mathcal{V}(\Gamma) = \{v, w\}$. There exist exactly two sets $\Gamma', \Gamma'' \in \mathcal{C}_r$ such that $\mathcal{V}(\Gamma') = \{v\}, \mathcal{V}(\Gamma'') = \{w\}$, and $\overline{\Gamma} \cap \Gamma' = \{x_v\}, \overline{\Gamma} \cap \Gamma'' = \{x_w\}$ for some points x_v, x_w ; see Figure 2. Since v, w are linearly independent, we have a unique point c^{Γ} at the intersection of $L_v(x_v)$ and $L_w(x_w)$. We have $c^{\Gamma} + tv = x_v$ and $c^{\Gamma} + sw = x_w$ for some

 $t, s \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$. However, since $(x_w - x_v) \cdot \nu_0 = 0$, we must have $c^{\Gamma} \cdot \nu_0 + sw \cdot \nu_0 = c^{\Gamma} \cdot \nu_0 + tv \cdot \nu_0$. As $v \cdot \nu_0 = w \cdot \nu_0 = W(\nu_0)$, it follows that t = s and we set $\alpha^{\Gamma} := t$. This induces a coordinate system on \mathbb{R}^2 with coordinates $x = \xi_v^{\Gamma}(x)v + \xi_w^{\Gamma}(x)w + c^{\Gamma}$ for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$. We note that

(6.8)
$$\Gamma = \left\{ x : \xi_v^{\Gamma}(x) + \xi_w^{\Gamma}(x) = \alpha^{\Gamma}, \ \xi_v^{\Gamma}(x) \xi_w^{\Gamma}(x) > 0 \right\}.$$

Clearly $\xi_v^{\Gamma}(x_v) = \xi_w^{\Gamma}(x_w) = \alpha^{\Gamma}$ and $\xi_v^{\Gamma}(x_w) = \xi_w^{\Gamma}(x_v) = 0$.

We define the line through a point x in the direction v as

$$L_v(x) := \{x + tv : t \in \mathbb{R}\},\$$

and the cylinder through set Γ

$$L_v(\Gamma) := \{ x + tv : x \in \Gamma, \ t \in \mathbb{R} \}.$$

The thickness of a cylinder is denoted by

$$\theta(L_v(\Gamma)) := \sup_{x,y\in\Gamma} \operatorname{dist} \left(L_v(x), L_v(y)\right).$$

We collect a few basic properties of the relationship between the components $\Gamma \in \mathcal{C}$ and the associated cylinders. These results follow from the construction of \hat{V} in the previous section.

Lemma 6.5. Suppose that $\Gamma \in C$ and $x, y \in \Gamma$. Let $v \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma)$. Then there exists $p \in \partial W^{\circ}(v)$ with $v \cdot p = 1$ such that $(x - y) \cdot p = 0$. In particular, if $x \in L_v(\Gamma)$ then $L_v(x) \cap \Gamma = \{y\}$ for some y, that is, there exists a unique $t \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $x - tv \in \Gamma$.

Proof. Since Γ is a smooth curve, by the mean value theorem there exists $\xi \in \Gamma$ such that $(x - y) \cdot \nu(\xi) = 0$. But $p := \frac{\nu(\xi)}{W(\nu(\xi))} \in \partial W^{\circ}(v)$ by construction. Then $v \cdot p = 1$ follows from the characterization of the subdifferential of W° in Lemma 6.4.

Now let $x \in L_v(\Gamma)$. By definition, there exists $t \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $x - tv \in \Gamma$. Suppose that $x - sv \in \Gamma$ for $s \in \mathbb{R}$. Then from the above there exists p such that $v \cdot p = 1$ and $0 = (x - tv - x + sv) \cdot p = (s - t)v \cdot p = s - t$. We have s = t.

Lemma 6.6. Let $\Gamma \in C_0$ and $\Gamma' \in C_r$ such that $\operatorname{dist}(\Gamma, \Gamma') = 0$. Then there exist v such that $\{v\} = \mathcal{V}(\Gamma) \cap \mathcal{V}(\Gamma')$, and ξ such that $\overline{\Gamma} \cap \Gamma' = \{\xi\}$. Moreover, $L_v(\Gamma) \cap L_v(\Gamma') = \emptyset$ and $\overline{L_v(\Gamma)} \cap L_v(\Gamma') = L_v(\xi)$.

Proof. If dist $(\Gamma, \Gamma') = 0$, then Γ must be the flattened part and Γ' must be the adjacent smooth part of $\partial \hat{V}$. By construction, $\mathcal{V}(\Gamma) \cap \mathcal{V}(\Gamma') = \{v\}$ for some $v \in \mathcal{V}$, and $\overline{\Gamma} \cap \Gamma' = \{\xi\}$ for some ξ . In particular, $\overline{L_v(\Gamma)} \cap L_v(\Gamma') \subset L_v(\xi)$. Now suppose that there exist distinct points $x \in \overline{\Gamma}$, $y \in \Gamma'$ such that $L_v(x) = L_v(y)$. Then by connectedness of $\overline{\Gamma}$ and Γ' , we can find such points arbitrarily close to ξ . But this is a contradiction with the fact that $L_v(x)$ can intersect both Γ and Γ' at most once by Lemma 6.5, and the line $L_v(x)$ in the direction of v travels from \hat{V} to \hat{V}^c at two consecutive points x, y, with no transition from \hat{V}^c to \hat{V} in between.

Corollary 6.7. Suppose that $\Gamma \in C_r$, $\Gamma', \Gamma'' \in C_0$ are the adjacent flat parts, $\operatorname{dist}(\Gamma', \Gamma) = \operatorname{dist}(\Gamma'', \Gamma) = 0$, and $x, y \in \Gamma \cup \Gamma' \cup \Gamma''$. Let $v \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma)$. Then there exists $p \in \partial W^{\circ}(v)$ with $v \cdot p = 1$ such that $(x - y) \cdot p = 0$. In particular, if $x \in L_v(\Gamma \cup \Gamma' \cup \Gamma'')$ then $L_v(x) \cap (\Gamma \cup \Gamma' \cup \Gamma'') = \{y\}$ for some y, that is, there exists a unique $t \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $x - tv \in \Gamma \cup \Gamma' \cup \Gamma''$.

Proof. This follows by combining Lemma 6.6 and Lemma 6.5 for the neighboring components $\Gamma, \Gamma', \Gamma''$, since the flat ones have normals $\nu', \nu'' \in \partial W^{\circ}(v)$.

Given $\mu > 0$, we define the sets U_{Γ} for $\Gamma \in \mathcal{C}$ by

$$U_{\Gamma} := \begin{cases} \{x + tv : x \in \Gamma, \ |t| \le \mu, \ v \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma)\} & \text{if } \Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_r, \\ \{x : |\xi_v^{\Gamma}(x) + \xi_w^{\Gamma}(x) - \alpha^{\Gamma}| \le \mu, \ \xi_v^{\Gamma}(x) \xi_w^{\Gamma}(x) > 0\} & \text{if } \Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_0. \end{cases}$$

We shall show below in (6.10) that $\{U_{\Gamma}\}_{\Gamma \in \mathcal{C}}$ cover a neighborhood of $\partial \hat{V}$. Note that if we take $\mu \leq |\alpha^{\Gamma}|/2$ we must have $\operatorname{sign} \xi_{v}^{\Gamma}(x) = \operatorname{sign} \alpha^{\Gamma}$ on U_{Γ} for $\Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_{0}$.

If we choose $\mu > 0$ small enough, the sets U_{Γ} are pair-wise disjoint.

Lemma 6.8. Suppose that $0 < \mu < \min \{\mu_1, \mu_2\}$, where

$$\mu_1 := \frac{1}{3 \max_{W^\circ(v)} |v|} \min_{\substack{\Gamma, \Gamma' \in \mathcal{C} \\ \operatorname{dist}(\Gamma, \Gamma') > 0}} \operatorname{dist}(\Gamma, \Gamma'), \qquad \mu_2 := \min_{\Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_0} \frac{|\alpha^{\Gamma}|}{2}$$

Then $U_{\Gamma} \cap U_{\Gamma'} = \emptyset$ for all $\Gamma, \Gamma' \in \mathcal{C}, \ \Gamma \neq \Gamma'.$

Proof. Suppose that dist $(\Gamma, \Gamma') > 0$. Then $U_{\Gamma} \subset \mathcal{U}^t(\Gamma)$ and $U_{\Gamma'} \subset \mathcal{U}^t(\Gamma')$ with $t = \mu \max_{W^{\circ}(v) \leq 1} |v|$. Hence $U_{\Gamma} \cap U_{\Gamma'} = \emptyset$ by $\mu < \mu_1$.

On the other hand, if $\operatorname{dist}(\Gamma, \Gamma') = 0$, then one of the sets, say Γ , belongs to \mathcal{C}_0 , and the other belongs to \mathcal{C}_r . Suppose that $y \in U_{\Gamma} \cap U_{\Gamma'}$. We will show that this leads to a contradiction. Indeed, set $v \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma')$ and note that $U_{\Gamma'} \subset L_v(\Gamma')$. We have $c^{\Gamma} \in L_v(\Gamma')$. Therefore $y(\lambda) := \lambda y + (1 - \lambda)c^{\Gamma} \in L_v(\Gamma')$ for every $\lambda \in [0, 1]$. By Lemma 6.6, we have $\Gamma \cap L_v(y(\lambda)) = \emptyset$ for all $\lambda \in [0, 1]$.

Let $t := \xi_v^{\Gamma}(y) + \xi_w^{\Gamma}(y) - \alpha^{\Gamma}$. Since $y \in U_{\Gamma}$, we have $|t| \le \mu < \mu_2 \le |\alpha^{\Gamma}|/2$ and $\xi_v^{\Gamma}(y)\xi_w^{\Gamma}(y) > 0$. If $t\alpha^{\Gamma} \le 0$, we have $y - tv \in \Gamma$ by (6.8), and this is a contradiction with $\Gamma \cap L_v(y) = \emptyset$. If $t\alpha^{\Gamma} > 0$, we set $\lambda := \frac{\alpha}{\alpha + t} \in (0, 1)$. A simple computation using (6.8) shows that $y(\lambda) \in \Gamma$, which is a contradiction with $\Gamma \cap L_v(y(\lambda)) = \emptyset$. The conclusion $U_{\Gamma} \cap U_{\Gamma'} = \emptyset$ follows. \Box

We choose μ satisfying the assumption in Lemma 6.8. Then on the pair-wise disjoint collection of sets $\{U_{\Gamma} : \Gamma \in \mathcal{C}\}$, we define functions ψ and z by

$$\psi(x) := \begin{cases} t \text{ such that } x - tv \in \Gamma, \ v \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma), & x \in U_{\Gamma}, \ \Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_{r}; \\ \xi_{v}^{\Gamma}(x) + \xi_{w}^{\Gamma}(x) - \alpha^{\Gamma}, & x \in U_{\Gamma}, \ \Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_{0}; \end{cases}$$

and

$$z(x) := \begin{cases} v, \text{ where } v \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma) & x \in U_{\Gamma}, \ \Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_{r}, \\ \frac{\xi_{v}^{\Gamma}(x)v + \xi_{w}^{\Gamma}(x)w}{\xi_{v}^{\Gamma}(x) + \xi_{w}^{\Gamma}(x)}, \text{ where } v, w \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma), & x \in U_{\Gamma}, \ \Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_{0}. \end{cases}$$

Both ψ and z are well-defined by Lemma 6.5. Note that $|\psi| \leq \mu$ on U_{Γ} . We can easily see that ψ is differentiable in the interior of U_{Γ} for all $\Gamma \in \mathcal{C}$ by the inverse function theorem. Moreover, the level set $\{x : \psi(x) = \psi(y)\}$ in a neighborhood of $y \in \text{int } U_{\Gamma}$ is just a translation of Γ . Therefore $\nabla \psi(y) = s\nu'$, where $\nu' = \nu^{\Gamma}$ for $\Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_0$, or $\nu' = \nu(y - \psi(y)\nu)$ for $\Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_r$, with $s = v \cdot \nu' > 0$. In particular,

 $z(y) \in \partial W(\nabla \psi(y))$ for $z \in \operatorname{int} U_{\Gamma}, \Gamma \in \mathcal{C}$.

We now conclude this part by showing that for small $\delta > 0$, the functions ψ and z are well-defined, Lipschitz continuous functions on $\mathcal{U}^{\delta}(\partial \hat{V})$. We shall use the following two lemmas that we prove first. We set

$$K := \max_{W(p) \le 1} |p| \quad \text{and} \quad \delta_{\theta} = \min_{\Gamma \in \mathcal{C}} \min_{v \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma)} \theta(L_v(\Gamma)), \quad \text{and} \quad \delta_{\mu} := \frac{\mu}{K}$$

..

Finally, we find $\delta_s > 0$ such that for every $\Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_0$, $\Gamma' \in \mathcal{C}_r$ the adjacent component to Γ , $\operatorname{dist}(\Gamma', \Gamma) = 0$, $v \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma')$, $v \neq w \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma)$, we have

(6.9)
$$\operatorname{dist}(\Gamma' \cap \mathcal{U}^{\delta_s}(L_v(\Gamma)), L_w(c^{\Gamma})) > \delta_s.$$

This is possible since $\Gamma' \cap \overline{L_v(\Gamma)} = \{x_v\}$, Γ' is smooth (in fact detaching from $L_v(\Gamma)$ linearly), with $\xi_v^{\Gamma}(x_v) = \alpha^{\Gamma} \neq 0$, and $L_w(c^{\Gamma}) = \{x : \xi_v^{\Gamma}(x) = 0\}$.

Lemma 6.9. Let $x \in \Gamma \in C_r$, $v \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma)$, and let $\Gamma', \Gamma'' \in C_0$ be the neighboring components with $\operatorname{dist}(\Gamma', \Gamma) = \operatorname{dist}(\Gamma'', \Gamma) = 0$. Then for every $y, |y - x| \leq \min \{\delta_{\theta}, \delta_{\mu}, \delta_s\}$ there exists a unique t(y) such that $y - t(y)v \in \Gamma \cup \Gamma' \cup \Gamma''$. Moreover, $|t(y)| \leq \mu$. Finally, $\operatorname{sign} \xi_v^{\Gamma'}(y) = \operatorname{sign} \alpha^{\Gamma'}$ and $\operatorname{sign} \xi_v^{\Gamma''}(y) = \operatorname{sign} \alpha^{\Gamma''}$.

Proof. Using Lemma 6.6 and $|x - y| \leq \delta_{\theta}$, that is, that the distance between x and y is smaller than the width of the cylinders $L_v(\Gamma')$ and $L_v(\Gamma'')$, we are guaranteed that $y \in L_v(\Gamma \cup \Gamma' \cup \Gamma'')$. Therefore there exists a unique $t \in \mathbb{R}$ with $y - tv \in \Gamma \cup \Gamma' \cup \Gamma''$. By Corollary 6.7, there exists $p \in \partial W^{\circ}(v)$ such that

$$0 = (x - y + tv) \cdot p = (x - y) \cdot p + t.$$

By Cauchy-Schwarz $|t| \leq K|x-y| \leq \mu$ and the conclusion follows. The sign of $\xi_v^{\Gamma'}(y)$ and $\xi_v^{\Gamma''}(y)$ must match the sign at $\Gamma \cap \overline{\Gamma}'$, $\Gamma \cap \Gamma''$, which matches that of $\alpha^{\Gamma'}$, $\alpha^{\Gamma''}$, respectively, since $\delta \leq \delta_s$ and δ_s satisfies (6.9).

Lemma 6.10. Let $x \in \Gamma \in C_0$, $v \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma)$, and let $\Gamma', \Gamma'' \in C_r$ be the neighboring components with $\operatorname{dist}(\Gamma', \Gamma) = \operatorname{dist}(\Gamma'', \Gamma) = 0$. Let $v \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma')$ and $w \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma'')$. Then for every y, $|y - x| \leq \min \{\delta_{\theta}, \delta_{\mu}\}$ where $\delta_{\mu} = \mu/K$. Then exactly one of the following holds:

- (a) $\xi_v^{\Gamma}(y)\xi_w^{\Gamma}(y) > 0, \ |\xi_v^{\Gamma}(y) + \xi_w^{\Gamma}(y) \alpha| \le \mu, \ or$
- (b) $y \in L_v(\Gamma')$, there exists t such that $y tv \in \Gamma'$, and $|t| \leq \mu$, or
- (c) $y \in L_w(\Gamma'')$, there exists t such that $y tw \in \Gamma''$, and $|t| \le \mu$.

Proof. Let us set $t = \xi_v^{\Gamma}(y) + \xi_w^{\Gamma}(y) - \alpha$. Then $\xi_v^{\Gamma}(y - tv) + \xi_w^{\Gamma}(y - tv) - \alpha^{\Gamma} = 0$ and therefore $(x - y + tv) \cdot \nu_0 = 0$, where ν_0 is the normal of Γ . In particular, $t = (x - y) \cdot \frac{\nu_0}{W(\nu_0)}$ and hence $|t| \le K|x - y| \le \mu$, which implies the estimate in (a).

Since $|y - x| \leq \delta_{\mu}$, we have $|t| \leq \mu < \mu_2 \leq |\alpha^{\Gamma}|/2$ and therefore $\xi_v^{\Gamma}(y) + \xi_w^{\Gamma}(y)$ has the same sign as α^{Γ} . We conclude that at least one of $\xi_v^{\Gamma}(y)$, $\xi_v^{\Gamma}(y)$ has the same sign as α^{Γ} . Due to Lemma 6.6, $L_v(\Gamma') \subset \{\xi_w^{\Gamma}\alpha^{\Gamma} \leq 0\}$ and $L_w(\Gamma'') \subset \{\xi_v^{\Gamma}\alpha^{\Gamma} \leq 0\}$. Therefore $y \notin L_v(\Gamma') \cap L_w(\Gamma'')$. If $\xi_v^{\Gamma}(y)\xi_w^{\Gamma}(y) > 0$ then we are at case (a). Otherwise since $|y - x| \leq \delta_{\theta}$, y must be in exactly one of the cylinders $L_v(\Gamma')$ or $L_w(\Gamma'')$ due to the discussion above.

Suppose therefore $y \in L_v(\Gamma')$. Then there exists a unique t such that $y - tv \in \Gamma'$, and Corollary 6.7 implies the estimate $|t| \leq K|y - x| \leq \mu$ as in Lemma 6.9. The case $y \in L_w(\Gamma'')$ can be handled similarly.

We therefore take

$$0 < \delta < \min \{\delta_{\theta}, \delta_{\mu}, \delta_{s}\}.$$

With this choice,

(6.10) $\mathcal{U}^{\delta}(\partial \hat{V}) \subset \bigcup_{\Gamma \in \mathcal{C}} U_{\Gamma}.$

Indeed, let us fix $y \in \mathcal{U}^{\delta}(\partial \hat{V})$. Then there exists $x \in \partial \hat{V}$ with $|x - y| \leq \delta$.

In the case that $x \in \Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_r$, we apply Lemma 6.9 to conclude that there is a unique t, $|t| \leq K|y-x| \leq K\delta \leq \mu$, such that $y - tv \in \Gamma \cup \Gamma' \cup \Gamma''$ where $v \in \mathcal{V}(\Gamma)$. If $y - tv \in \Gamma$, then clearly $y \in U_{\Gamma}$. On the other hand, if $y - tv \in \Gamma'$, we have

$$0 = \xi_v^{\Gamma'}(y - tv) + \xi_w^{\Gamma'}(y - tv) - \alpha^{\Gamma'} = \xi_v^{\Gamma'}(y) + \xi_w^{\Gamma'}(y) - \alpha^{\Gamma'} - t.$$

Since also sign $\xi_v^{\Gamma'}(y) = \operatorname{sign} \alpha^{\Gamma'}$, we conclude that $y \in U_{\Gamma'}$. An analogous argument works if $y - tv \in \Gamma''$.

Now if $x \in \Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_0$, we apply Lemma 6.10, and we argue as above to conclude that $y \in U_{\Gamma}$, $U_{\Gamma'}$ or $U_{\Gamma''}$. Therefore we recover (6.10).

Now we finally show that ψ and z are Lipschitz on $\mathcal{U}^{\delta}(\partial \hat{V})$. Since ψ and z are smooth in the interior of U_{Γ} , we only need to address the continuity across the transition between $U_{\Gamma}, U_{\Gamma'}, \Gamma \in \mathcal{C}_0, \Gamma' \in \mathcal{C}_r$, with dist $(\Gamma, \Gamma') = 0$. The function z is clearly Lipschitz across this boundary, since we can alternatively define z in the neighborhood of this boundary using

$$\zeta(x) := \begin{cases} \xi_w^{\Gamma}(x), & \xi_w^{\Gamma}(x)\alpha^{\Gamma} > 0, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Then we have in the neighborhood of the boundary between U_{Γ} and $U_{\Gamma'}$ that

$$z(x) = \frac{\xi_v^{\Gamma}(x)v + \zeta(x)w}{\xi_v^{\Gamma}(x) + \zeta(x)},$$

which is clearly a Lipschitz function when $|\xi_v^{\Gamma}(x)| > \varepsilon > 0$, as is the case near the boundary.

Similarly, we can alternatively define ψ in the neighborhood of the boundary between U_{Γ} and $U_{\Gamma'}$ as

 $\psi(x) = t$ where t is such that $x - tv \in \Gamma \cup \Gamma'$.

This function is Lipschitz continuous by Corollary 6.7.

6.2.4. Completion of the proof of Proposition 6.1. We now have two Lipschitz functions ψ^-, ψ^+ and Lipschitz continuous vector fields z^-, z^+ defined in $\mathcal{U}^{\delta}(\partial G_-)$ and $\mathcal{U}^{\delta}(\partial G_+)$, respectively, such that $z^{\pm}(x) \in \partial W(\nabla \psi^{\pm})$. Furthermore, $\partial G_{\pm} = \{\psi^{\pm} = 0\}$ almost everywhere. We now have to connect them to produce an admissible support function of the pair (G_-, G_+) . We define the constant $\eta = \min(\eta^-, \eta^+) > 0$ by

$$\eta^{\pm} := \frac{1}{2} \min \{ |\psi_{\pm}(x)| : \delta/2 \le \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial G_{\pm}) \le \delta \}.$$

We find smooth cutoff functions $\varphi^{\pm} \in C_c^{\infty}$ such that

$$0 \le \varphi^{\pm} \le 1$$
, supp $\varphi^{\pm} \subset \mathcal{U}^{3\delta/4}(\partial G_{\pm})$, $\varphi_{\pm} = 1$ on $\mathcal{U}^{\delta/2}(\partial G_{\pm})$.

We define the support function of the pair (G_-, G_+) as

$$\psi(x) := \begin{cases} \eta & x \in G_+ \setminus \mathcal{U}^{\delta}(\partial G_+), \\ \min(\eta, \max(\psi^+, 0)) & x \in \mathcal{U}^{\delta}(\partial G_+), \\ 0 & x \in G_-^c \cap G_+^c \setminus \mathcal{U}^{\delta}(\partial G_- \cup \partial G_+), \\ \max(-\eta, \min(\psi^-, 0)) & x \in \mathcal{U}^{\delta}(\partial G_-), \\ -\eta & x \in G_- \setminus \mathcal{U}^{\delta}(\partial G_-). \end{cases}$$

It is easy to check that ψ is a Lipschitz support function of (G_-, G_+) . Moreover, it is admissible with the Lipschitz Cahn-Hoffman vector field

$$z(x) := z^{-}(x)\varphi^{-}(x) + z^{+}(x)\varphi^{+}(x).$$

by Lemma 2.3.

7. Comparison principle

In this section we prove the comparison principle on a spacetime cylinder $Q := \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, T)$ for some T > 0.

Theorem 7.1 (Comparison principle). Let $W : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a positively one-homogeneous convex polyhedral function such that the conclusion of Corollary 6.2 holds for $1 \le k \le n-1$, and let F be of curvature-free type at $p_0 = 0$. Suppose that u and v are a subsolution and a supersolution of (1.4) on $\mathbb{R}^n \times [0,T]$ for some T > 0, respectively. Moreover, suppose that there exist a compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and constants $c_u \le c_v$ such that $u \equiv c_u, v \equiv c_v$ on $(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus K) \times [0,T]$. Then $u(\cdot,0) \le v(\cdot,0)$ on \mathbb{R}^n implies $u \le v$ on $\mathbb{R}^n \times [0,T]$.

We will use the standard doubling-of-variables technique with an additional parameter to enforce a certain facet-like behavior of the functions at a contact point, which will allow us to construct faceted test functions there.

Let us suppose that the comparison theorem does not hold for a given subsolution u and supersolution v, that is, suppose that

(7.1)
$$m_0 := \sup_Q [u - v] > 0.$$

For arbitrary $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\varepsilon > 0$ we define

$$\Phi_{\zeta,\varepsilon}(x,t,y,s) := u(x,t) - v(y,s) - \frac{|x-y-\zeta|^2}{2\varepsilon} - S_{\varepsilon}(t,s),$$

where

(7.2)
$$S_{\varepsilon}(t,s) := \frac{|t-s|^2}{2\varepsilon} + \frac{\varepsilon}{T-t} + \frac{\varepsilon}{T-s}.$$

As in [24], we define the maximum of $\Phi_{\zeta,\varepsilon}$ as

$$\ell(\zeta,\varepsilon) = \max_{\overline{Q}\times\overline{Q}} \Phi_{\zeta,\varepsilon}$$

and the set of maxima of $\Phi_{\zeta,\varepsilon}$ over $\overline{Q} \times \overline{Q}$

$$\mathcal{A}(\zeta,\varepsilon) := \underset{\overline{Q}\times\overline{Q}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} \Phi_{\zeta,\varepsilon} := \big\{ (x,t,y,s) \in \overline{Q} \times \overline{Q} : \Phi_{\zeta,\varepsilon}(x,t,y,s) = \ell(\zeta,\varepsilon) \big\}.$$

Moreover, we define the set of gradients

$$\mathcal{B}(\zeta,\varepsilon) := \left\{ \frac{x-y-\zeta}{\varepsilon} : (x,t,y,s) \in \mathcal{A}(\zeta,\varepsilon) \right\}.$$

Proposition 7.2 (cf. [24]). There exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that for all $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$ we have

$$\mathcal{A}(\zeta,\varepsilon) \subset Q \times Q \qquad \text{for all } |\zeta| \leq \kappa(\varepsilon),$$

where $\kappa(\varepsilon) := \frac{1}{8} (m_0 \varepsilon)^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

From now on, we fix $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$ so that Proposition 7.2 holds and we write $\kappa = \kappa(\varepsilon)$ for simplicity, and drop ε from our notation.

We have the following properties of $\mathcal{A}(\zeta)$ and $\mathcal{B}(\zeta)$.

Proposition 7.3. The graphs of $\mathcal{A}(\zeta)$ and $\mathcal{B}(\zeta)$ over $\zeta \in \overline{B}_{\kappa}(0)$ are compact.

Proof. See [24, Proposition 7.3]. Since $\Phi_{\zeta} - \ell(\zeta) \leq 0$ by definition of ℓ , we observe that

graph
$$\mathcal{A}(\zeta) := \{(\zeta, x, t, y, s) \subset \overline{B}_{\kappa}(0) \times \overline{Q} \times \overline{Q} :$$

 $\Phi_{\zeta}(x, t, y, s) - \ell(\zeta) \ge 0\},$

which is closed since Φ_{ζ} is an upper semi-continuous function of (ζ, x, t, y, s) and $\ell(\zeta)$ is a lower semi-continuous function. graph $\mathcal{B}(\zeta)$ is a continuous image of graph $\mathcal{A}(\zeta)$ and therefore also compact.

Proposition 7.4. With $\kappa = \kappa(\varepsilon)$ fixed above, there exists a maximal relatively open convex set $\Xi \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ on which ∂W is constant, $\zeta_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\lambda > 0$ such that $|\zeta_0| + 2\lambda < \kappa$ and

$$\mathcal{B}(\zeta) \cap \Xi \neq \emptyset$$
 for all $\zeta \in B_{2\lambda}(\zeta_0)$.

Moreover, aff $\Xi \perp$ aff $\partial W(p)$ for all $p \in \Xi$.

In other words, for every $\zeta \in B_{2\lambda}(\zeta_0)$ there exists a point of maximum $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}, \hat{y}, \hat{s}) \in \mathcal{A}(\zeta)$ of Φ_{ζ} such that

(7.3)
$$\frac{\hat{x} - \hat{y} - \zeta}{\varepsilon} \in \Xi.$$

Proof. Recall the decomposition of \mathbb{R}^n from Proposition 3.1 into relatively open convex sets $\Xi_i, i \in \mathcal{N}$. Moreover, since Ξ_i is relatively open we can find an increasing sequence of compact sets $K_{i,j} \subset \Xi_i$ such that

$$\Xi_i = \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{N}} K_{i,j}.$$

Let us now define the sets

$$Z_{i,j} := \left\{ \zeta \in \overline{B}_{\kappa}(0) : K_{i,j} \cap \mathcal{B}(\zeta) \neq \emptyset \right\}.$$

We observe that $Z_{i,j}$ are compact due to Proposition 7.3. Since

$$\overline{B}_{\kappa}(0) = \bigcup_{i \in \mathcal{N}} \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{N}} Z_{i,j},$$

the Baire category theorem implies that there exists $i_0 \in \mathcal{N}$, $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\operatorname{int} Z_{i_0,j_0} \neq \emptyset$. In particular, we can find ζ_0 and $\lambda > 0$ with $B_{2\lambda}(\zeta_0) \subset Z_{i_0,j_0}$, and we set $\Xi = \Xi_{i_0}$. Note that Ξ is maximal by Proposition 3.1.

7.1. Flatness at a contact point. We will now use the information about the behavior of u and v at the point of maximum to show that there is enough space to construct faceted test functions. We shall use the Constancy lemma from [24].

Lemma 7.5 (Constancy lemma). Let $1 \leq k < N$, $K \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be compact and $G \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ be a bounded domain. Denote $P : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^k$ the natural projection $w \mapsto (w_1, \ldots, w_k)$. Assume

that h is an upper semi-continuous function and $\phi \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^k)$, and define for $w \in K$ and $z \in G$

$$h_z(w) := h(w) - \phi(Pw - z),$$

$$H(z) := \max_K h_z.$$

If for all $z \in G$ there exists $w \in K$ such that $h_z(w) = H(z)$ and $(\nabla \phi)(Pw - z) = 0$ then H(z) is constant on G.

In what follows, we will decompose \mathbb{R}^n into two orthogonal subspaces V and U, as in Section 3.1, of dimensions $k = \dim V$ and $n - k = \dim U$. Therefore we will use $\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{T}_U, \mathcal{T}_V$, and the decomposition $x = \mathcal{T}(x', x'')$ as introduced in (3.3), (3.4) and (3.5).

Lemma 7.6. Suppose that there exist $p_0, \zeta_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$, a subspace $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\lambda > 0$ such that $|\zeta_0| + 2\lambda < \kappa$ and for all $\zeta \in B_{2\lambda}(\zeta_0)$ we have

$$\mathcal{B}(\zeta) \cap (p_0 + U) \neq \emptyset$$

Then

$$\ell(\zeta) - p_0 \cdot \zeta = const \quad for \ \zeta \in (\zeta_0 + V) \cap B_{2\lambda}(\zeta_0),$$

where $V := U^{\perp}$.

Proof. We apply the constancy lemma, Lemma 7.5. Set $k = \dim V$ and N = 2(n+1). We will denote $w = (\xi', \xi'', t, y, s)$ for $\xi, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $t, s \in \mathbb{R}$, so that the natural projection $P : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^k$ is given as $Pw = \xi'$ (for the notation ' and " see (3.4)). Additionally, let us set

$$K = \left\{ (\xi', \xi'', t, y, s) : (\xi + y, t) \in \overline{Q}, (y, s) \in \overline{Q} \right\} \text{ and } G = B^d_{2\lambda}(0).$$

And, finally, let us define the functions

$$\begin{split} h(w) &= u(\xi + y) - v(y) - p'_0 \cdot \xi' - \frac{|\rho'' - \zeta_0''|^2}{2\varepsilon} - S(t, s), \qquad \qquad w \in \mathbb{R}^N, \\ \phi(\eta) &= \frac{|\eta - \zeta_0'|^2}{2\varepsilon} - p'_0 \cdot \eta, \qquad \qquad \eta \in \mathbb{R}^k. \end{split}$$

The Pythagorean theorem $|\xi' - \zeta'_0 - z|^2 + |\xi'' - \zeta''_0|^2 = |\xi - \zeta_0 - \mathcal{T}_V z|^2$, due to the fact that \mathcal{T} is a rotation, yields

$$h_z(w) := h(w) - \phi(\xi' - z) = \Phi_{\zeta_0 + \mathcal{T}_V z}(\xi + y, y) - p'_0 \cdot z.$$

We know, by assumption, that for every $\zeta = \zeta_0 + \mathcal{T}_V z$, $z \in G$, there exists a point of maximum $(x, t, y, s) \in \mathcal{A}(\zeta)$ of Φ_{ζ} such that $\frac{x-y-\zeta}{\varepsilon} \in p_0 + U$. This yields $\frac{x'-y'-z-\zeta'_0}{\varepsilon} = p'_0$. In particular,

$$(\nabla\phi)(x'-y'-z)=0$$

Thus, by Lemma 7.5, we infer that

$$H(z) = \max_{K} h_z = \ell(\zeta_0 + \mathcal{T}_V z) - p'_0 \cdot z$$

is constant for $z \in G$, which is what we wanted to prove since $p_0 \cdot \zeta = p'_0 \cdot z + p_0 \cdot \zeta_0$. \Box

The previous lemma has the following important corollary.

Corollary 7.7. Suppose that we have p_0 , ζ_0 , λ , U and V as in Lemma 7.6. Define

$$\theta(x,t,y,s) := u(x,t) - v(y,s) - \frac{|x'' - y'' - \zeta_0''|^2}{2\varepsilon} - p_0' \cdot (x' - y' - \zeta_0') - S(t,s).$$

Then for any $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}, \hat{y}, \hat{s}) \in \mathcal{A}(\zeta_0)$ such that $\frac{\hat{x}' - \hat{y}' - \zeta_0'}{\varepsilon} = p_0'$ we have

$$\theta(x,t,y,s) \le \theta(\hat{x},\hat{t},\hat{y},\hat{s}) \quad for \ (x,t), (y,s) \in \overline{Q}, \ |x'-y'-(\hat{x}'-\hat{y}')| \le \lambda.$$

Proof. For the sake of clarity, we will drop t, s, \hat{t} and \hat{s} from the following formulas. Let us fix x, y, \hat{x}, \hat{y} that satisfy the assumptions and set

(7.4)
$$\zeta = \zeta_0 + \mathcal{T}_V(x' - y' - (\hat{x}' - \hat{y}')).$$

Since $|\zeta - \zeta_0| \leq \lambda$ and $\zeta \in \zeta_0 + V$, Lemma 7.6 implies $\ell(\zeta) - p_0 \cdot \zeta = \ell(\zeta_0) - p_0 \cdot \zeta_0$ and we infer from the definition of ℓ

(7.5)
$$\Phi_{\zeta}(x,y) \le \ell(\zeta) = \ell(\zeta_0) + p_0 \cdot (\zeta - \zeta_0) = \Phi_{\zeta_0}(\hat{x},\hat{y}) + p_0 \cdot (\zeta - \zeta_0).$$

Note also that $p_0 \cdot (\zeta - \zeta_0) = p'_0 \cdot (\zeta' - \zeta'_0)$. We express θ in terms of Φ_{ζ} and use (7.5) to obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \theta(x,y) &= \Phi_{\zeta}(x,y) + \frac{|x'-y'-\zeta'|^2}{2\varepsilon} - p'_0 \cdot (x'-y'-\zeta'_0) \\ &\leq \Phi_{\zeta_0}(\hat{x},\hat{y}) + \frac{|x'-y'-\zeta'|^2}{2\varepsilon} + p'_0 \cdot (\zeta'-\zeta'_0 - (x'-y'-\zeta'_0)) \\ &= \theta(\hat{x},\hat{y}) + \frac{|x'-y'-\zeta'|^2}{2\varepsilon} - \frac{|\hat{x}'-\hat{y}'-\zeta'_0|^2}{2\varepsilon} \\ &+ p'_0 \cdot (-(x'-y'-\zeta') + (\hat{x}'-\hat{y}'-\zeta'_0)) \\ &= \theta(\hat{x},\hat{y}) + \frac{|w|^2}{2\varepsilon} - \frac{|z|^2}{2\varepsilon} + p'_0 \cdot (-w+z), \end{aligned}$$

where we set $w = x' - y' - \zeta'$ and $z = \hat{x}' - \hat{y}' - \zeta'_0$. We now just have to show that the extra terms cancel out. First, we see that w - z = 0 by (7.4). Furthermore, by the choice of \hat{x}, \hat{y} we have $z/\varepsilon = p'_0$. Therefore we have, using $|w - z|^2 = |w|^2 + |z|^2 - 2w \cdot z$,

$$\frac{|w|^2}{2\varepsilon} - \frac{|z|^2}{2\varepsilon} = \frac{|w-z|^2}{2\varepsilon} - \frac{|z|^2}{\varepsilon} + \frac{w \cdot z}{\varepsilon} = 0 - p'_0 \cdot z + p'_0 \cdot w.$$

Therefore $\theta(x, t, y, s) \leq \theta(\hat{x}, \hat{t}, \hat{y}, \hat{s})$, which is what we wanted to prove.

7.2. Construction of faceted test functions. We shall use Corollary 7.7 to construct test functions for u and v following the idea from [26].

Let us fix $\Xi, \zeta_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\lambda > 0$ to be a triplet provided by Proposition 7.4. Then we fix a point of maximum $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}, \hat{y}, \hat{s}) \in \mathcal{A}(\zeta_0)$ that satisfies (7.3) with $\zeta = \zeta_0$. We set $p_0 := \frac{\hat{x} - \hat{y} - \zeta_0}{\varepsilon} \in \Xi$, $U := \operatorname{span}(\Xi - p_0)$ and $V \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be the subspace parallel to aff $\partial W(p_0)$. We have $U = V^{\perp}$ by Proposition 3.1. It is easy to check that $p_0, \zeta_0, \lambda, U, V$ and $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}, \hat{y}, \hat{s})$ satisfy the hypothesis of Corollary 7.7. Let us also set $k = \dim V$ as usual.

Depending on the value k and p_0 , we split the situation into three cases:

Case I : k = 0;

Case II : k = n, $p_0 = 0$ and F is of curvature-free type at $p_0 = 0$;

Case III : none of the above.

Y. GIGA AND N. POŽÁR

We will deal with each case individually in the following three subsections and show that they all lead to a contradiction. Therefore (7.1) cannot occur and the comparison principle holds.

7.2.1. Case I. We have k = 0. In this case we use the off-facet test in Definition 5.2(ii). Corollary 7.7 in this case reduces to

$$(7.6) \quad u(x,t) - v(y,s) - \frac{|x - y - \zeta_0|^2}{2\varepsilon} - S(t,s) \le u(\hat{x},\hat{t}) - v(\hat{y},\hat{s}) - \frac{|\hat{x} - \hat{y} - \zeta_0|^2}{2\varepsilon} - S(\hat{t},\hat{s})$$

for all $(x,t), (y,s) \in \overline{Q}$. We define the test functions

$$\varphi_u(x,t) := \frac{|x - \hat{y} - \zeta_0|^2}{2\varepsilon} + S(t,\hat{s}),$$
$$\varphi_v(x,t) := -\frac{|\hat{x} - x - \zeta_0|^2}{2\varepsilon} - S(\hat{t},t)$$

From (7.6) we deduce that $u - \varphi_u$ has a global maximum at (\hat{x}, \hat{t}) and $v - \varphi_v$ has a global minimum at (\hat{y}, \hat{s}) . Therefore we must have from the definition of viscosity solutions

$$\begin{aligned} (\varphi_u)_t(\hat{x},\hat{t}) + F(\nabla\varphi_u(\hat{x},\hat{t}),0) &\leq 0, \\ (\varphi_v)_t(\hat{y},\hat{s}) + F(\nabla\varphi_v(\hat{y},\hat{s}),0) &\geq 0. \end{aligned}$$

Since $\nabla \varphi_u(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) = \nabla \varphi_v(\hat{y}, \hat{s})$, subtracting the second inequality from the first and evaluating the time derivatives yields

$$0 \ge (\varphi_u)_t(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) - (\varphi_v)_t(\hat{y}, \hat{s}) = \frac{\varepsilon}{(T - \hat{t})^2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{(T - \hat{s})^2} > 0,$$

a contradiction.

7.2.2. Case II. Now k = n, or, in other words, $V = \operatorname{aff} \partial W(p_0) = \mathbb{R}^n$. Since we now assume that $p_0 = 0$ and that F is of curvature-free type at $p_0 = 0$, we use Definition 5.5. Then this case is just a minor modification of Case I. Indeed, Corollary 7.7 now reads

(7.7)
$$u(x,t) - v(y,s) - S(t,s) \le u(\hat{x},\hat{t}) - v(\hat{y},\hat{s}) - S(\hat{t},\hat{s})$$

for all $(x,t), (y,t) \in \overline{Q}, |x-y-(\hat{x}-\hat{y})| \leq \lambda$. Thus if we define the test functions

$$\varphi_u(x,t) := S(t,\hat{s}), \text{ and } \varphi_v(x,t) := -S(\hat{t},t),$$

we see from (7.7) that $u - \varphi_u$ has a local maximum at (\hat{x}, \hat{t}) , and $v - \varphi_v$ has a local minimum at (\hat{y}, \hat{s}) . The definition of viscosity solution for the curvature-free type case yields

$$(\varphi_u)_t(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) + F(0, 0) \le 0,$$

 $(\varphi_v)_t(\hat{y}, \hat{s}) + F(0, 0) \ge 0.$

The contradiction then follows as in Case I.



FIGURE 3. Settings for the facet construction. The dot-dashed lines represent the boundaries of the constructed pairs (U_-, U_+) and (V_-, V_+) .

7.2.3. Case III. This is the most involved situation. Since W is positively one-homogeneous, we have $p_0 \perp V$ by Lemma 3.2 and the orthogonality from Proposition 3.1, and therefore $p'_0 = 0$ in what follows. Nevertheless, we keep the terms with p'_0 below for completeness, they are necessary when handling a case of general polyhedral W. We first reduce the problem to the subspace V by introducing the functions

$$\hat{u}(w) := u(\mathcal{T}_V w + \hat{x}, \hat{t}) - p'_0 \cdot w - u(\hat{x}, \hat{t}),
\hat{v}(w) := v(\mathcal{T}_V w + \hat{y}, \hat{s}) - p'_0 \cdot w - v(\hat{y}, \hat{s}),
\qquad w \in \mathbb{R}^k.$$

Then we build facets on \mathbb{R}^k using the closed sets

$$\hat{U} := \left\{ w \in \mathbb{R}^k : \hat{u}(w) \ge 0 \right\}, \qquad \qquad \hat{V} := \left\{ w \in \mathbb{R}^k : \hat{v}(w) \le 0 \right\}.$$

as in [26]; see Figure 3. Note that these sets were denoted there as U and V. This allows us to create test functions for both subsolution and supersolution and arrive at a contradiction as before.

Let us review the construction. For convenience we set

$$\xi_u(x'',t) := \frac{|x'' - \hat{y}'' - \zeta_0''|^2}{2\varepsilon} - \frac{|\hat{x}'' - \hat{y}'' - \zeta_0''|^2}{2\varepsilon} + S(t,\hat{s}) - S(\hat{t},\hat{s}),$$

$$\xi_v(y'',s) := \frac{|\hat{x}'' - \hat{y}'' - \zeta_0''|^2}{2\varepsilon} - \frac{|\hat{x}'' - y'' - \zeta_0''|^2}{2\varepsilon} + S(\hat{t},\hat{s}) - S(\hat{t},s).$$

Then

$$u(x,t) - u(\hat{x},\hat{t}) - p'_0 \cdot (x' - \hat{x}') - \xi_u(x'',t) \le 0, \quad \text{for } (x,t) \in \overline{Q}, x' - \hat{x} \in \mathcal{U}^{\lambda}(\hat{V}), \\ v(y,s) - v(\hat{y},\hat{s}) - p'_0 \cdot (y' - \hat{y}') - \xi_v(y'',s) \ge 0, \quad \text{for } (y,s) \in \overline{Q}, y' - \hat{y} \in \mathcal{U}^{\lambda}(\hat{U}).$$

We set $r := \lambda/10$ and introduce the closed sets

$$X := \overline{(\mathcal{U}^r(\hat{U}))^c}, \qquad Y := \overline{(\mathcal{U}^r(\hat{V}))^c}.$$

Since $dist(\hat{U}, X) = dist(\hat{V}, Y) = r$, the semi-continuity of u and v imply that there exists $\delta > 0$ such that

$$u(x,t) - u(\hat{x},\hat{t}) - p'_0 \cdot (x' - \hat{x}') - \xi_u(x'',t) < 0, \quad x' - \hat{x}' \in X, |x'' - \hat{x}''| \le \delta, |t - \hat{t}| \le \delta, \\ v(y,s) - v(\hat{y},\hat{s}) - p'_0 \cdot (y' - \hat{y}') - \xi_v(y'',s) > 0, \quad y' - \hat{y}' \in Y, |y'' - \hat{y}''| \le \delta, |s - \hat{s}| \le \delta.$$

Note that if X is unbounded, then $u(x,t) = c_u < u(\hat{x},\hat{t})$ for all $x \notin K$ and therefore we only need to use semi-continuity of u on a compact subset of X to get the δ above. We can similarly handle the case of unbounded Y.

Therefore as in [26], we define the pairs

$$S_u := (\hat{U}^c, \hat{U} \setminus \mathcal{U}^{\lambda - 3r}(\hat{V})), \qquad S_v := (\hat{V}^c, \hat{V} \setminus \mathcal{U}^{\lambda - 3r}(\hat{U}))$$

We note that both S_u and S_v are bounded pairs. Indeed, S_u bounded if \hat{U} is bounded or $\hat{U}^c \cup \hat{V}$ is bounded. Since $u(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) - v(\hat{y}, \hat{t}) \ge m_0$, we deduce that $u(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) > v(\hat{y}, \hat{t})$. Then if \hat{U} is unbounded, we have $u(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \le c_u$ and therefore $v(\hat{y}, \hat{s}) < u(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \le c_u \le c_v$, and so we conclude that $\hat{U}^c \cup \hat{V}$ are both bounded. We can argue similarly for S_v .

Since both S_u and S_v are bounded pairs, Corollary 6.2 (currently only for k = 1, 2) implies that there exist p_0 -admissible pairs (U_-, U_+) and (V_-, V_+) such that

$$\mathcal{U}^{2r}(S_u) \preceq (U_-, U_+) \preceq \mathcal{U}^{3r}(S_u),$$

$$\mathcal{U}^{2r}(S_v) \preceq (V_-, V_+) \preceq \mathcal{U}^{3r}(S_v).$$

We have the following lemma.

Lemma 7.8. The pair (U_-, U_+) and the pair (V_-, V_+) have the following properties:

(a) The pairs are strictly ordered in the sense

(7.8)
$$\mathcal{U}^{r}(U_{-}, U_{+}) \preceq (V_{+}, V_{-}) = -(V_{-}, V_{+}).$$

(b) The origin 0 lies in the interior of the intersection of the facets, that is,

 $\overline{B}_r(0) \subset U^c_- \cap U^c_+ \cap V^c_- \cap V^c_+.$

(c) The pairs are in general position with respect to R_u and R_v , that is,

$$\mathcal{U}^r(R_u) \preceq (U_-, U_+), \qquad \mathcal{U}^r(R_v) \preceq (V_-, V_+),$$

where

$$R_u := (X, X^c \setminus \mathcal{U}^{\lambda}(\hat{V})),$$
$$R_v := (Y, Y^c \setminus \mathcal{U}^{\lambda}(\hat{U})).$$

Proof. See [26, Lemma 4.6].

Now we have all that we need to reach a contradiction. Let us define

$$\begin{split} \tilde{u}(x'-\hat{x}') &:= \sup_{|x''-\hat{x}''| \le \delta} \sup_{|t-\hat{t}| \le \delta} \left[u(x,t) - u(\hat{x},\hat{t}) - p'_0 \cdot (x'-\hat{x}') - \xi_u(x'',t) \right], \\ \tilde{v}(y'-\hat{y}') &:= \inf_{|y''-\hat{y}''| \le \delta} \inf_{|s-\hat{s}| \le \delta} \left[v(y,s) - v(\hat{y},\hat{s}) - p'_0 \cdot (y'-\hat{y}') - \xi_v(y'',s) \right]. \end{split}$$

By the construction above, we have $\tilde{u} < 0$ on X and $\tilde{u} \leq 0$ on $X \cup \mathcal{U}^{\lambda}(\hat{V})$. Similarly, we have $\tilde{v} > 0$ on Y and $\tilde{v} \geq 0$ on $Y \cup \mathcal{U}^{\lambda}(\hat{U})$. Lemma 7.8(c) implies that $X \supset \mathcal{U}^{r}(U_{-})$ and $X \cup \mathcal{U}^{\lambda}(\hat{V}) \supset \mathcal{U}^{r}(U_{+}^{c})$. Therefore for any support function ψ of pair (U_{-}, U_{+}) we can by upper semi-continuity of \tilde{u} find two constants $\alpha, \beta > 0$ so that $\alpha \psi_{+} - \beta \psi_{-} \geq \tilde{u}(\cdot - w)$ for all $|w| \leq r/2$ in a neighborhood of the facet $U_{-}^{c} \cap U_{+}^{c}$. An analogous reasoning applies to \tilde{v} .

Since the pairs (U_-, U_+) and (V_-, V_+) are p_0 -admissible, there exist faceted functions $\psi_u, \psi_v \in \mathcal{D}(\Lambda_{p_0})$ that are the support functions of the respective pairs. By applying the observation in the previous paragraph, we can assume that $\tilde{u}(\cdot - w) \leq \psi_u$ and $\psi_v \leq \tilde{v}(\cdot - w)$ for all $|w| \leq r/2$ in a neighborhood of the respective facets $U_-^c \cap U_+^c$ and $V_-^c \cap V_+^c$. Therefore the

functions $\varphi_u(x,t) := \psi_u(x') + p'_0 \cdot (x' - \hat{x}') + \xi_u(x'',t)$, $\varphi_v := \psi_v(x') + p'_0 \cdot (y' - \hat{y}') + \xi_v(x'',t)$ are test functions for u and v, respectively, in the sense of Definition 5.2(i). Due to Lemma 7.8(a–b), the comparison principle for the crystalline curvature Proposition 4.12 yields

(7.9)
$$\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{B_r(0)} \left[\Lambda_{p_0}[\psi_u]\right] \le \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{B_r(0)} \left[\Lambda_{p_0}[\psi_v]\right].$$

From the definition of viscosity solutions, namely Definition 5.2(i), we infer

$$(\xi_u)_t(\hat{t}) + F\left(p_0, \operatorname*{ess\,inf}_{B_r(0)} [\Lambda_{p_0}[\psi_u]]\right) \le 0,$$

$$(\xi_v)_t(\hat{s}) + F\left(p_0, \operatorname*{ess\,sup}_{B_r(0)} [\Lambda_{p_0}[\psi_v]]\right) \ge 0.$$

Using (7.9) and the ellipticity of F, we get after subtracting the above two inequalities

$$0 < \frac{\varepsilon}{(T-\hat{t})^2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{(T-\hat{s})^2} + F\left(p_0, \operatorname*{ess\,inf}_{B_r(0)}\left[\Lambda_{p_0}[\psi_u]\right]\right) - F\left(p_0, \operatorname*{ess\,sup}_{B_r(0)}\left[\Lambda_{p_0}[\psi_v]\right]\right) \le 0,$$

a contradiction.

This finished the proof of the comparison principle Theorem 7.1 since we have shown that (7.1) always yields a contradiction.

8. Stability

We will show the stability of (1.4) under the approximation by parabolic problems

(8.1)
$$\begin{cases} u_t + F(\nabla u, \operatorname{tr}\left[(\nabla_p^2 W_m)(\nabla u)\nabla^2 u\right]) = 0, \\ u|_{t=0} = u_0, \end{cases}$$

where W_m approximate W as in Section 2.2. An example of such sequence $\{W_m\}$ is given in Example 2.4.

The main result of this section is the following stability theorem. We recall the definition of *half-relaxed limits* (semi-continuous limits)

$$\star\text{-limsup}_{m \to \infty} u_m(x,t) := \lim_{k \to \infty} \sup_{m > k} \sup_{|y-x| < \frac{1}{k}} \sup_{|t-s| < \frac{1}{k}} u_m(y,s),$$

$$\star\text{-liminf}_{m \to \infty} u_m(x,t) := -\star\text{-limsup}_{m \to \infty} \big(-u_m(x,t) \big).$$

Theorem 8.1 (Stability). Let u_m be a locally bounded sequence of viscosity solutions of (8.1) (without the initial condition). Then \star -limsup_{$m\to\infty$} u_m is a viscosity subsolution of (1.4) and \star -liminf_{$m\to\infty$} u_m is a viscosity supersolution of (1.4).

Proof of stability We will only show the subsolution part, the proof of the supersolution part is analogous. Let $u = \star$ -limsup_m u_m . Clearly u is upper semi-continuous. We want to show that u is a subsolution of (1.4).

We have to verify (i)–(ii) of Definition 5.2 and (i-cf) of Definition 5.5 for curvature-free type F.



FIGURE 4. Situation at the contact point of \bar{u} and ψ . The thick line denotes the boundary of N.

8.1. Case (i). Suppose that φ is a stratified faceted test function at (\hat{x}, \hat{t}) with gradient \hat{p} and with $\bar{\psi}$, f and g as in Definition 5.1, and suppose that this test function is a test function for u in the sense of Definition 5.2(i), i.e., it satisfies (5.1) with some $\rho > 0$. Let (A_{-}, A_{+}) be the pair supported by $\bar{\psi}$. We will set $V \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ to be the subspace parallel to aff $\partial W(\hat{p})$, $U = V^{\perp}$ and $k = \dim V$. We recall that we have the rotated coordinate system $x = \mathcal{T}(x', x'')$ with $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}_{\hat{p}}$ introduced in (3.3).

Let us define the function $\bar{u}: \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}$

$$\bar{u}(x') := \sup_{\substack{|x''| \le \rho \\ |t-\hat{t}| \le \rho}} u(\hat{x} + x, t) - u(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) - f(x'') - g(t) + g(\hat{t}) - \hat{p} \cdot x$$

and the closed subsets of \mathbb{R}^k

$$Y := \{ x' \in \mathbb{R}^k : \bar{u}(x') \ge 0 \}, Z := \{ x' \in O : \bar{\psi}(x') \le 0 \} = A^c_+ \cap O,$$

where $O = \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(A_{-}^{c} \cap A_{+}^{c})$, see Figure 4. Note that with this definition of \bar{u} , the condition (5.1) is equivalent to

(8.2)
$$\bar{u}(y') \le \bar{\psi}(x')$$
 for all $x' \in O, |y' - x'| \le \rho$.

We immediately have the following "geometrical" lemma. Intuitively, since \bar{u} and $\bar{\psi}$ are ordered even when shifted by a small distance, we must have that $\bar{\psi}$ is nonnegative in a neighborhood of the set Y where \bar{u} is nonnegative, and, analogously, \bar{u} is nonpositive in a neighborhood of the set Z where $\bar{\psi}$ is nonpositive.

Lemma 8.2 (cf. [27, Lemma 5.6]). Suppose that u and φ satisfy (5.1) for some $\rho > 0$, $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Then

 $\bar{u}(x') \leq 0$ for all $x' \in \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(Z)$,

or, more explicitly,

for x' –

$$u(x,t) \leq f(x'' - \hat{x}'') + g(t) - g(\hat{t}) + u(\hat{x},\hat{t}) + \hat{p} \cdot (x - \hat{x})$$
$$\hat{x} \in \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(Z), \ |x'' - \hat{x}''| \leq \rho, \ |t - \hat{t}| \leq \rho. \ Furthermore, \ we \ have$$
$$\bar{\psi}(x') \geq 0 \qquad for \ x' \in \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(Y) \cap O.$$

Proof. Let us prove the first statement. If $x' \in \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(Z)$ then there exists $z' \in Z \subset O$ such that $|x' - z'| \leq \rho$. Thus (8.2) and the definition of Z imply

$$\bar{u}(x') \le \bar{\psi}(z') \le 0,$$

and that is what we wanted to prove.

Similarly, if we suppose that $x' \in \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(Y) \cap O$, there exists $y' \in Y$ with $|x' - y'| \leq \rho$. Then (8.2) and the definition of Y imply

$$\bar{\psi}(x') \ge \bar{u}(y') \ge 0.$$

The lemma is proved.

We obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 8.3. Suppose that (8.2) holds with $\rho > 0$. Then there exists δ , $0 < \delta \leq \rho/5$, such that $\mathcal{U}^{4\delta}(N) \subset O$ where

$$N := \mathcal{U}^{\delta}(Z) \cap Y \cap O,$$

and moreover

$$\overline{B}^k_{\delta}(0) \subset A^c_- \cap A^c_+$$

and

(8.3) $\bar{u}(x') \le \alpha \bar{\psi}(x'+z') \quad \text{for all } \alpha > 0, \ x' \in \mathcal{U}^{3\delta}(N), \ |z'| \le \delta,$

with strict inequality for $x' \notin N$.

Proof. By definition, $Z \subset A^c_+$. Moreover, the second result in Lemma 8.2 is equivalent to

$$\mathcal{U}^{\rho}(Y) \cap O \subset A^{c}_{-}$$

We can therefore estimate

(8.4)
$$N = \mathcal{U}^{\delta}(Z) \cap Y \cap O \subset \mathcal{U}^{\delta}(A^c_+) \cap A^c_- \subset \mathcal{U}^{\delta}(\partial A_+) \cup (A^c_+ \cap A^c_-).$$

Since A_+ is open, we have $\partial A_+ \subset A_+^c$. But since $A_- \cap A_+ = \emptyset$ and A_- is also open, we must also have $\partial A_+ \subset A_-^c$. Therefore ∂A_+ is in the facet, and by assumption on O we have

(8.5)
$$\partial A_+ \subset A^c_- \cap A^c_+ \subset O.$$

Since O is open and $A_{-}^{c} \cap A_{+}^{c}$ is compact, and $0 \in \operatorname{int} A_{-}^{c} \cap A_{+}^{c}$, for $\delta > 0$ small enough we will have

$$\mathcal{U}^{5\delta}(A^c_- \cap A^c_+) \subset O$$
 and $\overline{B}^k_{\delta}(0) \subset A^c_- \cap A^c_+.$

Using (8.5) in (8.4), we obtain

(8.6)
$$\mathcal{U}^{4\delta}(N) \subset \mathcal{U}^{5\delta}(A^c_- \cap A^c_+) \subset O$$

Let us now fix $\alpha > 0$ and $|z'| \leq \delta$. Using the definition and (8.6), we can estimate

$$\mathcal{U}^{3\delta}(N) \subset \mathcal{U}^{4\delta}(Z) \cap \mathcal{U}^{3\delta}(Y) \cap \mathcal{U}^{-\delta}(O).$$

In particular, if $x' \in \mathcal{U}^{3\delta}(N)$ then $x' + z' \in \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(Y) \cap O$ and $x' \in \mathcal{U}^{\rho}(Z)$. Hence Lemma 8.2 applies, yielding

$$\bar{u}(x') \le 0 \le \bar{\psi}(x'+z'),$$

and therefore (8.3) follows. If $x' \in \mathcal{U}^{3\delta}(N) \setminus N$, then we must have $x' + z' \in O$ and at least one of the following:

• $x' \notin \mathcal{U}^{\delta}(Z)$: Thus $x' + z' \in O \setminus Z$ and therefore $\psi(x' + z') > 0$.

• $x' \notin Y$: Thus u(x') < 0.

We deduce the strict ordering in (8.3) for $x \notin N$.

The previous corollary has the following important direct consequence.

Lemma 8.4 (cf. [27, Lemma 5.4]). Suppose that (8.2) is satisfied for some $\rho > 0$. By adding the term $|y|^2$ to f(y) and $|t - \hat{t}|^2$ to g(t) if necessary, there exists $0 < \delta < \rho/5$ such that for all $|z'| \le \delta$ and $\alpha > 0$

$$u(x,t) - \alpha \bar{\psi}(x'+z'-\hat{x}') - f(x''-\hat{x}'') - g(t) - \hat{p} \cdot (x-\hat{x}) \le u(\hat{x},\hat{t}) - g(\hat{t})$$

whenever

$$x' - \hat{x}' \in \mathcal{U}^{3\delta}(N), \ |x'' - \hat{x}''| \le \rho, \ |t - \hat{t}| \le \rho,$$

with a strict inequality outside of $\{(x,t): x' - \hat{x}' \in N, x'' = \hat{x}'', t = \hat{t}\}$.

We shall now proceed with the proof of stability. By Proposition 4.11, for L > 0 sufficiently large and $\Gamma' = \mathbb{R}^k / L\mathbb{Z}^k$, we can find a function $\xi \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Gamma')$ such that $\xi(x') = \overline{\psi}(x')$ on a neighborhood of the facet $A^c_{-} \cap A^c_{+}$ such that $\xi \in \mathcal{D}(\partial E^{\mathrm{sl}}_{\hat{p}}(\cdot; \Gamma'))$ and $\Lambda_{\hat{p}}(\overline{\psi}) = -\partial^0 E^{\mathrm{sl}}_{\hat{p}}(\xi; \Gamma')$ a.e. on $A^c_{-} \cap A^c_{+}$. By making the set O smaller if necessary, we can assume that $\xi = \overline{\psi}$ on O. Let $\delta > 0$ be from Lemma 8.4.

Fix $\alpha > 0$. Since $\nabla f(0) = 0$, we can find $\theta_{\alpha} > 0$ and $f_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Gamma'')$, $\Gamma'' = \mathbb{R}^{n-k}/L\mathbb{Z}^{n-k}$, such that $f_{\alpha}(x'') = f(x'')$ for $|x''| \leq 2\theta$ with $\|\nabla f_{\alpha}\|_{\infty} \leq \alpha \|\nabla \xi\|_{\infty}$. Let us define the function

(8.7)
$$\psi(x) = \psi_{\alpha}(x) = \alpha \xi(x') + f_{\alpha}(x''), \qquad x \in \Gamma = \mathcal{T}(\Gamma' \times \Gamma'').$$

We see that $\psi \in \operatorname{Lip}(\Gamma)$ and therefore by Lemma 3.9 $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\partial E'_{\hat{\mu}}(\cdot; \Gamma))$. We can estimate

(8.8)
$$\left\|\nabla\psi_{\alpha}\right\|_{\infty} \leq 2\alpha \left\|\nabla\xi\right\|_{\infty}.$$

In particular, if α is sufficiently small, $\partial E_{\hat{p}}(\psi_{\alpha}) = \partial E'_{\hat{p}}(\psi_{\alpha})$ by Lemma 2.11.

From now on we fix one such α and we write $\psi = \psi_{\alpha}$. For given a > 0 let ψ_a and $\psi_{a,m}$ be the solutions of the resolvent problems in Proposition 2.6 for energies $E_W = E_{\hat{p}}$ and $E_m = E_{W_m(\cdot-\hat{p})-W(\hat{p})}$, respectively, on Γ . Note that these energies satisfy all the assumptions of Proposition 2.6.

For given a > 0 and $|z'| \leq \delta$, we define the set of maxima

$$A_{a,z'} := \underset{(x,t)\in M_2}{\arg\max} \left[u(x+\hat{x},t+\hat{t}) - \psi_a(x+\mathcal{T}_V z') - \hat{p} \cdot x - g(t+\hat{t}) \right]$$

where $M_s := \{(x,t) : x' \in \mathcal{U}^{s\delta}(N), |x''| \leq s\theta, |t| \leq s\delta\}$. Note that $\psi(x + \mathcal{T}_V z') = \alpha \overline{\psi}(x' + z') + f(x'')$ for $(x,t) \in M_2, |z'| \leq \delta$. Due to the uniform convergence $\psi_a \rightrightarrows \psi$ on Γ from Proposition 2.6, and the strict ordering of Lemma 8.4, we have that there exists $a_0 > 0$, independent of z', such that

(8.9)
$$\emptyset \neq A_{a,z'} \subset M_1$$
 for all $|z'| \leq \delta, a < a_0$.

We now fix one such $a < a_0$ and find $|z'| \leq \delta$ such that

(8.10)
$$\psi_a(\mathcal{T}_V z') - \alpha \bar{\psi}(z') = \min_{|w'| \le \delta} \left[\psi_a(\mathcal{T}_V w') - \alpha \bar{\psi}(w') \right].$$

As in [27], z' is chosen in such a way that Lemma 8.5 below holds.

46

Due to the uniform convergence $\psi_{a,m} \rightrightarrows \psi_a$ as $m \to \infty$ there exists $(x_a, t_a) \in A_{a,z'}$ and a sequence $(x_{a,m}, t_{a,m})$ (for a subsequence of m) of local maxima of

$$(x,t) \mapsto u_m(x+\hat{x},t+\hat{t}) - \psi_{a,m}(x+\mathcal{T}_V z') - \hat{p} \cdot x - g(t+\hat{t})$$

such that $(x_{a,m}, t_{a,m}) \to (x_a, t_a)$ as $m \to \infty$ (along a subsequence).

Recall the definitions of h_a and $h_{a,m}$ from Proposition 2.6. Since $\psi_{a,m} \in C^{2,\alpha}(\Gamma)$ and u_m is a viscosity subsolution of (8.1), we must have

$$g'(t_{a,m}+\hat{t}) + F(\nabla\psi_{a,m}(x_{a,m}+\mathcal{T}_{V}z')+\hat{p}, h_{a,m}(x_{a,m}+\mathcal{T}_{V}z'))$$

= $g'(t_{a,m}+\hat{t}) + F(\nabla\psi_{a,m}(x_{a,m}+\mathcal{T}_{V}z')+\hat{p},$
tr $[(\nabla_{p}^{2}W_{m})(\nabla\psi_{a,m}+\hat{p})\nabla^{2}\psi_{a,m}](x_{a,m}+\mathcal{T}_{V}z')) \leq 0.$

By the uniform Lipschitz bound $\|\nabla \psi_{a,m}\|_{\infty} \leq \|\nabla \psi\|_{\infty} \leq C\alpha$ from (8.8), and $h_{a,m} \Rightarrow h_a$ as $m \to \infty$, we can find a point $p_a \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $|p_a - \hat{p}| \leq C\alpha$, and send $m \to \infty$ along a subsequence to recover

(8.11)
$$g'(t_a + \hat{t}) + F(p_a, h_a(x_a + \mathcal{T}_V z')) \le 0.$$

To estimate $h_a(x_a + \mathcal{T}_V z')$, we prove the following lemma.

Lemma 8.5 (cf. [27, Lemma 5.5]). We have

$$h_a(x_a + \mathcal{T}_V z') \le h_a(\mathcal{T}_V z') = \min_{|w'| \le \delta} h_a(\mathcal{T}_V w').$$

Proof. We chose z' so that (8.10) holds and therefore the equality above holds as well. Therefore we only need to show the inequality. Recalling the definition of h_a , we have to show that

(8.12)
$$\psi_a(x_a + \mathcal{T}_V z') - \psi(x_a + \mathcal{T}_V z') \le \psi_a(\mathcal{T}_V z') - \psi(\mathcal{T}_V z').$$

We begin by expressing the second term on the left-hand side using (8.7), which yields

$$-\psi(x_a + \mathcal{T}_V z') = -\alpha \bar{\psi} \left(x'_a + z' \right) - f \left(x''_a \right).$$

Since $(x_a, t_a) \in A_{a,z'} \in M_1$ by (8.9), clearly

(8.13)
$$x'_a + z' \in \mathcal{U}^{3\delta}(Z) \cap \mathcal{U}^{2\delta}(Y) \cap O$$

and therefore $\bar{\psi}(x'_a + z') \ge 0$ by Lemma 8.2. This implies

(8.14)
$$-\psi(x_a + \mathcal{T}_V z') \le -f(x_a'').$$

For the first term in (8.12), we use the fact that (x_a, t_a) is a point of maximum and therefore

$$u(x_a + \hat{x}, t_a + \hat{t}) - \psi_a(x_a + \mathcal{T}_V z') - \hat{p} \cdot x_a - g(t_a + \hat{t}) \ge u(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) - \psi_a(\mathcal{T}_V z') - g(\hat{t}).$$

After rearranging the terms, we obtain

$$\psi_a(x_a + \mathcal{T}_V z') \le \left[u(x_a + \hat{x}, t_a + \hat{t}) - u(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) - \hat{p} \cdot x_a - g(t_a + \hat{t}) + g(\hat{t}) \right] + \psi_a(\mathcal{T}_V z').$$

We use (8.13) again and therefore the first inequality of Lemma 8.2 allows us estimate the term in the bracket from above by $f(x''_a)$, yielding

(8.15)
$$\psi_a(x_a + \mathcal{T}_V z') \le \psi_a(\mathcal{T}_V z') + f(x''_a)$$

Finally, by the choice of δ we have $z' \in A^c_{-} \cap A^c_{+}$ and therefore

$$\psi(\mathcal{T}_V z') = 0$$

Hence using this observation, and taking the sum of (8.14) and (8.15) we arrive at (8.12) and the proof of the lemma is finished.

Then, by the ellipticity of F in (1.6),

$$g'(t_a + \hat{t}) + F(p_a + \hat{p}, \min_{|w'| \le \delta} h_a(\mathcal{T}_V w')) \le g'(t_a + \hat{t}) + F(p_a, h_a(x_a + \mathcal{T}_V z')) \le 0$$

We send $a \to 0$ along a subsequence a_l such that $\min h_{a_l} \to \liminf_{a \to 0} \min h_a$ and $p_a \to p_0$ as $l \to \infty$, for some $p_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $|p_0 - \hat{p}| \leq C\alpha$, to obtain

$$g'(\hat{t}) + F(p_0, \liminf_{a \to 0} \min_{|w'| \le \delta} h_a(T_V w')) \le 0.$$

Now we use Lemma 3.9, in particular the fact that $h_a(x) = \bar{h}_a(x')$ for some $\bar{h}_a = (\bar{\psi}_a - \bar{\psi})/a \in \text{Lip}(\Gamma')$ and that $\bar{h}_a \to -\partial^0 E_{\hat{p}}^{\text{sl}}(\bar{\psi}; \Gamma')$ in $L^2(\Gamma')$. Thus, recalling Proposition 4.11,

$$\liminf_{a\to 0} \min_{|w'|\leq \delta} h_a(\mathcal{T}_V w') = \liminf_{a\to 0} \min_{|w'|\leq \delta} \bar{h}_a(w') \leq \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{B_{\delta}(0)} -\partial^0 E_{\hat{p}}^{\mathrm{sl}}(\xi; \Gamma') = \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{B_{\delta}(0)} \Lambda_{\hat{p}}[\bar{\psi}],$$

and ellipticity yields

$$g'(\hat{t}) + F(p_0, \operatorname*{ess\,inf}_{B_{\delta}(0)} \Lambda_{\hat{p}}[\bar{\psi}]) \le 0.$$

Since this holds for any $\alpha > 0$ small, and therefore continuity of $F(p,\xi)$ in p and the estimate $|p_0 - \hat{p}| \leq C\alpha$ yields

$$g'(\hat{t}) + F(\hat{p}, \operatorname*{ess\,inf}_{B_{\delta}(0)} \Lambda_{\hat{p}}[\bar{\psi}]) \le 0,$$

which we needed to prove.

8.2. Case (ii). In this case the test function is also a test function (8.1) and therefore the stability follows the standard viscosity solution argument.

8.3. Case (curvature-free type). In this part we will assume that F is of curvature-free type at p = 0 in the sense of Definition 5.3. We need to verify Definition 5.5(i-cf).

Suppose therefore that $\phi(x,t) = g(t)$ on a neighborhood U of a point (\hat{x},\hat{t}) and $u - \phi$ has a local maximum 0 at (\hat{x},\hat{t}) . We want to show that $g_t(\hat{t}) + F(0,0) \leq 0$.

This can be accomplished by perturbing the test function $\phi(x,t)$ and considering the function

$$\phi_{m,q}(x,t) = W_{m;A,q}^{\star}(x-\hat{x}) + g(t) + \left|t-\hat{t}\right|^2,$$

with $W^{\star}_{m;A,q}$ given by [26, Lemma 5.8], and with suitable parameters A, q > 0.

Let us recall that $W_{m;A,q}^{\star}$ is the Legendre-Fenchel transform of

$$W_{m;A,q}(p) := A\left(W_m(p) + q\psi\left(\frac{p}{q}\right) - W_m(0)\right).$$

Here $\psi : \mathbb{R}^n \to [0, \infty]$ is a lower semi-continuous nonnegative convex function such that $\psi \in C^{\infty}(B_1(0)), \ \psi(0) = 0$ and $\psi(p) = \infty$ for $|p| \ge 1$. The semi-continuity then implies $\psi(p) \to \infty$ as $|p| \to 1^-$.

The following lemma was proved in [26].

Lemma 8.6 (c.f. [26, Lemma 5.6]). For any m, A, q positive, $W_{m;A,q}^{\star}$ is a strictly convex, nonnegative, C^2 function on \mathbb{R}^n and

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \nabla W^{\star}_{m;A,q}(x) \right| &\leq q, \qquad 0 \leq \mathcal{L}_m(W^{\star}_{m;A,q})(x) \leq A^{-1}n, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ where \ \mathcal{L}_m(u)(x) &:= \operatorname{tr}\left[(\nabla^2 W_m)(\nabla u(x)) \nabla^2 u(x) \right] \text{ for } u \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^n). \end{aligned}$$

We will add the following modification of [26, Lemma 5.8].

Lemma 8.7. For every $\delta > 0$ there exists A > 0 such that for every q > 0 there exist $\varepsilon > 0$ and $m_0 > 0$ for which

$$W_{m;A,q}^{\star}(x) > \varepsilon$$
, for all $x, |x| \ge \delta$, and $m \ge m_0$.

Proof. Let us define

$$\mu := \sup_{|p|=1/2} \left[W(p) + \psi(p) \right] \in (0,\infty)$$

and set for given $\delta > 0$

$$A := \frac{\delta}{8\mu}$$

Now we fix q > 0 and set

$$\varepsilon := \frac{q\delta}{8}$$

By the locally uniform convergence of $W_m \to W$, we can find $m_0 > 0$ such that

(8.17)
$$\sup_{|p|=q/2} |W_m(p) - W_m(0) - W(p)| \le q\mu \qquad m \ge m_0$$

Now whenever $|x| \ge \delta$ and $m \ge m_0$, we can take $p = \frac{q}{2} \frac{x}{|x|}$ and estimate, using (8.17), one-homogeneity of W, and (8.16),

$$W_{m;A,q}^{\star} \ge x \cdot p - W_{m;A,q}(p)$$

$$= \frac{q}{2} |x| - A \left(W_m(p) + q\psi \left(\frac{p}{q}\right) - W_m(0) \right)$$

$$\ge \frac{q}{2} |x| - A \left(W(p) + q\psi \left(\frac{p}{q}\right) + q\mu \right)$$

$$= \frac{q}{2} |x| - A \left(qW \left(\frac{p}{q}\right) + q\psi \left(\frac{p}{q}\right) + q\mu \right)$$

$$\ge \frac{q}{2} |x| - 2Aq\mu \ge \frac{q\delta}{4} > \varepsilon.$$

Lemma 8.8. For any A, q positive

$$W^{\star}_{m;A,q}(0) \to 0 \qquad as \ m \to \infty.$$

Proof. Since W_m is a decreasing sequence converging to W locally uniformly, we have $W_m \ge \min W = 0$ and $W_m(0) \to W(0) = 0$. As also $\psi \ge 0$, it follows that

$$0 \le W_{m;A,q}^{\star}(0) \le AW_m(0) \to 0.$$

Let us now choose $\delta > 0$ small enough so that $Q := \overline{B}_{\delta}(\hat{x}) \times [\hat{t} - \delta, \hat{t} + \delta] \subset U$. We have $u - \phi \leq 0$ on Q with equality at (\hat{x}, \hat{t}) . For this δ we fix A > 0 from Lemma 8.7.

Now due to the same lemma for any q > 0 we also have $\varepsilon, m_0 > 0$ such that

 $u - \phi_{m,q} < -\varepsilon$ on $(\partial B_{\delta}(\hat{x})) \times [\hat{t} - \delta, \hat{t} + \delta]$, for $m \ge m_0$.

Because $W_{m;A,q}^{\star} \geq 0$ by Lemma 8.6, we also have

$$u - \phi_{m,q} \le -\delta^2$$
 on $x \in B_{\delta}(\hat{t}), t = \hat{t} \pm \delta$, for all m .

Since $\phi_{m,q}(0) \to 0$ as $m \to \infty$ by Lemma 8.8 and since $\phi_{m,q}$ is uniformly Lipschitz in m by Lemma 8.6, we conclude that there must exist a subsequence m_j and a sequence of points (x_j, t_j) such that $u_{m_j} - \phi_{m_j,q}$ has a local maximum at $(x_j, t_j), x_j \in B_{\delta}(\hat{x})$, and, moreover, $t_j \to \hat{t}$.

Let us now choose $q_k = 1/k$. By the standard diagonalization argument we can find a subsequence m_k such that $u_{m_k} - \phi_{m_k,q_k}$ has a local maximum at a point $(x_k, t_k), x_k \in B_{\delta}(\hat{x})$, and $|t_k - \hat{t}| \leq 1/k$. Thus we introduce

$$p_k := \nabla \phi_{m_k,q_k}(x_k,t_k) = \nabla W^{\star}_{m_k;A,q_k}(x_k - \hat{x}), \text{ and}$$

$$\xi_k := \mathcal{L}_{m_k} \left(\phi_{m_k,q_k}(\cdot,t_k) \right) (x_k) = \mathcal{L}_{m_k} \left(W^{\star}_{m_k;A,q_k} \right) (x_k - \hat{x}).$$

By the assumption that u_{m_k} is a subsolution of (8.1), we have

$$g'(t_k) + 2(t_k - \hat{t}) + F(p_k, \xi_k) \le 0.$$

Furthermore, from Lemma 8.6 and the choice of q_k we have the bounds

$$|p_k| \le 1/k, \qquad |\xi_k| \le A^{-1}n \qquad \text{for all } k,$$

where A is independent of k.

Since F is of curvature-free type at p = 0, Definition 5.3, we finally obtain

$$g'(\hat{t}) + F(0,0) = g'(\hat{t}) + \liminf_{p \to 0} \inf_{|\xi| \le A^{-1}n} F(p,\xi)$$

$$\leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} \left[g'(t_k) + 2(t_k - \hat{t}) + F(p_k,\xi_k) \right] \le 0.$$

The supersolution case can be handled similarly with a test function

$$\phi_{m,q}(x,t) = -W_{m;A,q}^{\star}(-x+\hat{x}) + g(t) + \left|t-\hat{t}\right|^2$$

This finishes the proof of stability for the curvature-free test function case.

The proof of Theorem 8.1 is complete.

8.4. **Approximation by linear growth functionals.** In this section we prove the following approximation result:

Theorem 8.9. Suppose that F is of curvature-free type at $p_0 = 0$ and that $\{W_m\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap C^2(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ are positively one-homogeneous functions with bounded, strictly convex sub-level sets $\{W_m \leq 1\}$ such that $W_m \rightrightarrows W$ uniformly on $\overline{B}_1(0)$. Let u_m be the unique viscosity solutions of

$$\begin{cases} u_t + F(\nabla u, \operatorname{div} \nabla_p W_m(\nabla u)) = 0, & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_{0,m}, & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^n, \end{cases}$$

where $u_{0,m} \in C(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are uniformly bounded. Then

$$\overline{u} := \star -\limsup_{m \to \infty} u_m, \qquad \underline{u} := \star -\liminf_{m \to \infty} u_m$$

are a viscosity subsolution and a viscosity supersolution of (1.4).

Proof. We will follow the proof of Theorem 8.1 with an additional approximation because the solutions $\psi_{a,m}$ of the resolvent problem for the linear growth energy E_m might not be smooth. Let us set for $\delta > 0$

$$W_m^{\delta}(p) := (W_m * \eta_{\delta})(p) + \delta |p|^2,$$

where η_{δ} is the standard mollifier with radius δ , and let u_m^{δ} be the unique viscosity solution of

(8.18)
$$\begin{cases} u_t + F(\nabla u, \operatorname{div} \nabla_p W_m^{\delta}(\nabla u_m)) = 0, & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty), \\ u_m(\cdot, 0) = u_{0,m}, & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n. \end{cases}$$

From the standard theory we have that $u_m^{\delta} \rightrightarrows u_m$ as $\delta \to 0$ locally uniformly on $\mathbb{R}^n \times [0, \infty)$.

Suppose now that φ is a stratified test function at (\hat{x}, \hat{t}) with gradient \hat{p} , as in the proof in Section 8.1, Case (i) above, for a subsolution. We proceed as in that proof, but we use an additional perturbation of the test function by solving the resolvent problem for the energy $E_m^{\delta} := E_{W_m^{\delta}(\cdot-\hat{p})-W(\hat{p})}$: we define the unique solution $\psi_{a,m}^{\delta} \in L^2(\Gamma)$ of

$$\psi_{a,m}^{\delta} + a\partial E_m^{\delta}(\psi_{a,m}^{\delta}) \ni \psi,$$

where ψ and Γ were given in (8.7). Recall that $\psi_{a,m}^{\delta} \in C^{2,\gamma}(\Gamma)$ by the elliptic regularity.

We can apply Proposition 2.6 to E_m^{δ} and E_m for fixed m in the limit $\delta \to 0$. We in particular have $\psi_{a,m}^{\delta} \Rightarrow \psi_{a,m}$ and $h_{a,m}^{\delta} \Rightarrow h_{a,m}$ as $\delta \to 0$ for fixed a, m.

Due to the Mosco convergence of E_m to $E_{\hat{p}}$ in Lemma 2.7, we also can apply Proposition 2.6 to E_m and $E_{\hat{p}}$ in the limit $m \to \infty$.

We now fix a and z' as in (8.10). Due to the uniform convergence $\psi_{a,m}^{\delta} \Rightarrow \psi_{a,m}$ as $\delta \to 0$ and $\psi_{a,m} \Rightarrow \psi_a$ as $m \to \infty$, there exists $(x_a, t_a) \in A_{a,z'}$ and a sequence $(x_{a,m}, t_{a,m})$ (for a subsequence of m) of local maxima of

$$(x,t) \mapsto u_m(x+\hat{x},t+\hat{t}) - \psi_{a,m}(x+\mathcal{T}_V z') - \hat{p} \cdot x - g(t+\hat{t})$$

such that $(x_{a,m}, t_{a,m}) \to (x_a, t_a)$ as $m \to \infty$ (along a subsequence), and for each m in this subsequence there exist a sequence $(x_{a,m}^{\delta}, t_{a,m}^{\delta})$ (for a subsequence of δ as $\delta \to 0$) of local maxima of

$$(x,t) \mapsto u_m^{\delta}(x+\hat{x},t+\hat{t}) - \psi_{a,m}^{\delta}(x+\mathcal{T}_V z') - \hat{p} \cdot x - g(t+\hat{t}),$$

such that $(x_{a,m}^{\delta}, t_{a,m}^{\delta}) \to (x_{a,m}, t_{a,m})$ as $\delta \to 0$ (along a subsequence).

Since u_m^{δ} is a viscosity solution of (8.18), we have

$$g'(t_{a,m}^{\delta} + \hat{t}) + F(\nabla \psi_{a,m}^{\delta}(x_{a,m}^{\delta} + \mathcal{T}_{V}z') + \hat{p}, h_{a,m}^{\delta}(x_{a,m}^{\delta} + \mathcal{T}_{V}z'))$$

$$= g'(t_{a,m}^{\delta} + \hat{t}) + F\left(\nabla \psi_{a,m}^{\delta}(x_{a,m}^{\delta} + \mathcal{T}_{V}z') + \hat{p}, tr\left[(\nabla_{p}^{2}W_{m}^{\delta})(\nabla \psi_{a,m}^{\delta} + \hat{p})\nabla^{2}\psi_{a,m}^{\delta}\right](x_{a,m}^{\delta} + \mathcal{T}_{V}z')\right) \leq 0$$

Sending $\delta \to 0$ along a subsequence and using the uniform convergence of $h_{a,m}^{\delta} \rightrightarrows h_{a,m}$, we can find $p_{a,m}$ with $|p_{a,m} - \hat{p}| \leq C\alpha$ such that

(8.19)
$$g'(t_{a,m} + \hat{t}) + F(p_{a,m}, h_{a,m}(x_{a,m} + \mathcal{T}_V z')) \le 0.$$

Sending $m \to \infty$ along a *subsequence*, we obtain p_a and (8.11). Then we finish the proof as in the proof of Theorem 8.1 for Case(i).

Case (ii) as well as the curvature-free case are both straightforward.

9. Well-posedness

Once the stability with respect to the approximation of the energy density W is established, we get existence of solutions as in [27].

Theorem 9.1 (Well-posedness). Let $W : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a positively one-homogeneous convex polyhedral function such that the conclusion of Corollary 6.2 holds for $1 \le k \le n-1$, and let F be of curvature-free type at $p_0 = 0$. Then for given $u_0 \in C(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $u \equiv c$ on $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus K$ for some compact $K \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and $c \in \mathbb{R}$ there exists a unique viscosity solution of

(9.1)
$$\begin{cases} u_t + F(\nabla u, \operatorname{div} \partial W(\nabla u)) = 0, & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0, & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, if u_0 is Lipschitz, then

$$\left\|\nabla u(\cdot, t)\right\|_{\infty} \le \left\|\nabla u_0\right\|_{\infty}, \qquad t \ge 0.$$

Proof. We follow a standard approximation argument using the stability result from Section 8. Let $W_m \in C(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap C^2(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ be a sequence of convex positively one-homogeneous functions with $\{W_m \leq 1\}$ strictly convex, such that $W_m \rightrightarrows W$ on $\overline{B}_1(0)$. We can find the unique viscosity solutions u_m of the problem

$$\begin{cases} u_t + F(\nabla u, \operatorname{div} \nabla_p W_m(\nabla u)) = 0, & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0, & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n. \end{cases}$$

We define the limits

$$\overline{u} := \star -\limsup_{m \to \infty} u_m, \qquad \underline{u} := \star -\liminf_{m \to \infty} u_m.$$

These limits are well-defined since u_m are uniformly bounded. By the stability result Theorem 8.9, we see that \overline{u} is a viscosity subsolution and \underline{u} is a viscosity supersolution of (9.1).

We need to prove that \overline{u} and \underline{u} have the correct initial data. We can compare u_m with translations of barriers

$$\psi^+_{m;a,b} := a(W^\circ_m(x-x_0) - bt)_+, \qquad \qquad \psi^-_{m;a,b} := -a(-W^\circ_m(-x+x_0) + bt)_-$$

where W_m° is the polar of W_m . The comparison with such barriers shows that $\overline{u}(\cdot, 0) = \underline{u}(\cdot, 0) = u_0$, and for every T > 0 there exists a compact set $K_T \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $\overline{u} = \underline{u} = c$ on $(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus K_T) \times [0, T]$.

Then the comparison principle Theorem 7.1 yields $\overline{u} \leq \underline{u}$ and thus $u := \overline{u} = \underline{u}$ is the unique solution of (9.1).

The Lipschitz continuity follows from the comparison principle.

We now present the proofs of Theorems 1.1 and 1.2.

Proof of Theorems 1.1 and 1.2. Find R > 0 such that $D_0 \subset B_{R/2}(0)$. Let F and W be as in (1.5). Let u_0 be a continuous function with $D_0 = \{u_0 > 0\}$ such that $u_0 = -c$ for some c > 0 for $|x| \ge R$. For instance, take a cutoff of the signed distance function to Γ_0 , $u_0(x) := -\min(\operatorname{dist}(x, D_0), 1) + \operatorname{dist}(x, D_0^c)$. Then there is a unique solution u of (1.4) with initial data u_0 by Theorem 9.1. This establishes the existence of a level set flow $\{\Gamma_t\}_{t\ge 0}$ as $\Gamma_t := \{x : u(x, t) = 0\}$.

We therefore only need to show that the zero level set of u does not depend on u_0 . For this we simply argue as in [23, Section 4.1.1] to show that $\theta \circ u := \theta(u)$ is also a viscosity solution of (1.4) for any continuous, nondecreasing θ . Then for any given two continuous level set functions u_0 , \tilde{u}_0 of Γ_0 we can find θ_1 , $\theta_2 \in C(\mathbb{R})$, strictly increasing, such that $\theta_1 \circ u_0 \leq \tilde{u}_0$ and $\theta_2 \circ \tilde{u}_0 \leq u_0$. Let u, \tilde{u} be the two unique viscosity solutions of (1.4) with initial data u_0 , \tilde{u}_0 , respectively. By the comparison principle Theorem 7.1 we get $\theta_1 \circ u \leq \tilde{u}$ and $\theta_2 \circ \tilde{u} \leq u$. Since $\theta_1 \circ u$ and $\theta_2 \circ \tilde{u}$ have the same zero level sets as u and \tilde{u} , respectively, we conclude that the level set flow $\{\Gamma_t\}_{t>0}$ is unique.

The stability result of Theorem 1.2 follows from Theorem 8.9 and the comparison principle Theorem 7.1. $\hfill \Box$

Acknowledgments. Y. G. is partially supported by Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research No. 26220702 (Kiban S), No. 23244015 (Kiban A) and No. 25610025 (Houga) of Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS). N. P. is partially supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number 26800068 (Wakate B).

References

- M. Amar and G. Bellettini, A notion of total variation depending on a metric with discontinuous coefficients, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 11 (1994), no. 1, 91–133 (English, with English and French summaries). MR1259102 (97a:49057)
- [2] F. Andreu-Vaillo, V. Caselles, and J. M. Mazón, Parabolic quasilinear equations minimizing linear growth functionals, Progress in Mathematics, vol. 223, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2004. MR2033382 (2005c:35002)
- S. Angenent and M. E. Gurtin, Multiphase thermomechanics with interfacial structure. II. Evolution of an isothermal interface, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 108 (1989), no. 4, 323–391, DOI 10.1007/BF01041068. MR1013461 (91d:73004)
- [4] G. Anzellotti, Pairings between measures and bounded functions and compensated compactness, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 135 (1983), 293–318 (1984), DOI 10.1007/BF01781073. MR750538 (85m:46042)
- [5] H. Attouch, Variational convergence for functions and operators, Applicable Mathematics Series, Pitman (Advanced Publishing Program), Boston, MA, 1984. MR773850 (86f:49002)
- [6] G. Bellettini, V. Caselles, A. Chambolle, and M. Novaga, Crystalline mean curvature flow of convex sets, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. **179** (2006), no. 1, 109–152, DOI 10.1007/s00205-005-0387-0. MR2208291 (2007a:53126)
- [7] _____, The volume preserving crystalline mean curvature flow of convex sets in \mathbb{R}^N , J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) **92** (2009), no. 5, 499–527, DOI 10.1016/j.matpur.2009.05.016. MR2558422 (2011b:53155)
- [8] G. Bellettini, R. Goglione, and M. Novaga, Approximation to driven motion by crystalline curvature in two dimensions, Adv. Math. Sci. Appl. 10 (2000), no. 1, 467–493. MR1769163 (2001i:53109)
- [9] G. Bellettini and M. Novaga, Approximation and comparison for nonsmooth anisotropic motion by mean curvature in R^N, Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci. 10 (2000), no. 1, 1–10, DOI 10.1142/S0218202500000021. MR1749692 (2001a:53106)
- [10] G. Bellettini, M. Novaga, and M. Paolini, Facet-breaking for three-dimensional crystals evolving by mean curvature, Interfaces Free Bound. 1 (1999), no. 1, 39–55, DOI 10.4171/IFB/3. MR1865105 (2003i:53099)
- [11] _____, On a crystalline variational problem. I. First variation and global L^{∞} regularity, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. **157** (2001), no. 3, 165–191, DOI 10.1007/s002050010127. MR1826964 (2002c:49072a)

- [12] _____, On a crystalline variational problem. II. BV regularity and structure of minimizers on facets, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 157 (2001), no. 3, 193–217, DOI 10.1007/s002050100126. MR1826965 (2002c:49072b)
- [13] G. Bellettini and M. Paolini, Anisotropic motion by mean curvature in the context of Finsler geometry, Hokkaido Math. J. 25 (1996), no. 3, 537–566, DOI 10.14492/hokmj/1351516749. MR1416006 (97i:53079)
- [14] G. Bouchitté and G. Dal Maso, Integral representation and relaxation of convex local functionals on BV(Ω), Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 20 (1993), no. 4, 483–533. MR1267597 (95d:49021)
- [15] K. A. Brakke, The motion of a surface by its mean curvature, Mathematical Notes, vol. 20, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1978. MR485012 (82c:49035)
- [16] V. Caselles and A. Chambolle, Anisotropic curvature-driven flow of convex sets, Nonlinear Anal. 65 (2006), no. 8, 1547–1577, DOI 10.1016/j.na.2005.10.029. MR2248685 (2007d:35143)
- [17] A. Chambolle, M. Morini, and M. Ponsiglione, *Existence and uniqueness for a crystalline mean curvature flow*, preprint, available at http://arxiv.org/abs/1508.03598.
- [18] Y. G. Chen, Y. Giga, and S. Goto, Uniqueness and existence of viscosity solutions of generalized mean curvature flow equations, J. Differential Geom. 33 (1991), no. 3, 749–786. MR1100211 (93a:35093)
- [19] M. G. Crandall, H. Ishii, and P.-L. Lions, User's guide to viscosity solutions of second order partial differential equations, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 27 (1992), no. 1, 1–67, DOI 10.1090/S0273-0979-1992-00266-5. MR1118699 (92j:35050)
- [20] L. C. Evans, Partial differential equations, 2nd ed., Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 19, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2010. MR2597943 (2011c:35002)
- [21] L. C. Evans and J. Spruck, Motion of level sets by mean curvature. I, J. Differential Geom. 33 (1991), no. 3, 635–681. MR1100206 (92h:35097)
- [22] M. Giaquinta, G. Modica, and J. Souček, Functionals with linear growth in the calculus of variations. I, II, Comment. Math. Univ. Carolin. 20 (1979), no. 1, 143–156, 157–172. MR526154 (80b:35047)
- [23] Y. Giga, Surface evolution equations a level set approach, Monographs in Mathematics, vol. 99, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2006. (earlier version: Lipschitz Lecture Notes 44, University of Bonn, 2002). MR2238463 (2007j:53071)
- [24] M.-H. Giga and Y. Giga, Evolving graphs by singular weighted curvature, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 141 (1998), no. 2, 117–198. MR1615520 (99j:35118)
- [25] _____, Generalized motion by nonlocal curvature in the plane, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 159 (2001), no. 4, 295–333, DOI 10.1007/s002050100154. MR1860050 (2002h:53117)
- [26] M.-H. Giga, Y. Giga, and N. Požár, Anisotropic total variation flow of non-divergence type on a higher dimensional torus, Adv. Math. Sci. Appl. 23 (2013), no. 1, 235–266. MR3155453
- [27] _____, Periodic total variation flow of non-divergence type in ℝⁿ, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 102 (2014), no. 1, 203–233, DOI 10.1016/j.matpur.2013.11.007 (English, with English and French summaries). MR3212254
- [28] Y. Giga and S. Goto, Motion of hypersurfaces and geometric equations, J. Math. Soc. Japan 44 (1992), no. 1, 99–111, DOI 10.2969/jmsj/04410099. MR1139660 (93b:58025)
- [29] Y. Giga, T. Ohtsuka, and R. Schätzle, On a uniform approximation of motion by anisotropic curvature by the Allen-Cahn equations, Interfaces Free Bound. 8 (2006), no. 3, 317–348, DOI 10.4171/IFB/146. MR2273232 (2007k:35258)
- [30] S. Goto, Generalized motion of hypersurfaces whose growth speed depends superlinearly on the curvature tensor, Diff. Integral Eq. 7 (1994), no. 2, 323–343. MR1255892 (94m:35143)
- [31] M. A. Grayson, A short note on the evolution of a surface by its mean curvature, Duke Math. J. 58 (1989), no. 3, 555–558, DOI 10.1215/S0012-7094-89-05825-0. MR1016434 (90h:53010)
- [32] M. E. Gurtin, H. M. Soner, and P. E. Souganidis, Anisotropic motion of an interface relaxed by the formation of infinitesimal wrinkles, J. Differential Equations 119 (1995), no. 1, 54–108, DOI 10.1006/jdeq.1995.1084. MR1334488 (97a:73013)
- [33] T. Ilmanen, Convergence of the Allen-Cahn equation to Brakke's motion by mean curvature, J. Differential Geom. 38 (1993), no. 2, 417–461. MR1237490 (94h:58051)
- [34] H. Ishii, Degenerate parabolic PDEs with discontinuities and generalized evolutions of surfaces, Adv. Differential Equations 1 (1996), no. 1, 51–72. MR1357954 (97j:35083)

- [35] H. Ishii and P. Souganidis, Generalized motion of noncompact hypersurfaces with velocity having arbitrary growth on the curvature tensor, Tohoku Math. J. (2) 47 (1995), no. 2, 227–250, DOI 10.2748/tmj/1178225593. MR1329522 (96e:35069)
- [36] J. S. Moll, The anisotropic total variation flow, Math. Ann. 332 (2005), no. 1, 177–218, DOI 10.1007/s00208-004-0624-0. MR2139257 (2006d:35113)
- [37] M. Ohnuma and M.-H. Sato, Singular degenerate parabolic equations with applications to geometric evolutions, Diff. Integral Eq. 6 (1993), no. 6, 1265–1280. MR1235192 (94h:35133)
- [38] Ju. G. Rešetnjak, The weak convergence of completely additive vector-valued set functions, Sibirsk. Mat.
 Ž. 9 (1968), 1386–1394 (Russian). MR0240274 (39 #1623)
- [39] R. T. Rockafellar, *Convex analysis*, Princeton Mathematical Series, No. 28, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1970. MR0274683 (43 #445)
- [40] L. Simon, Lectures on geometric measure theory, Proceedings of the Centre for Mathematical Analysis, Australian National University, vol. 3, Australian National University, Centre for Mathematical Analysis, Canberra, 1983. MR756417 (87a:49001)
- [41] K. Takasao and Y. Tonegawa, Existence and regularity of mean curvature flow with transport term in higher dimension, to appear in Math. Annalen, available at http://arxiv.org/abs/1307.6629.
- [42] J. E. Taylor, Constructions and conjectures in crystalline nondifferential geometry, Differential geometry, Proceedings of the Conference on Differential Geometry, Rio de Janeiro (B. Lawson and K. Tanenblat, eds.), Pitman Monogr. Surveys Pure Appl. Math., vol. 52, Longman Sci. Tech., Harlow, 1991, pp. 321–336, DOI 10.1111/j.1439-0388.1991.tb00191.x. MR1173051 (93e:49004)
- [43] J. E. Taylor and J. W. Cahn, Diffuse interfaces with sharp corners and facets: phase field models with strongly anisotropic surfaces, Phys. D 112 (1998), no. 3-4, 381–411, DOI 10.1016/S0167-2789(97)00177-2. With an appendix by Jason Yunger. MR1607466 (98i:35185)

(Y. Giga) Graduate School of Mathematical Sciences, University of Tokyo, 3-8-1 Komaba Meguro-ku, Tokyo 153-8914, Japan.

(N. Požár) FACULTY OF MATHEMATICS AND PHYSICS, INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING, KANAZAWA UNIVERSITY, KAKUMA TOWN, KANAZAWA, ISHIKAWA 920-1192, JAPAN. *E-mail address*: npozar@se.kanazawa-u.ac.jp